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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Neo
Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief:

1. the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive; and

2. there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading.
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Financial Summary

A H5 18 =

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results A N AKREED T2 GAEEUAREER

and of the assets and liabilities of the Group: BEME:
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f -—T--f -—E-—F -—Z-FE  —E-HE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TEL TET FEL
(Restated)
(EE7)
Revenue W& 479,453 532,358 615,174 464,908 817,141
Cost of sales HEKA (499,298) (472,289) (498,290) (394,191) (743,785)
Gross (loss) profit £ (18) 7 (19,845) 60,069 116,884 70,717 73,356
(Loss)/profit from operation BEER (BB) /87 (2,132,015) 138,054 (14,555) (122,923) (118,971)
Finance costs BEKAE (143,934) (112,380) (46,909) (17,069) (3,317)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BT (B58) /%R (2,275,949) 25,674 (61,464) (139,992) (122,288)
Income tax (expense)/credit e (Ax) /%% 222,694 (176,782) (9,892) 12,421 6,645
Net loss for the year FRBEEE (2,053,255) (151,108) (71,356) (127,571) (115,643)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEMEBE
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-=F —E-- —E-—F —E-EEF —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THL AL TEL AL
(Restated)
(&E5)
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,009,631 3,117,902 4,023,382 3,151,823 2,226,406
Current assets MEEE 602,805 723,205 415,850 285,417 331,617
Current liabilities MENEE (1,963,051)  (1,824,863)  (2,527,313)  (2,050,774)  (1,291,505)
Net current liabilities mEAaEFE (1,360,246)  (1,101,658)  (2,111,463)  (1,765,357) (959,888)
Non-current liabiliies FRBEE (974,622)  (1,289,128) (853,631) (285,444 (79,372)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE) /EEFE (1,325,237) 727,116 1,058,288 1,101,022 1,187,146

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A



On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present to the shareholders of the Company the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was
mainly engaged in the provision of data centre services.

PROVISION OF DATA CENTRE SERVICES

The Group provides data centre services to its customers in
mainland China through self-developed data centres and server
cabinets leased from third parties.

A summary of the Group’s self-developed data centres by data
centre as of 31 December 2023 is set out below.

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE
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Number of server cabinets

AREHEEE

Available for Under Server cabinets
service construction Total % of total

(Note 1)
i B B8 #4 AR
Name of data centre HERLER ERH g @it eEmEst

(BHeE1)
Guangzhou Lotus Hil Data Centre BAMERLEERL 1,499 - 1,499 4.6
Guangzhou (Nanxiang) Cloud Data Centre &N (F3) EHEF L 2,871 - 2,871 8.8

Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega EBEABAEESL

Data Centre (Note 2) (WtsEo) 8,112 18,900 27,012 82.8
Shanghai Baoshan Data Centre EEELEESL 310 942 1,252 3.8
Total st 12,792 19,842 32,634 100.0
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

Notes:

1. This is an estimate and is subject to change upon completion of
the construction.

2. 8,112 server cabinets included herein were under sale and
leaseback arrangements with an independent third party as at 31
December 2023.

Save for the above, the Group also operated an aggregate of
approximately 330 server cabinets that were leased from third
parties.

The Group’s profitability is largely determined by the utilisation
of its self-developed data centres. As of 31 December 2023,
based on the number of server cabinets available for service,
the utilisation rate of the Group’s self-developed data centres
was approximately 22.3% (2022: 28.9%). The decrease in
the utilisation rate is mainly due to the negative impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the business environment which led to
a decrease in the utilisation rate of the Group’s self-developed
data centres.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, since the first
quarter of 2023, due to the impact of COVID-19 has decreased,
the government of mainland China has lifted the COVID-19
epidemic prevention and containment measures. However, the
China’s economic recovery has been behind expectations. In
addition, Europe, the United States and other regions have
restricted the export of Al computing power chips to China,
which has resulted in the Group’s customers have delayed
to house their servers and data storage in the Group’s data
centres. As a result, most enterprises, including the Group and
its customers, will take a more conservative approach to their
business expansion plan. This has fundamentally changed the
business environment as well as the landscape of the data
centre industry and will have an impact on the Group’s financial
performance over the next couple of years.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, based on the updated
business valuation of Guangdong Bluesea Data Development
Company Limited* (BRE /B EHIEZERER 2 7)) (‘Bluesea
Data”), the Group has recognised impairment loss of
approximately HK$812.3 million on right-of-use assets arose
from the sale and leaseback arrangements. In addition, for the
year ended 31 December 2023, based on the updated business
valuation of Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited*
(BMMmERBREAMRAF)and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “Guangzhou Zituo”), the Group has recognised
impairment loss of approximately HK$50.8 million on goodwill
and the relevant intangible assets, i.e., from the acquisition of
Guangzhou Zituo in 2016.

The recoverable amount of Guangzhou Zituo has been
determined based on its value in use calculation. The material
unobservable inputs of the valuation included 1) cash flow
projection based on a financial budget covering a five year
period approved by management; 2) pre-tax discount rate of
15.21% (2022: 14.57%) per annum for the cash flow which
reflects the time value of money and the credit risk specific
to the cash generating units; 3) steady growth rate of 2% for
net profit beyond 5 year (2022: steady growth rate of 2% for
cash flow beyond 5 year) which reflects the growth rate of
relevant industry. The management believes that any reasonable
possible change in any of these assumptions would cause
the aggregate carrying amount of Guangzhou Zituo to exceed
aggregate recoverable amount of Guangzhou Zituo. Changes
in assumptions from previous year’s assumptions reflected
management’s latest business plans and business prospect
based on the latest business environment.

Based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer, the carrying amount of Guangzhou Zituo
exceeds the recoverable amount. Thus, impairment loss of
property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$125.8 million (2022: nil) and impairment
loss of goodwill of approximately HK$50.9 million (2022: 36.2
million) were recognised to write down the carrying amount of
the Guangzhou Zituo cash-generating unit to its recoverable
amount.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from the
provision of data centre services was approximately HK$436.3
million (2022: HK$484.4 million), representing a decrease of
approximately HK$48.1 milion or 9.9% as compared to the
same period in last year. The decrease was mainly due to
the negative impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the business
environment which led to a decrease in the average rate per
server cabinet charged to the Group’s customers and the
utilisation rate of the Group’s self-developed data centres.

As the server cabinets available for service are not fully utilised
and the construction of approximately 4,000 server cabinets is
in progress, financial performance of the Group is expected to
improve over the next few years when China’s economy has
shown recovery after COVID-19.

OTHERS

Others mainly consist of the trading of telecommunication
products, provision of system integration services and leasing
of properties. The revenue, results and assets of which are
individually immaterial to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from others
was approximately HK$43.2 million (2022: HK$48.0 million),
representing an decrease of 10.0% year-on-year which was
mainly due to the completion of several system integration
services contracts.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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PROSPECTS

Although Europe, the United States and other regions have
restricted the export of Al computing power chips to China,
the rapid growth in data traffic and accelerating trend of
digitalisation, demand for high quality data centres in mainland
China will continuously increase over the next few years. Thus,
we are cautiously optimistic about the outlook of the Group
for the coming years although there has been a decrease
in utilisation rate for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Increase the Group’s revenue growth and utilisation rate of
its data centres will continue to be our top priorities for 2024.
The Group has always committed to providing first-class
data centre services to support our customers’ operational
needs. Our Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data Centre had
more than 8,000 server cabinets available for service as at 30
September 2023. With the construction of an additional 4,000
server cabinets in progress, over 12,000 server cabinets in
Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data Centre will be available
for service and the occupation of these server cabinets have
been committed by two of the major telecommunication

Chairman’s Statement
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operators in mainland China. In addition, on 13 October 2023, & LT I%ﬁi"* REBEHEHNBER
the Group entered into an agreement with another major 275 2 A%
telecommunication operator in mainland China, pursuant to
which both parties agreed to jointly operate 1,300 server
cabinets in Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data Centre.
Together with the growing capacity of data centres in other
locations, the Group will be able to provide our customers
ample room for growth.
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE BRI
2023 2022
—=E=-= —E -

Revenue (HK$’'000) e (&) 479,453 532,358
Net loss (HK$'000) BRFR(TFET) (2,053,255) (151,108)
Loss attributable to owners of PAN/NGIE ¥ SN X )

the Company (HK$’000) &g (A1) (1,966,236) (201,699)
Basic loss earnings per share (HK Cents) FREREERF (BIL) (20.65) 2.12)
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Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$479.4 million (2022: HK$532.4
million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$52.9
million or 9.9% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2022. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the negative
impact of the unfavourable conditions on the business
environment which led to a decrease in the average rate per
server cabinet charged to the Group’s customers and the
utilization rate of the Group’s self-developed data centres.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$1,966.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$201.7 million),
representing an increase in loss of approximately HK$1,764.5
million or 874.8% vyear-on-year. The increase in loss for the
year is mainly due to the net effect of net change in impairment
of ECL of approximately HK$107.7 million (2022: HK$16.9
million), impairment of goodwill of approximately HK$50.8
million (2022: HK$36.2 million), impairment of intangible assets
of approximately HK$28.8 million (2022: Nil), impairment of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$1,001
million (2022: Nil) and impairment of right of use assets of
approximately HK$812.3 million (2022: Nil).

Other Financial Information

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=t+—HILFE &
EEEEBKRFED479.4RER T (B —F:
5324 BBIL) BREE_T=-__F+=A
= t+—HIEFERIH52.9B 8B T59.9% °
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HitBER

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2023 2022
—Eg2-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
EBITDA (a) BRI ERHEAFIE @) (1,989,784) 280,238
EBITDA margin (b) BRI EHHEAFEE D) (415.0%) 52.6%

Notes:
(@) EBITDA is defined as profit or loss for the year excluding net
interest income or expenses, income tax expense or credit,

depreciation and amortisation.

(b) EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by revenue.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$808.1 million (2022: HK$927.7

million), which are analysed as follows:

Chairman’s Statement
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NZE-_=F+-_A=+—RHB KX&EEHE
L8081 EEBITL (Z T - —4F:
Q7. 7EEEIT) AT

FHRRTTE

IRHESE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FHET
Bank loans IRITEN
Short-term bank borrowing, RHRITEN
unsecured and guaranteed EIEA B ER 10,962 11,281
Current portion of bank loans, IRITERBIEE 5 -
secured and guaranteed BHEMRBER
— repayable within one year —HER—FANEE 211,128 69,378
— repayable after one year which contain —EAR—FREE
a repayment on demand clause (BERENX
& B IR 260,649 477,756
Current portion of bank loans, IRITEFENEE D
unsecured and guaranteed EEALREER
— repayable within one year —BR—FRNEE 2,192 2,256
— repayable after one year which contain —BR—FREE
a repayment on demand clause (BEE®REX
18 & 153 8,770 9,025
Current portion of bank loans, IRITERBNEE 5 -
secured and unguaranteed BEA R EER
— repayable after one year which —BR—FREE
contain a repayment (BEREX
on demand clause B ER) 10,962 -
Total bank loans IRITEFRER 504,663 569,696
Other loans HEX
Short-term other borrowing, unsecured CHRE M fER
and unguaranteed R R m AR 38,367 -
Current portion of other loans, H BRI -
secured and guaranteed BEMRBER
— repayable within one year —HR—FNEE 94,511 91,757
- repayable after one year which contain —BER—FRER
a repayment on demand clause (BEREX
BB IER) 126,366 227,424
Current portion of other loans, Ha BRI 5 -
unsecured and unguaranteed MmO R EER
— repayable within one year — AR —FAEE 44,243 38,829
— repayable after one year which — AR —FREE
contain a repayment (BEIREK
on demand clause EEER) = =
Total other loans Hith B K458 303,487 358,010
Total borrowings tE KB R 808,150 927,706
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The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements and the maturities of the Group’s
borrowings at the end of the financial year (i.e. ignoring the
effect of any repayment on demand clause) are shown below:

A B8 SRR 2 B K1 B P BTR R AR K E A R
SEERRNEMBFERIBER (ARE
EARERKEEGTNOFZE)EHMT

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAT
Amounts of bank loans that are repayable: 7B T 7l AR (& 12 &Y
IRITERER:
— within 1 year —1F R 224,283 82,915
— between 1 and 2 years —1&21F 85,010 217,836
— between 2 and 5 years —2&5F 195,370 218,099
— beyond 5 years —5F A k£ - 50,846
Total bank loans SRITE A% 504,663 569,696
Amounts of other loans that are repayable: ,AE"TB?"J HIREER
HEhERSEE:
— within 1 year —1F R 177,121 130,586
— between 1 and 2 years —1ZE24F 93,084 97,543
— between 2 and 5 years —2&5F 33,282 108,026
— beyond 5 years —5F A E - 21,855
Total other loans HMEREE 303,487 358,010
Total borrowings fER4a%E 808,150 927,706

The borrowings are denominated in Renminbi and bear interest
from 3.5% to 13.0% (2022: 3.8% to 8.0%) per annum.

Due to the repayment on demand clause of the banking
facilities, which is a general term of banking facilities granted by
the aforesaid banks, the long-term bank loans of approximately
HK$280.4 million drawn from the aforesaid banking facilities are
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had current assets of
approximately HK$602.8 million (2022: HK$723.2 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$27.2 million (2022: HK$17.6 million), accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and other financial
assets of approximately HK$572.4 million (2022: HK$699.7
million); and current liabilities of approximately HK$1,963.1
million (2022: HK$1,824.9 million). The Group’s current ratio
had been decreased from approximately 0.4 times as at 31
December 2022 to approximately 0.31 times as at 31 December
2023.
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The Group had total assets of approximately HK$1,612.4 million
(2022: HK$3,841.1 million) and total liabilities of approximately
HK$2,937.7 million (2022: HK$3,114.0 million), representing
a gearing ratio (expressed as total liabilities to total assets) of
approximately 182.2% as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 81.1%).

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group were set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of approximately
HK$471.8 million (2022: HK$547.1 million) were secured by
certain properties, plant and equipment of the Group with net
book value of approximately HK$74.1 million (2022: HK$167.8
million).

As at 31 December 2023, other loans of approximately
HK$220.9 million (2022: HK$319.2 million) were secured by
certain properties, plant and equipment of the Group with
net book value of approximately HK$225.9 million (2022:
HK$491.7 million) and accounts receivable with carrying value of
approximately HK$24.8 million (2022: HK$55 million).

Except for the aforesaid, there were no material charges on the
Group’s assets as at 31 December 2023.

Chairman’s Statement
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Reference is made to the “Legal Proceedings” section of the
Chairman’s Statements of the Company dated 27 March 2018,
21 March 2019, 12 May 2020, 24 March 2021 and 22 April 2022,
respectively, in relation to the legal proceedings brought by NEO
Inteligence Holdings Limited (“NEO Intelligence”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, against Messrs. CHAN Hung Kwong,
CHAN Yu Chiu and CHAN Yue Kuen and Giant Crown Industries
Limited (“Giant Crown”) (collectively, the “Respondents”).

The substantive hearing of the arbitration (Arbitration No. HKIAC/
PA18006) (the “Arbitration”) was completed on 17 April 2020.
On 23 March 2021, the Arbitral Tribunal issued a partial award
(the “Partial Award”) that NEO Intelligence had established its
case of liability against the Respondents on the equity transfer
memorandum of understanding entered into between NEO
Intelligence and the Respondents on 15 June 2015, especially
the rights to use of the block of building situated at & /! & & [&
GIEEIE T #51445% AR under the certificate of land ownership
“ BB i 7% 7 55300582555 (“‘Block A”).

With respect to the claims filed with The People’s Court of
Panyu District, Guangzhou (the “Panyu Court”) by both & 5 Ef
BB R AR A A (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development
Company Limited*) (‘Bluesea Mobile”) and E /B4 E T &2
BRAF (Guangzhou Gangju Electronics Industries Limited®)
(in liquidation) (“GZ Gangju”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Giant Crown, in relation to the dispute under the Arbitration
(the “PRC Action”), the Panyu Court has combined the two
cases for trial during the first hearing but has terminated the
PRC Action subsequently by lapse of time. The liquidator of GZ
Gangju then filed a claim with The People’s Court of Nansha
District, Guangdong Free Trade Zone (the “Nansha Court”)
against Bluesea Mobile, NEO Intelligence and & /M &&= &1
EHBMR A A (Guangzhou Bluesea Cloud Computing Company
Limited*), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for the
return of Block A to GZ Gangju and a fee for occupying Block
A of RMB26,000,000. On 21 September 2022, the Nansha
Court handed down its judgement that GZ Gangju’s claim was
overruled (the “Nansha Judgement”). Bluesea Mobile therefore
has the right to the use of Block A freely and permanently
without any payment or compensation. On 8 October 2022, GZ
Gangju lodged an appeal against the Nansha Judgement (the
“Appeal”) at the Intermediate People’s Court of Guangdong
Province Guangzhou City (the “GZ Court”) on 26 May 2023, GZ
Court handed down GZ Gangju’s appeal and uphold the original
judgement of the Nansha judgement that is a final judgement
(the “Final Judgement”).

* for identification purpose only
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Based on the Final Judgement, the Directors consider that does
not have any material impact on the operations of Guangzhou
Lotus Hill Data Centre and the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE AND
TREASURY POLICIES

Most of the Group’s cash balances and transactions are either
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties
or negative impacts on its operations as a result of fluctuations
in currency exchange rates. The Directors considered that no
hedging of exchange risk is required and accordingly, there
were no financial instruments being used for hedging purposes
during the year ended 31 December 2023. Nevertheless,
the management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure and will take prudent measures as and
when appropriate.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 205
staff (2022: 246). The gender ratio of the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) was 24.9% female to 75.1%
male. The Group shall continue to take into account diversity
perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring of employees
from time to time. The total remuneration, including that of the
Directors, for the year under review is approximately HK$46.8
million (2022: HK$52.8 million). The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performances, experience and the
prevailing industry practice. Employee remuneration, excluding
Directors’ emoluments, is reviewed annually. In addition to the
basic salaries, employees are also entitled to benefits including
bonus and mandatory provident fund.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my appreciation to the Company’s shareholders and
customers for their utmost support, and to the management and
staff for their dedication and contribution to the Group during
the year.

LIE Haiquan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2025
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIE Haiquan (“Dr. Lie”), aged 62, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 31 May 2017 and redesignated as an
executive Director on 1 April 2020. Dr. Lie is also the Chairman
of the Board. He obtained a Master’s degree of Business
Administration from the University of Western Sydney in 2001.
He also received Honorary Doctorate degree of Management
from Lincoln University in 2016.

Dr. Lie’s personal investments cover real estate, hotel, tourism,
finance, high technology and new energy industries, with
operations in both China and Hong Kong. Dr. Lie is a member of
the 11th, 12th and 13th Guangzhou Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, an executive
committee of EHRE L H%EE A€ (Guangdong Federation
of Industry & Commerce*), the honorary president of Hong
Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, an executive
vice president of It RERM®FEE (Guangdong Corporation
Chamber of Commerce in Beijing*) and an executive vice
president of Asian College of Knowledge Management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Ms. Xl Lina, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 16 May 2014. She is currently the
chairlady of the remuneration committee and a member of
both the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company. She graduated with a bachelor’s degree in economics
and international trade from Zhejiang University of Finance
and Economics and holds a master of science in banking and
international finance from the City University, London. She has
extensive experience in economics and futures market.

Ms. CHAN Siu Mat (“Ms. Chan”), aged 42, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 25 April 2025. She
is also the chairlady of the audit committee and a member of
both the nomination committee and remuneration committee
of the Company. Ms. Chan has over 18 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and company secretarial fields. She holds a
bachelor’s degree of business administration in accounting from
City University of Hong Kong in 2006 and has been a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
2009.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Ms. Chan worked as a manager of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from September 2006 to January 2012, where she gained
extensive experience in auditing and financial advisory services.
From April 2012 to April 2014, she served as a finance manager,
company secretary and authorized representative of Kong Sun
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, stock code: 295). She
then served as a finance manager and company secretary of
Wen Wei (Hong Kong) Investment Group Company Limited from
April 2014 to March 2018.

From March 2018 to November 2022, Ms. Chan served as a
financial controller of Weiye Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1570),
and subsequently as the chief financial officer of Weiye Holdings
Limited. Ms. Chan has been an independent non-executive
director of RMH Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8437) since 12 November
2024. She has also been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of C&D Newin Paper & Pulp Corporation
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 731) since 28 February 2025 and
the company secretary of China 33 Media Group Limited (a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
8087) since 30 April 2025.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Ms. XU Jiayuan (“Ms. Xu”), aged 34, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 April 2025. She is
also the chairlady of the nomination committee and a member
of both the audit committee and remuneration committee of the
Company. Ms. Xu has over 9 years of experience in corporate
governance, including internal audit, risk management and
corporate services for Hong Kong companies listed on the
Stock Exchange, as well as private and multinational companies.

Ms. Xu obtained a degree of bachelor of management majoring
in business administration (management accounting) at the
Capital University of Economics and Business in June 2013.
She further obtained a degree of master of science majoring
in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2014. Ms. Xu is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a Certified Internal Auditor
conferred by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

Ms. Xu is currently the company secretary of Optima Automobile
Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 8418) since September 2021, and the
company secretary of New Sparkle Roll International Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 970) since August 2024. She previously
served as the company secretary of Ta Yang Group Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1991) from January 2023 to April 2025.

*

for identification purpose only
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Report of the Directors

EEEHS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to
110.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of
dividends shall be in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company (the “Articles”). In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia, the
following factors:

the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on
equity and financial covenants to which the Group is
subject;

o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS (Continued)

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

° liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o general business conditions and strategies; and
° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board’s
discretion and there is no assurance that a dividend will be
proposed or declared in any specific periods. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis or as required.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no charitable
donations were made by the Group (2022: HK$10,000).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the identity of the shareholders to attend and
vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Tuesday, 30 September 2025 (the “2024 AGM”),
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 25 September 2025 to Tuesday, 30 September 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the 2024 AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 24 September 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 6.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

OVERVIEW

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators and future development in the Company’s business of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 7 to 18 of
this annual report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations and relationships with employees
are also discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 63 to 95.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following is a summary of some of the principal risks and
uncertainties that are considered to be of most significance to
the Group at this time. They may adversely impact the Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects if they are not managed effectively. The following risks
and uncertainties are not comprehensive. There may be other
risks and uncertainties that are not known to the Group or may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

1. Our substantial debt could adversely affect our cash flows
and limit our flexibility to raise additional capital.

2. If we are not able to generate sufficient operating cash
flows or obtain external financing, our ability to fund
incremental expansion plans may be limited.

3. Any failure of our physical infrastructure or negative impact
on our ability to meet our obligations to our customers or
damage to customer infrastructure within our data centres
could lead to significant costs and service disruptions
that could reduce our revenue and harm our business
reputation and financial condition.

4. We depend on third parties to provide internet connectivity
to our data centres; if connectivity is interrupted or
terminated, our results of operations and cash flow could
be materially and adversely affected.

5. Our business could be harmed by prolonged power
outages, shortages or capacity constraints.

6. We are continuing to invest in our expansion efforts but
may not have sufficient customer demand in the future to
realize expected returns on these investments.

7. Change in government regulations may adversely affect
our business.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, as far as the Board and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing
a caring environment to employees and emphasis the personal
development of its employees.

The Group maintains a good relationship with our customers
and suppliers. The Group aims to continue providing quality
services and consumption experiences to our customers and
establishing cooperation strategy with our suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 111.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have
distributable reserves available for distribution to shareholders of
the Company (2022: Nil). Under the Companies Law (Revised)
of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company
is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium may also be distributed in form of fully paid bonus
shares.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Movements in the Company’s share capital and share options
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes
31 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased.
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year ended 31
December 2023 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and
customers are as followed:

PURCHASES

- the largest supplier 12% (2022: 14%)
- five largest suppliers combined 48% (2022: 44%)

SALES

- the largest customer 21% (2022: 15%)
- five largest customers combined 55% (2022: 53%)

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong)
when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of
the Directors in the securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”) which were notified
to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions by directors, to
be notified to the Company and the Exchange, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (Continued)
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LONG POSITIONS IN THE SECURITIES OF REQREBSZHR
THE COMPANY
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity shares held shareholding
S E ] BREFR
BEEgE g% BRoEE Aok
Dr. LIE Haiquan Beneficial owner 2,289,784,000 24.05%
g+ EmA A
Interest in controlled corporations 2,091,923,357 21.97%
(Note)

REFI QA Z s (HEE)

Note:

2,055,887,357 shares and 36,036,000 shares are held by Winner
Mind Investments Limited (‘Winner Mind”) and Golden Ocean Assets
Management Limited respectively; both companies are wholly-owned
by Dr. LIE Haiquan. Thus, he was deemed to be interested in these
2,091,9283,357 shares pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors did not have any other
interests or short positions in the securities of the Company as
at 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme adopted on 19 December
2012 expired on 18 December 2022. No new share option
scheme has been adopted as of the date of this report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled and there was no outstanding
share option as at 31 December 2022.
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2,055,887,357 % % 17 36,036,000/ i% 13 9 7
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as those disclosed in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” in this Directors’ Report and also note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements, no other equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ Interests
and Short Positions in Securities” and “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2023
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other corporate
granted to any Directors, their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors, their respective spouse
or children under 18 years of age to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up
to the date of this report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIE Haiquan
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai (resigned on 28 February 2025)

Mr. TAO Wei (resigned on 29 December 2023)

Mr. WU Di (resigned on 31 October 2023)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. ZHANG Zihua (resigned on 30 November 2024)

Ms. Xl Lina
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong (resigned on 30 November 2024)

Ms. CHAN Siu Mat (appointed on 25 April 2025) (Note 1)

Ms. XU Jiayuan (appointed on 25 April 2025) (Note 2)

*for identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS (continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Notes:

1. Ms. CHAN Siu Mat, being appointed on 25 April 2025, had
obtained the legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM
Listing Rules on 25 April 2025. She confirmed that she
understood her obligations as a Director.

2. Ms. XU Jiayuan, being appointed on 25 April 2025, had obtained
the legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing
Rules on 25 April 2025. She confirmed that she understood her
obligations as a Director.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Dr. LIE Haiquan, Ms. Xl Lina, Ms.
CHAN Siu Mat and Ms. XU Jiayuan shall retire from office and
be eligible for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 19 to
21 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements, no
significant transaction, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF BiEESNMHRE
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER  ZRs S #Ezs XA
THE SFO

So far is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2023, other WKR_-_ZE - =F+_-_HA=+—§" ?ﬁ%$ﬁﬁ%ﬂ
than the interests of Directors as disclosed above, shareholders & F XFFIRTE 2 E RN REEAR
who had interests or short positions in the securities of the 2 EBEH R HEABIEE %&Hﬁiﬂ‘ﬂﬁlJ%XV*B%
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 2&%3’\*BZ1|¢X¢EWZJS AR ER 2 B ok
under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or KA G AEELEEEAEAQ T D%
who were deemed to be directly and indirectly interested in 5% ﬁ AR AN5% sk A 2 #Eas - A AN BRI
or more of the issued share capital of the Company, or which &% M HI G IEHIE336IEBTFEF 2R E
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept uEﬁWuEﬁ‘Zﬁ%ﬁli B

by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:
LONG POSITIONS "R
Number of Approximate
shares/underlying percentage of
Name Nature of interests shares held shareholding
FEERG, BRFR
‘B HE EEME HERDHE Bt
Winner Mind (Note 1) Beneficial owner 2,055,887,357 21.59%
Winner Mind (Bff5E1) E=EEA
Mr. YAN Wai Ping Beneficial owner 504,832,000 5.30%
BT E EnEAA
Interest of spouse (Note 2) 106,702,000 1.12%
FoiBrEs= (M5E2)
Notes: Bt 5 -

(1) Winner Mind is wholly-owned by Dr. LIE Haiquan, an executive (1)  Winner Mind HV\TTE =5 EREBE L2 &%
Director. Be

(2)  Mr. Yan is interested in 106,702,000 shares held by his spouse,  (2) BHAEERERBIELC iZ THEHEAEN
Ms. WONG Pui Yan. 106,702, oooﬂ’iﬁxfﬁqﬂ B
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has an interest in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of
the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company had entered into a consultancy service agreement
with Honford Limited (the “Consultancy Service Agreement’)
for the provision of consultancy services to the Company for
which a total fee of HK$700,500 was paid during the year ended
31 December 2023. As Honford Limited is wholly-owned by
Ms. TO Siu Mui, the spouse of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, a former
executive Director. As such, Honford Limited is connected
person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

Since the above transaction is conducted on normal commercial
terms and the applicable percentage ratios thereof are less than
0.1%, the Consultancy Service Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The related party transactions, except compensation of
key management personnel, disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate governance report of the Company is set out on
pages 36 to 62 of the annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ VIEW ON THE INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S OPINION

The independent auditor of the Company has issued a
disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. Details of the
disclaimer of opinion are disclosed in extract from Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 96 to 104 of this report.

THE BOARD’S RESPONSE TO THE
AUDITOR’S OPINION

In regard to the matters described in the section headed
“Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” in
the Independent Auditor’s Report, the Board would like to take
this opportunity to provide the Boards’ preliminary response, as
well as measures taken or to be taken by the management of
the Company.

THE BOARD RESPONSE TO “DISCLAIMER
OF OPINION — GOING CONCERN”

As the Group had net current liabilities of HK$1,360.2 million
and net liabilities of HK$1,325.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board will appoint a team, which will be
led by the head of finance team, to monitor the daily cashflow
so as to ensure the Group has the sufficient financial resources
to settle the Group’s financial obligation when fall due.

In addition, in order to improve the Group’s financial position,
to provide liquidity with cash flows and to sustain the Group as
a going concern, the Group has been implementing a number
of measures, details of which are disclosed in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company and the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) shared the same view that these measures
will help to improve the liquidity and financial position of the
Group.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEFEEBEFR A A

FERE RN ARFFIE

REBEE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE"
AARIBIEGEM ETMRAZEESHZTEZ

ARHEE-

EXHBEUZEMBRNEZR

ARFHNBIRBMEREAEBRBRE_F
TEF+ A=+ —BLEFENGEMBR
REKTERBR -TEXRBEANFRRA
¥ &5 FI6E = F104 H 6 I8 3 % BUAD 5
SRR -

EXgYREEERMDOE

ABUZEMBRE [THRRER] R [T#HRK
BERAMNEE|BEHAENEENE EFE5
HAKEeREEFENNILEE UEAR
AIE B BRI TR EE -

EFEgH [T ERBRFFEL
= | O e

HEARAAREEHE-_SE-_=F+-_A=+—H
FEEMRBEaEFERABEEEINA
1,360.2E BB TN1326 2088 BT B9
BET— AR EEEEN/ A BT
BHMREeRE BRAEEEE X TN
BERNRANEEAEBENTBET-

BEAN - B EAK BB AR FIRRSR
ERERDES UFEAKERENFELE
AEEDEE—RINEE FREREGMB
¥R M T3 R -

ARBRARRELERES ([BEREEE])
—HRR ZEEBEYREAKRERBDE
& M AR



APPOINTMENT AND REAPPOINTMENT OF
AUDITOR

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”). However, HLB resigned as
the Company’s auditors with effect from 11 April 2025, and
the Board subsequently resolved to appoint Fan, Chan & Co.
Limited (“Fan, Chan & Co.”) as the new auditor of the Company
with effect from 11 April 2025 to fill the casual vacancy. The
details of this auditor change were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 11 April 2025.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by Fan, Chan & Co.. The term of
appointment of Fan, Chan & Co. as auditor of the Company
shall expire at the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. A resolution will
be submitted to the 2024 AGM for the reappointment of Fan,
Chan & Co. as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LIE Haiquan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2025

Report of the Directors
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules. The principles adopted
by the Company emphasis a quality board, transparency and
accountability to shareholders. The Board has adopted the
Corporate Governance Code, the requirements under which
apply to the Company’s corporate governance report with effect
from the year ended 31 December 2023.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
Code for the year ended 31 December 2023, with the exception
of the following deviations:

Under code provision C.3.3 of the Code, the Company should
have formal letters of appointment for Directors setting out the
key terms and conditions of their appointment. Except for Dr.
LIE Haiguan and Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, the Company did not
have formal letters of appointment for Directors. However, the
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles. In addition, the Directors are required to refer
to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued
by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and
“Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing
their duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the
Directors are required to comply with the requirements under
statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

Under code provision F.2.2 of the Code, the chairman of
the board should attend the annual general meeting. Dr. LIE
Haiguan, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 12 May 2023
(the “AGM”) due to his other engagement. Mr. CHEUNG Sing
Tai, a former deputy chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company who took the chair of the AGM, together
with other members of the Board who attended the AGM, were
of sufficient calibre for answering questions at the AGM.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company also had made
specific enquiry of all Directors and the Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings
and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts, which shall give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group and of the financial
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year.
Details of the basis of preparation of financial statements are
set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Board is also responsible for formulating the Group’s
long term strategy, determining and approving the Group’s
significant transactions and supervising the management to
ensure thorough implementation of the Group’s policies and
effective performance of their duties. Other decisions are to be
delegated to management. As at 31 December 2023, the Board
comprised five Directors, including two executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. The executive
Directors were Dr. LIE Haiquan (Chairman) and Mr. CHEUNG
Sing Tai (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer).
The independent non-executive Directors were Mr. ZHANG
Zihua, Ms. Xl Lina and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong. Subsequent to
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
Mr. ZHANG Zihua and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong resigned as an
independent non-executive Directors with effect from 30
November 2024; Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai resigned as an executive
Director with effect from 28 February 2025; Ms. CHAN Siu
Mat and Ms. XU Jiayuan were appointed as independent non-
executive Directors with effect from 25 April 2025.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises one
executive Director, namely Dr. LIE Haiquan (Chairman), and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Xl Lina, Ms.
CHAN Siu Mat and Ms. XU Jiayuan.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Biographies of the existing Directors are set out on pages 19 to
21.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, four Board
meetings were held. Details of the attendance of the Directors
are as follows:

EED (4

RAEEEZERHNEI9E218 -

REBE_T-_=F+_A=+—HLFER
BRTHREESEH EFHEABOT

Directors’
Name of the Directors Attendance
EEgE EEHFEE
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. LIE Haiquan 5 g+ 4/4
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai SRR A 4/4
Mr. TAO Wei (resigned on 29 December 2023) Mg dk4t (R —TB - =4 4/4
TZAZTNABEE)
Mr. WU Di (resigned on 31 October 2023) RiMEE(RZTEZ=F 3/3
TA=+—HBEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua iR FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) 5c £ 4/4
(resigned on 30 November 2024) (RZZ—mF+—A=+HET)
Ms. XI Lina EEMz+ 4/4
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong mEMERE 4/4

(resigned on 30 November 2024)

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The
Board held a board meeting for each quarter to discuss and
approve the Group’s results.

There is no specific term of appointment of the non-executive
Directors. However, they are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”) and the Code.

*
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MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AND INPUT

The Company has established channels through formal and
informal means whereby Independent Non-executive Directors
are encouraged to express their views in an open and candid
manner, and in a confidential manner if circumstances require;
these include periodic Board reviews, meeting sessions with the
Chairman and interaction with management and other Board
Members outside the boardroom.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 30 August 2013, the Board adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). The purpose of the Board
Diversity Policy is to set out the basic principles to be followed
to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance
the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of
corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while
taking into account diversity. The nomination committee of the
Board (the “Nomination Committee”) has primary responsibility
for identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members
of the Board and shall give adequate consideration to this policy
in selection of board candidates.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of
diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and specific needs, including but not limited to gender,
race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives for
implementing the policy and monitoring the progress on
achieving these measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the
measurable objectives at least annually to ensure the continued
effectiveness of the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

Currently, the Board consists of four members who have
accounting or financial expertise, professional qualifications, or
experience related to the industry where the Company operates,
one of whom is a male Director. The Nomination Committee has
reviewed the policy concerning the diversity of Board members
and believes that the Board has already had a diverse mix of
gender, skills, knowledge and experience. The Company will
strive to achieve gender balance of the Board through the
following measures to be implemented by the Nomination
Committee in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy. The
Company will actively identify the individuals suitably qualified to
become the Board members. To further ensure gender diversity
of the Board in the long run, the Group will take opportunities
to balance the proportion of members of the Board, identify and
select the individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience
and knowledge in different fields from time to time, and maintain
a list of such individuals who possess qualities to become the
Board members, which will be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee periodically in order to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to promote gender diversity of the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under
major diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

SEH2LZILEE (5)

BRl EFERMNEKEEN REHEAS
M HEEEND BXERBERRALE
TEEENER HP -2 REHESR1EF
ZECERISEAREFEZLIENEER I
BEEFSCABIER - BEE - M# L& RN
ZRILEA - ARAIRBEBRERZBEERIE
E=EEZNEBRETERNUA NERS D
ERBEFEMNERNFEH ARARKEEDE
HBAEERNALIRARESEENE -RE
mE RE-FTHREFENENZ T K
SERBEE®RE FHAEFEXNENLI - T
BYyekkEETRESAEBTREKRE &
BABOAL ARFZFABERKAE
EEREMALRZE REZBEHEHE
Bl - UBEREGENESSHIAN REEZS
HMERIZTTe

RAREAH EFEETEZLERN
AERCBE AL ZA T -

Board Diversity EE€ % 1t

HD%g%gnatlon Executive Director Independent Non-Executive Director
HITES BIUFHITES
Gender
Rl Male B Female Z1%£
Age Group Over 60 40-50 40 and below
FRRAR 6085 £ 0E50%% A0BRIAT
Length of Service (Year) 6 and below 7-9 10 and above
RIES (F) GERET 10 R L
Industry Financial Non-financial
T 28t FEm
J
0 1 2 & 4

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A



Corporate Governance Report

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has a nomination policy which sets out the
procedures and criteria for the selection, appointment and
reappointment of the Directors. The Nomination Committee shall
assess whether any vacancy on the Board has been created or
is expected on a regular basis or as required. The Nomination
Committee utilizes various methods for identifying director
candidates, including recommendations from Board members,
management, and professional search firms. All director
candidates, including incumbents and candidates nominated
by Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination Committee
based upon the director qualifications. While director candidates
will be evaluated on the same criteria through review of resume,
personal interview and performance of background checks.
The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to establish
the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on
the composition, skill sets, age, gender and experiences of the
collective Board rather than on the individual candidate for the
purpose of diversity perspectives appropriate to the requirement
of the Company’s business. In evaluating and selecting any
candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, independence,
diversity on the Board, wilingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a Board member and such other criteria
that are appropriate to the business of the Company.

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a director remuneration policy, it
sets out the general principles which guide the Group to deal
with the remuneration matters. This remuneration policy aims
to provide a fair market level of remuneration to retain and
motivate high quality directors, senior management of the Group
and attract experienced people of high calibre to oversee the
business and development of the Group.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company recognizes the importance of the Board
independence to corporate governance. In particular, in order to
ensure the strong independence of the Board and make ensure
that the Board can obtain independent views and opinions,
the following mechanisms are required: 1) in assessing the
qualification of potential candidates to become independent
Directors, the Nomination Committee and the Board will
consider, among others, whether the candidates are able to
dedicate sufficient time to fulfill their duties as independent
Directors and the candidates’ backgrounds and qualifications,
in order to assess whether such candidates are able to bring
an independent view to the Board; and 2) the Nomination
Committee is authorized to assess the independence of all
independent non-executive Directors on an annual basis with
reference to the independence criteria set out in the Listing
Rules so as to ensure that they can continue to exercise
independent judgment.

All Directors have full and timely access to all information of
the Company and to the advice and services of the company
secretary and senior management of the Company. Directors
are generally entitled to seek independent professional advice
on the discharge of their duties to the Company in appropriate
circumstances upon request and at our Company’s expense.

At the same time, the Company has formulated internal
policies (including but not limited to the Articles, the terms of
reference of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“‘Remuneration Committee”), the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee) to ensure that the Board is provided
with independent views and opinions. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the above mechanism and is of the view
that the above mechanism is able to ensure that the Board is
provided with independent views and opinions.

*
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction which includes provision of
key guidelines, documents and publications relevant to their
roles, responsibilities and ongoing obligations; a briefing on
the Company’s structure, businesses, risk management and
other governance practices and meeting with other fellow
Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors familiarize
with the management, business and governance policies
and practices of the Company, and ensure that they have a
proper understanding of the operations and businesses of the
Company.

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023 to the Company.
The Company has also continuously updated Directors on
the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING (Continued)

The individual training record of each Director received for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is summarized below:

sH= 25 )

HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—-HIEFE &
EEmEAEIREMARIT

Attending or
participating

in seminars/
workshops
reading materials
relevant to roles,
functions, and
duties of a listed
company director

HERS M
meg MmES
MEEELTAA
ESAC BHER
Name of Directors BEENA BENME
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. LIE Haiquan H SRR+ v
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERLA 4
Mr. TAO Wei (resigned on 29 December 2023) /& % & 4
(R—ZBE-_=F+-"A-t+HABET)
Mr. WU Di (resigned on 31 October 2023) R v
(R=ZZE==F+A=+—HET)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua iR FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) 5t £ v
(resigned on 30 November 2024) (RZZZmF+—A=+HET)
Ms. XI Lina EEMz+ v
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong ELMERE v

(resigned on 30 November 2024)
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GENERAL MEETING

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one general meeting,
being the AGM was held.

"kh—s[_\iﬁi
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Directors’
Name of the Directors Attendance
BEENE EEHFEE
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. LIE Haiquan P RERET 01
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERLA 11
Mr. TAO Wei (resigned on 29 December 2023) PRI o 1/1
(RZZE_=F+_AZ+NBEF)
Mr. WU Di (resigned on 31 October 2023) R 11
(RZZE=F+A=+—HET)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFBTES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua iR FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) 5t £ 1/1
(resigned on 30 November 2024) (RZZ—mF+—A=+HET)
Ms. XI Lina Bt 11
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong Eboy it 11

(resigned on 30 November 2024)

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, uses annual general
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them
and encourage their participation. The executive Directors
and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee attended the AGM
to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.

Under code provision F.2.2 of the Code, the chairman of
the board should attend the annual general meeting. Dr. LIE
Haigquan, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend AGM
due to his other engagement. Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, a former
deputy chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company who took the chair of the AGM, together with
other members of the Board who attended the AGM, were of
sufficient calibre for answering questions at the AGM.

*for identification purpose only
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharging of its duties, the Board is
supported by three board committees. Each committee has
its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
committee members are empowered to make decisions on
matters within the terms of reference of each committee.

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are, among others, (a) to review
the Group’s annual reports, interim reports and quarterly
reports; (b) to discuss and review with the auditor of
the Company on the scope and findings of the audit;
and (c) to supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee performed the following work during
the year ended 31 December 2023:

a. reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial results for the six months ended 30 June
2023 including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group;

b.  reviewed the changes in accounting standards and
assessed their potential impacts on the Group’s
financial statements;

© reviewed the Group’s internal control system and
related matters; and

d. considered and made recommendations on the
re-appointment of the independent auditor of the
Group, and the terms of engagement.

*for identification purpose only
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, all members of the Audit
Committee were independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. ZHANG Zihua, Ms. Xl Lina and Mr. HUANG
Zhixiong. The chairman of the Audit Committee was Mr.
ZHANG Zihua, who possessed extensive experience in
finance and accounting.

On 30 November 2024, Mr. ZHANG Zihua resigned as the
chairman of the Audit Committee and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong
resigned as a member of the Audit Committee. On 25
April 2025, Ms. CHAN Siu Mat was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairlady of
the Audit Committee, and Ms. XU Jiayuan was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. CHAN
Siu Mat, Ms. Xl Lina and Ms. XU Jiayuan. The chairlady
of the Audit Committee is Ms. CHAN Siu Mat, who
possesses extensive experience in finance and accounting.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2023 to review the Group’s audited
annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the unaudited quarterly and interim results for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which is of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosure have been made. The Audit Committee also
reviewed the internal control systems of the Company and
considered the engagement of professionals in relation
to the internal control and environmental, social and
governance reporting requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
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1. AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit EZZEgLENKNENEFBEOT:

Committee meetings are as follows:

Members’

Name of the Members Attendance

RE®A REHER

Mr. ZHANG Zihua iR FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) &4 5/5
(resigned on 30 November 2024) (RZZFZmF+—H=+HHT)

Ms. XI Lina EEMz+ 5/5

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong EEWESAE 5/5

(resigned on 30 November 2024) (RZEZmF+—A=1+HEHE)

2. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 2. FMEEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee according to the relevant provisions of the GEM
Listing Rules with written terms of reference. Its primary
duties are, among others, (a) to make recommendation
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all remuneration of Directors and senior management; (b)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; (c) to determine the remuneration
packages on individual executive Directors and senior
management; and (d) to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2023, the members of the
Remuneration Committee are Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as
chairman), Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai and Ms. Xl Lina.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

2.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

On 30 November 2024, Mr. ZHANG Zihua resigned as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. On 28 February
2025, Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai resigned as a member of the
Remuneration Committee. On 25 April 2025, Ms. CHAN
Siu Mat and Ms. XU Jiayuan were appointed as members
of the Remuneration Committee, and Ms. X| Lina was re-
designated from member to chairlady of the Remuneration
Committee.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. XI Lina
(as chairlady), Ms. CHAN Siu Mat and Ms. XU Jiayuan as
members.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings to review the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management.

Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings are as follows:

TEERRE
SEELETHm)
FNEES (#)

RZE-_NF+—HA=+H RFE-
(ZHANG Zihua) £ BT EFMEZE
F-R-_E_RAF_A=-+N\H KE
TREHITTFHMZEEGKRE - RN _F
“THREMA-+RHB BRI BLEREF
FEELTEZAATFHZEERE X
BffZtThEmME e gk 2 AT AN
REEXE-

FHEZE SR BR-RBMYIENTE
= AEEBLLE(EF) KERNE
Lt NFEEL Lo

REBEEZE-_=F+=-_A=+—HIHF
T HFMEE e BITMADE ARG
BENOREBEEHINEE-

FHZEeeRMKEBHFEFBENT:

Members’

Name of the Members Attendance

REHE REHEFEE

Mr. ZHANG Zihua B F 2 (ZHANG Zihua) % & 2/2
(resigned on 30 November 2024) (RZEZmF+—A=1+HEHE)

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERLA 2/2
(resigned on 28 February 2025) (RZE_RAF A=+ N\HEHE)

Ms. XI Lina EEM+ 2/2

The executive Directors are considered to be senior
management of the Company. The emoluments payable
to them are determined by the Remuneration Committee
based on their qualifications, experience and the prevailing
market conditions. Details of the remuneration of the
Directors are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

3.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee
on 28 March 2013 with written terms of reference in
accordance with requirements of the Exchange. The
Nomination Committee shall comprise at least three
members with a majority of independent non-executive
Directors, and the Chairman of the Board or an
independent non-executive Director should take up the
role of chairman of the Nomination Committee. As at
31 December 2023, the members of the Nomination
Committee were Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as chairman), Mr.
CHEUNG Sing Tai and Ms. XI Lina.

On 30 November 2024, Mr. ZHANG Zihua resigned as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee. On 28 February
2025, Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai resigned as a member of
the Nomination Committee. On 25 April 2025, Ms. CHAN
Siu Mat and Ms. XU Jiayuan were appointed as members
of the Nomination Committee, and Ms. XU Jiayuan was
appointed as the chairlady of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. XU
Jiayuan (as chairlady), Ms. XI Lina and Ms. CHAN Siu Mat
as members. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is currently made available on the websites of
the Exchange and the Company.

Terms of reference adopted by the Nomination Committee
are aligned with the code provisions set out in the Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are, among
others, to review and monitor the structure, size and
composition of the Board and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement of the
Group’s strategy; to identify qualified individuals to become
members of the Board; to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; and to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

3. NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy and
delegated certain duties thereunder to the Nomination
Committee. The Nomination Committee and the Board
had also reviewed the structure of the Board on 23
March 2023 and were of the opinion the Board consisted
of members with different gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills and knowledge, which met the requirements under
the terms of the Board Diversity Policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Nomination Committee held one meeting to (1) review the
Board composition, (2) review the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and (3) consider the
re-election of retiring Directors.

Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee meeting are as follows:

EXERKRE

EEERMNEFEZLCBRLBBR
HATNETHREZRRTREZEE 12
HEBEREFRIRN_T_=F=H
“tZARNEFEZIRBE ARKE
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FE
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ERRE

REZEGERMKNEBHFEFBEWT
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Members’

Name of the Members Attendance

RE#E R B R

Mr. ZHANG Zihua ok FE* (ZHANG Zihua) 7t & 1/1
(resigned on 30 November 2024) (RZZE_MF+—H=1THEHE)

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERILA 1/1

(resigned on 28 February 2025)

Ms. XI Lina ZEiiiz+

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and ensure
that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

(RZE_RAF A=+ N\HET)
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$2,053,255,000 (2022 (restated): HK$151,108,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$1,360,246,000 (2022: HK$1,101,658,000),
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to only
HK$27,245,000, and the Group was in net liabilities position of
approximately HK$1,325,237,000. These conditions, along with
other matters, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is able to maintain
itself as a going concern in the coming year by taking into
consideration that:

(i

the cash flow projections can be achieved that the
Group would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operation and to meet its financial obligations when they
fall due within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period;

bank loans with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$280,381,000 as at 31 December
2023 are repayable more than one year after the end of
the reporting period pursuant to the repayment schedule
included in the loan agreements, but have a repayment on
demand clause. Such bank loans have been classified as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2023 in accordance
with Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
(“HK-Int 5”). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position and the security provided to the banks, the
Directors believe that the banks will agree to refinance their
loans to the Group when they fall due and will not exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The Directors believe that these bank loans will be repaid
in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements;
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(i)

(v)

other loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$126,366,000 as at 31 December 2023 that are
repayable more than one year after the end of the
reporting period pursuant to the repayment schedule
included in the loan agreements, with a repayment on
demand clause, have been classified as current liability
as at 31 December 2023 in accordance with HK-Int 5.
Taking into account the Group’s financial position and the
security provided to the lenders, the Directors believe that
the lenders will agree to refinance their loans to the Group
when they fall due and will not exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors
believe that these other loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements;

as at 31 December 2023, there were unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$1,040,376,000 which
are expiring between 2024 and 2028 and will be made
available to the Group when needed to be drawn to allow
the Group to continue to meet its financial obligations; and

Dr. Lie Haiquan, the substantial shareholder of the
Company, has committed to provide continuous financial
support to the Group to enable the Group to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
next nineteen months from the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

In addition to the above, management of the Group plans to
negotiate with the existing lenders of the bank loans and other
loans in relation to the potential refinancing of these borrowings
to allow the Group to continue to meet its financial obligations.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

If the refinancing from the existing lenders of the bank loans and
other loans, financial support from the Company’s substantial
shareholder and banking facilities from certain financial
institutions were not to be available, the Group would be unable
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
Adjustments would have to be made to reduce the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for financial liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively, if applicable. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The corporate governance functions were performed by the
Board.

The corporate governance functions are, among others, to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance to comply with the Code and other
legal or regulatory requirements, to oversee the Company’s
orientation program for new Director, to review and monitor the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and Directors, and to review the Company’s
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held one
meeting for reviewing the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the Company’s compliance
with the Code for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The responsibility statement of external auditor of the Company,
Fan, Chan & Co., about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 104 to 105. During the year ended
31 December 2023, auditor’s remuneration for audit services
was HK$900,000. Save as disclosed above, there was no other
significant non-audit services assignment undertaken by the
external auditor during the year ended 31 December 2023.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. YUEN Poi Lam Wiliam (“Mr. Yuen”), the representative of
Proficient Skill Limited, was appointed as the named company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) from 29
September 2017 to 29 February 2024. His primary corporate
contact person at the Company was Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, the
former chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. MAN Yun
Wah (“Mr. Man”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary
since 29 February 2024. Mr. Man reports to the Chairman.

In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr.
Yuen and Mr. Man have taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communications between the shareholders and the Board.
An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each
year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each
general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company according to the provisions as set out in the
Articles and The Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands. The procedures shareholders can use to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are set out in the document
entitled “Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director”, which is currently available on the
Company’s website.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO
THE BOARD

To ensure effective communications between the Board and
the shareholders and the investment community at large, the
Company’s information is communicated to the shareholders
and the investment community mainly through the Company’s
financial reports (interim reports and annual reports), and its
corporate communications and other corporate publications
on the Company’s website and the Exchange’s website.
Shareholders and the investment community may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent
such information is publicly available. Any such questions shall
be first directed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting
forward a proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@ any number of members holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
as at the date of the requisition carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING (Continued)

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall
be deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company'’s expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution
or circulating any necessary statement, at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than
six weeks before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the
meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed
with the necessary procedures.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Articles during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company’s general meeting is a
valuation forum for the Board to communicate directly with
the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as the
chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee together with the
external auditor are present to answer shareholders’ questions.
The annual report together with annual general meeting circular
is distributed to all the shareholders at least 21 days before
the annual general meeting. The Company has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2023
and concluded that it is effective.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 17.47(4) of the GEM Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted on by a show of hands.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The management of the Group updated and reported the key
risk areas, including any remedial plans, if deemed necessary
or appropriate, to the Audit Committee for consideration. The
identified key risk areas and the appropriate risk mitigation
strategies were reviewed and commented by the Board at its
meeting annually.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review
of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with
a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates
any material issues to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group appointed
BT Corporate Governance Limited (‘BTCGL”) to independently
perform internal control review and assess the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control as recommended by BTCGL to
enhance the internal control systems of the Group and mitigate
risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the
findings and recommendations of BTCGL which are being
remediated by the Group as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control system
effective and adequate.

OUR ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

The Company has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2016. While the Board has the overall responsibility
to ensure that sound and effective internal controls are
maintained, the management of the Company is responsible
for designing and implementing an internal control system to
manage all kinds of risks facing by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments.
Our risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the
Board and management to manage the risks of the Group
effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the Audit
Committee that oversees risk management and internal audit
functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate
governance structure with operational management and
controls performed by operations management, coupled with
risk management monitoring carried out by the finance and
compliance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by BTCGL. The Group maintains a risk
register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group.
The risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee,
and management with a profile of its major risks and records
management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks.
Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood
of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The
risk register is updated by management as the risk owners
with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if
applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all
risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware of
and alert to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they
can take follow-up action in an efficient manner.

Our risk management activities are performed by management
on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk
management framework will be evaluated at least annually, and
periodic management meeting is held to update the progress
of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensure
that risk management forms part of the daily business operation
processes in order to align risk management with corporate
goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls
and risk management annually and further enhance the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM (Continued)

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group.
The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to
perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet
its needs. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at
least annually the need for an internal audit function.

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Policies and procedures are established within the Group to
facilitate continuous identification of risk events followed by
comprehensive risk assessment processes to allow the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively.

Besides, all employees of the Group are encouraged to report
material risk issues or transactions, any suspected impropriety,
misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group to higher
authorities pursuant to the Group’s whistleblowing policy.
The whistleblowing mechanism aims to provide reporting
channels and guidance on reporting possible improprieties and
reassurance to whistle-blowers of the protection that the Group
will extend to them in the formal system, including anonymity,
confidentiality, and legal protection against unfair dismissal. The
Board delegated the authority to the Audit Committee which is
responsible for ensuring that proper arrangements are in place
for fair and independent investigation of any matters raised and
appropriate follow-up actions are taken.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently
and consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the
Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company keeps
Directors, senior management and employees appraised of the
latest regulatory updates. The Company shall prepare or update
appropriate guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with
regulatory requirements.

All employees of the Group are also bound by the Code of
Conduct that is in line with the anti-corruption policy published
by Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption
and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) in Hong
Kong. The Code of Conduct assists employees in recognising
circumstance which may lead to or give the appearance of
being involved in corruption or unethical business conduct, so
as to avoid such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to
promptly seek guidance where necessary.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is pleased to present its environmental, social
and governance (‘ESG”) report (the “Report”). The content
contained herein focuses on providing an overview of the ESG
performance of its major operations in Hong Kong and the PRC
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”).
This also facilitates the Group to conduct thorough performance
reviews and evaluations to enhance its overall performance
results in the future. The Reporting Period coincides with our
financial year.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” in
Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In preparing the
Report, the Group has adopted the international standards and
emission factors specified in the guidance materials on ESG
issued by the Stock Exchange for computing the relevant key
performance indicators (‘KPIs”), and there is no change from
the previous reporting period in the way the ESG Report has
been prepared. The application of materiality is detailed in the
section headed “Materiality Assessment” of this ESG Report.

This Report covers the business units or subsidiaries that have
full equity attributable to the Company. The Report summarises
the ESG performance of our three major business units, namely,
Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited ( &/ & 3R &}
R ABR A A]) (“Guangzhou Zituo”), Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited ([ ERE/EB &R AER A a])
(“Bluesea Mobile”) and the head office of the Company, for the
Reporting Period.

FEEDBACK

For details of our ESG performance, corporate governance
as well as financial performance, please visit our website at
http://www.neo-telemedia.com and refer to our Annual Reports.
We treasure your feedbackn and comments on our sustainability
performance, please send your feedback and enquiries to us at
info@neo-telemedia.com.
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ESG MANAGEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group acknowledges
that quality management of environmental and societal proof
and activities is of great importance to promoting sustainable
economic growth. The ESG Report summarises the strategy,
practice, and vision of the Group in respect of the issues related
to ESG, and conveys a clear message of the Group’s devotion
to sustainability. To address the global concern about climate
change that affects not only the environmental systems but also
our daily lives, the Group has considered climate-related issues
and incorporated them into its risk management system to
enhance its resilience and adaptive capacity to potential climate
change impacts. All potential risks that may have an impact on
the Group’s businesses will be covered and evaluated in the
annual risk assessment.

The Group has established a governance structure to enhance
its management of ESG issues. The Board of Directors (the
“Board”) has overall responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
ESG-related risks and opportunities, establishing and adopting
the ESG-related strategies and targets of the Group, reviewing
the Group’s performance annually against the ESG-related
targets, and revising the ESG-related strategies as appropriate
if significant variance from the ESG-related target is identified.
The Group has set up an ESG Working Group which comprises
members from middle to senior management and supports
the Board in implementing ESG-related strategies and targets,
conducting materiality assessments of ESG issues, and
promoting the implementation of measures in relation to ESG
issues identified. By the delegation of authority of the Board,
the ESG Working Group assists in collecting ESG data from
different functional departments of the Group, monitoring the
implementation of the measures in relation to ESG issues
identified, and investigating any deviations from the ESG-
related strategies and targets and liaising with relevant functional
departments of the Group to take prompt rectification actions in
relation to such deviations.
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Based on the set goals and targets, the Board will continue to ZEF@GEERIERTENKLBIEKRIAE
review the Group’s progress in relation to ESG issues inorderto EAMRE HE@NEAEENER  UEYT
build a more sustainable business and bring greater benefits to B AJFERRNER T AR EL S@E KT E
society as a whole. B A & o

e The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees
the formulation, and assessment of the ESG system.

ESSRERERK BERER 4 EREARRANFIER ML -

ESG Working Group e The ES§ Working Group is responsible for assisting.the Bf)ard in
B R Ea managing and monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.
e B HEREATHAIMIAE AERYESETERBRES -

T HEREABE -

e Functional departments are responsible for the execution of implemented
measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.

R BEBB S B AP B EH TR A LS R T A o

Functional Department

IDENTIFICATION OF AND ENGAGEMENT WITH (4 &#E A28
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group actively strives to understand and engage our ANEBEREHLE Nt TR KM HEMEM
stakeholders to ensure continuous improvements. We strongly — F1& B - AR 548 00 2 o 3P B {5 » T M
believe that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the ~ BI¥FD & E TR M KB A T IG5 P 3 M £ 15
success of our business in the challenging market. RN A EEEEZEEEMNER -
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The major ESG concerns of its stakeholders and the means
through which the Group engages with such stakeholders are

detailed below:

Stakeholders
BHE

Stock Exchange

Bt 22 BT

Government

B

Suppliers
g

Shareholders/Investors

BR/REE

Media & Public
R AR

Customers

5P

] &

Probable issues of concern
] gE BA X Y R B

Compliance with listing rules, timely and
accurate announcements.

B EARAL R TR IR A -

Compliance with laws and regulations,
prevention of tax evasion, and social
welfare.
BFERBER WILAB IR HE L &R
e

Payment schedule, stable demand and
efficiency.

NG EIR BEFTRKEME-
Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, and
investment returns.

EBERHE  EHR
& B3 -

R A Jo 3R PA B3

Corporate governance, environmental
protection and human right.

TEER RERERARE-

Product quality, delivery times,
reasonable prices, service value, labour
protection and work safety.

EnEE INEH GEER R%EE
B STRERIELZR-
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Communication and responses

BBEREE

Meetings, trainings, roadshows,
workshops, programs, website updates
and announcements.

T B BE TR ATE AT
ﬁ&“io

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other
information.

BEERFD BUTESE R
fth B HL o

HHARRE

Review and evaluation, contracts and
agreements

e RFHE - &8 RiE

Organising and participating in seminars,
interviews, shareholders’ meetings, issuing
of financial reports and/or operation
reports for investors, media and analysts.
BB 2EATE SR RRRERE
BEE BEROWAHEMBRE R
GBS o
Issue of newsletters on the Company’s
website.

TR B 48 uh BB AR o

After-sales services and the Company’s
website.
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Stakeholders Probable issues of concern

BiE ARERE A E

Employees Rights and benefits, employee
compensation, training and
development, work hours, and working
environment.

(== RN RART B B mE - EFIEER T
TERFfA ;R THEIRIR -

Community Community environment, employment
and community development, and social
welfare.

Zan HEIRE - ERETEEERTSEN -

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has identified ESG issues that may have potential
impacts on its sustainable development from various sources,
including issues identified and included in the Group’s previous
ESG report and internal policies, and some reflected by industry
trends, the areas of ESG concerns raised by the Group’s
stakeholders as set out above, and the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board’s Materiality Map'. Such ESG issues have
been analysed with reference to an array of factors, including the
Group’s overall strategy, development, and goals and targets.
The Group has conducted a materiality assessment to rate
the identified ESG issues that are pertinent to its business and
stakeholders, and their respective levels of impact. The Group
has adopted relevant measures to cope with these factors, and
therefore, the Group believes that these factors do not have a
material impact on the financial and operational performance of
the Group.

' Sustainability Accounting Standards Board’s Materiality Map,
https://materiality.sasb.org/

RE-HERERHRE

Communication and responses

BEREOE

Training, interviews for employees,
employee handbooks, employee
performance evaluation, internal memos,
employee suggestion boxes.
Bl EEEX BIFM EEA
A E=EREERRME-

&G

Community activities, employee voluntary
activities, community welfare subsidies and
charitable donations.

MEES - RBEETEE  (LEEFFEL

HERME-

EEMMA

AEBENZ B R IRH R 7 g Bl 554 3%

RELEBGCZENRE HEREREE B
HREBAARAAEELNNRE HER
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HrekErMIBBAMKESTENESR
ENEEUERL -FHERRE HELERE
HEZ2Z-RIRARETHN BEAEE
MEBRE ZR BERES-AKEEE
TEZENE RHERAWEEXB R
MERBENRRE LEREREEUARES
BT EREETHR ﬁﬁlﬂ%ﬂﬂéﬁﬁ
EREHRERAR A ARERRZE
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The relevance of such issues to the Group and its stakeholders
was examined to help us identify the gap between our
development trajectory and the expectations of the
stakeholders. The following ESG issues are prioritised and

BRI TAEEEEARERERNEN
MR AR B IR APIR B B FIR0 3% R 8 F 2
FEHRLEZHANEE THRE HELE
AEHEREBRIIENEREREAIIR :

indicated in the materiality matrix:

—_
=
=,

Materiality Matrix

High 1= 4 EE MR
: (1]
[4p]
i (2]
3,
2Zm \
‘om eo0
= O o 9
o w 2 e
Zz O @
G i (10
8EM ®O0
Ga ® @
25 i @
zo 8
L B i ®
o<+~
_I a*“
S~ (16]
-
Low {EE LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL &

SOCIAL IMPACTS High S

HEE BRERMEXENERREE

Environment Social

RIR e

4.  Greenhouse Gas Emissions 1. Product and Service Quality
BE RS HE EnkRBES

5.  Energy Usage 2. Employment
BeIR(E A =

6. Climate Change 3.  Health and Safety
RixZ 1 ERER S

12.  Non-hazardous Waste 7.  Anti-corruption
EmEREREY) K&

13. Environment and Natural Resources 8.  Training and Development
RERBAAER B R ERE

14. Air Emissions 9.  Labour Standard
& SRBEPR 25 T AR

15. Water Usage 10. Supply Chain Management
A7k fHhpEgEE s

16. Hazardous Waste 11.  Social Responsibility
BEEREY HeERME

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group continuously strives to insist on its current eco-
friendly measures to reduce the carbon footprints in its daily
operations. The Group will continue to further develop its
eco-friendly measures and provide positive impacts to the
environment in the future. For the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any material nhon-compliance issues with
regard to the relevant environmental laws and regulations.

AIR EMISSIONS

Air emissions, including nitrogen oxides (“NO_”), sulphur oxides
(“80,") and particulate matter (‘PM”), are the key air pollutants
which are mainly produced by the usage of automobile fuel.
As the principal activities of the Group are the provision of
data centre services and sale of telecommunication products,
there was no major gaseous fuel consumption involved in
the business operation. The Group has a fleet of vehicles for
serving its management team members and daily operations.
All vehicles are under regular maintenance check to facilitate
fuel consumption efficiency, which keeps air emissions at the
minimum. The major air pollutants emitted from vehicles included
NO,, SO,, and PM. During the Reporting Period, all air emissions
dropped significantly because of effective fleet management,
which leading to reduction in the usage of vehicles. The Group
will make continuous efforts in working towards the target of
maintaining or reducing the air emissions between 80% to 120%
of the level of the baseline year ended 31 December 2023 in the
next reporting period.

Details of exhaust gas generated by the Group are as follows:

RE HERERRE

EARIRIF

AEE-BEHOINERTBAORERER U
A B 2 E R e B S B R B e AN SR B
BEE - TERRFRER ANARBIRE
TREBTZE - RRESHA AREALTHNE
EMEBAFREREERMERBENEX
TEMRERE -

JE% SR HE B

BERIEBRBREASE/Y ([EELYW]) mE
it ([FHEAY]) RENY ([ERY]) =
FENTERSEY T ESEBERAERE
EXf - ARAEENETEER SRESESD
DIRBREEEMNER WEBEELT P
RERAEME B AEEES —XEHK-
AEERBEEBKERBEEERE -MEE
MBS THEERDS  UWIReMEDERER
K BREAFHIERERE - EHNETEETR
EAMBIEREAY WAL RBERY R
WEHRN AREEERIT BB EEHER
B FTEBERPEMRER D - NEB BEE
BH FRAT—AREHBEIENES
BRI EHE_E-_=F+-_A=+—H
1EEEF FKFEAB80% £=120% °

AEBEENERFBHT:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

Types of air emissions Unit Total Total
BE-E-_=F ®#®HE-ZT_—fF

=Y HISSREd- +— A={—H

LHFE IEEFE

BERBERER By #at 5t
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) RELD kg T7= 23.46 40.47
Sulphur Oxides (SO) maty kg T 0.05 0.06
Particulate Matter (PM) FERL YD kg T7= 2.25 3.88
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GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions are the key culprits of global
warming, significantly threatening the climate system and leading
to climate change. To fulffill its corporate social responsibilities,
the Group strives to reduce any negative impacts of GHG
emissions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s direct (scope 1) GHG
emissions resulted principally from the combustion of fuels by
vehicles, while energy indirect (scope 2) emissions sources were
fundamentally from the consumption of purchased electricity.
Besides, the Group’s other indirect (scope 3) emissions are
mainly generated from the disposal of paper waste and air
business travel by its employees. During the Reporting Period,
the total GHG emissions amounted to 17,176.79 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent (“CO,-e"). The GHG emissions of
the Group were mainly due to indirect energy consumption?,
which accounted for more than 99% of the Group’s total GHG
emissions. Compared to the last reporting period, there is a
decrease of approximately 24% of the total GHG emissions,
which is attributed to the purchased electricity consumption
dropped. During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions
intensity amounted to approximately 154.75 tonnes of CO,-e
per employee®, which is an increase of 24%. Although the GHG
emissions decreased, it decreased by a proportion less than the
decrease in the number of employees due to electricity required
to maintain data center operation. Thus, the intensity of GHG
emissions increased and the Group did not achieve the target
set in the last reporting period.

2 The carbon emission factor of electricity in Hong Kong was set at
0.39 kgCO,e/kWh according to the latest data published by CLP
Holdings Limited. The carbon emission factor of electricity in the
PRC was set at 0.5703 kgCO,e/kWh according to the latest data
published by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment, PRC.

S As at 31 December 2023, there were a total of 111 employees
(2022: 182 employees) from Bluesea Mobile, Guangzhou Zituo
and the head office of the Company.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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RE HERERRE

The Group will make continuous efforts in working towards the A& @G #HES 5 FEN ~N— @RS B4
target of maintaining or reducing the GHG emissions intensity #FEZEREHRZEX BRI EZEHEZ T =
between 80% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended F+ = A=+—H IF EEFEH80% £120%

31 December 2023 in the next reporting period. IKFE o
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
Types of GHG Emissions Unit Total Total*
BE-Z-=f HE-_T_—
+—A=+—-H +=ZHA=+—H
LEE HEE
BERBHHER By st st
Scope 1 - Direct Emissions BE—- - BEEENR
Combustion of fuels in vehicles HHRBIRE Tonnes of CO,-e
BE-atiREER 8.25 10.14
Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions ~ Z5E = — &R BZEHR
Electricity g Tonnes of CO,-e
M_gaftixEe 17,158.64 22,730.00
Scope 3 - Other Indirect Emissions ~ Z1E= — HitEEHR
Paper Consumption RIRERE Tonnes of CO,-e
M_atiES 2.55 2.68
Business Air Travel RERELI DS Tonnes of CO,-e
M_ftiEEs 7.35 5.14
Total @t
Total GHG Emissions BEREBHMAE Tonnes of CO,-e
BE-StiREE 17,176.79 22,747.96
GHG Emissions Intensity BERBHREE Tonnes of CO,-e/
employee
M_2{tRE=E
BEETI 154.75 124.99

4 To align with consistency reporting principle, therefore the total 4 AE-HUERERIRFT B BALERAER
GHG emissions and GHG emissions intensity have been restated BEENEERAERBEREEEEIEILE
with corrections to 2 decimal places. BB B WAL -
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We will continue to improve our measures so as to further
reduce the GHG and carbon footprints in the coming years. We
noticed that electricity consumption was the greatest culprit
of its GHG emissions during the Reporting Period. Thus, the
Group has raised awareness of energy conservation among its
employees by reducing usage of lighting in the office. We also
encourage all employees to treasure electricity by consistently
investing in energy-efficient facilities used in data centres. In
order to whittle down the paper usage as well, we encourage
our employees to reuse single-sided-printed paper as well as to
use electronic documents instead of printed documents in daily
operations and communications. We believe that our initiatives
on environmental protection are for our better environmental
sustainability.

Environmental Investment in Data Centres

The Group owns two data centres in Guangzhou and two major
data centres are under construction. To reduce the electricity
consumption in the data centres, the Group has invested in
several energy-efficient facilities. We believe that it is not only
investing our investments in data centres for business purposes,
but also investing in a better environment in the future. These
energy-efficient facilities included an air-conditioning system
which could automatically adjust its speed according to the
room temperature and save over 15% of energy when compared
to the traditional air-conditioning system. A cooling tower with
an efficient water pump for cooling hot computer components
was also installed. Like the air-conditioning system, the cooling
tower could also automatically adjust its speed according to its
usage.

To build a sustainable community with our stakeholders, not
only should we maintain or even further enhance the services
provided by data centres to our customers in the future, but
we would also continuously invest in energy-efficient facilities to
contribute to the reduction of GHG emissions.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

The principal operating activities of the Group refer to the sale
of telecommunication products and services, which do not
produce any hazardous waste such as chemical wastes and
clinical wastes.

Besides, for the sake of reducing the number of equipment
disposals, we perform regular maintenance of equipment
located in the data centres and the head office so as to reduce
non-hazardous waste.

RE HERERRE

REH E I

AEENEERL AP EHEENEMMR
B X AELEEMAEEY MEBEYRE

AN R RBRIZNEE - HAPIE S E
RO REORE WD BEEEEY -

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
BE-B-=F HE_T__F
+=B=+-8 +t-A=+-AH
WFFEE IFFE
Total non-hazardous waste ~ FTEABEEEVMRE kg TR
generated 531.20 558.00
Intensity of non-hazardous FREEBREEEYHE  kg/employee
waste generated Fr/S8%8T 4.79 3.07

During the Reporting Period, the only significant non-hazardous
waste identified in the Group’s operations was the paper waste
which amounted to approximately 531.20 kg (2022: 558.00
kg), with an intensity of 4.79 kg (2022: 3.07 kg) per employee.
Compared to the last reporting period, there is a decrease of
approximately 5% in the total non-hazardous waste generated.
However, the non-hazardous waste intensity increased by
56%. Although the non-hazardous waste generated decreased,
it decreased by a proportion less than the decrease in the
number of employees due to paper required for selling
telecommunication products and services. Thus, the non-
hazardous waste intensity increased, and the Group did not
achieve the target set in the last reporting period.

Paper usage is always one of the critical concerns in the
consumption of natural resources since logging is involved in
the production of paper which affects the environment both
directly and indirectly. In this regard, reducing the use of paper
printing and creating a paperless working environment are our
primary goals. We constantly encourage our staff to use double-
sided printing, and paper that was printed on one side and did
not contain any confidential information was collected for reuse
purposes. The usage of electronic documents is encouraged to
replace printed documents.

REBEHRN AEELEREFRHHROE—
EREEFEEVAER H9AR531.20F 7 (=
T F:558.00F %)  HERBHETL4L79
FTROZE-_F:3.07T7R) & F— (AR
LHAL EANEZBREVBRERL TH
5% AT - EEREEYEE AME N T56% °
BARAEENBEEEMBEMRL AREE
BHEMMRBAZEOMAER  ETELHKE
RETABM TR Bl MEEEYZ
EBEMEN AEESEER F— @RS H
HEWBIE-

MRER —EERAER BT H B MEE
Z— AREERNEESRIKA SEHIRE
ELERRREEZE B - B MR HIRI A
158 F AN Bl & — B E AL ) TAEIRRE T AMEY
BEZER-HMTH=mEEEREEIID -

WU EE P EN BB 2 R #EE AR
RIFERMA -RMBEEEREFXMH
BHAE o
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Through adopting these steps, the Group will make continuous
efforts in working towards the target of maintaining or reducing
the non-hazardous waste intensity between 80% to 120% of the
level of the baseline year ended 31 December 2023 in the next
reporting period, given that there is no addition of other types of
non-hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group aims to be an environmentally sustainable enterprise
to contribute to environmental protection. The Group pursues

BERMZEREE NEREES D T
MEMENBEEZEYNBALT FRET
—EREHAREEEEDEREHFETIRE
EHEZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILEFEE
HEFIKFHIB0% £120% 2 A

BiREH

AEBEB IR R FEERNRREE
ARRIELER -ARBERSEMNAER

the practices of efficient use of resources, including energy, B FEEER KB EMKRER Wi —FRE
water and other natural resources and further reduces the ¥TERIRFMABMTE-

negative impacts on the natural environment.

Energy Consumption RE R H #E

During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption RIREEA LR EREAE T425% =B

decreased by 25% mainly due to a drop in the consumption
of purchased electricity. However, the energy consumption
intensity increased by 24%. Although the energy consumption
decreased, it decreased by a proportion less than the decrease
in the number of employees due to electricity required to
maintain data center operation. Thus, the energy consumption
intensity increased, and the Group did not achieve the target
set in the last reporting period. The following are the statistics of
energy consumption recorded during the Reporting Period:

RIMEENHREE TR - AWM ERBREE
KB IN24% - B RBEFER T N FE - (B B R BUR
RLOEITHAENEN ETREMERET
ABEV TR O] E - BEROBFEZ E A T8
m AEBEREER F—HERNRENEZR-
AT RBE AR EREERE RS BUR

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
BE-ZE-= HE—_ZT——
+=—B=+—-H +ZA=+—H
LtEE IEFE
Direct Energy Consumption BB
Fuel consumption B kKWh F FLE 29,961.80 36,935.54
Indirect Energy Consumption B REIRE
Purchased electricity consumption  SMNEEJJEFE  kWh TR 30,091,815.60 39,860,699.60
Total energy consumption BEREHEME kWh TREE 30,121,777.40 39,897,635.14
Energy consumption intensity BEEFHEBE  kWh/employee
TERE, S8BT 271,367.36 219,217.78
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The Group will make continuous efforts in working towards
the target of maintaining or reducing the energy consumption
intensity between 80% to 120% of the level of the baseline
year ended 31 December 2023 in the next reporting period.
To achieve so, the Group has strived to achieve energy-saving
in data centres by utilising natural resources to reduce energy
consumption and using eco-friendly electrical appliances.

To save and preserve energy for the operation of the data
centres, the Group continuously invested in several energy-
efficient facilities, including air-conditioning systems, cooling
towers with water pumps and other forms of equipment,
located in the data centres in Guangzhou. The air-conditioning
system, with a Grade 2 Energy Label, could adjust its cooling
power automatically for a steady temperature. The cooling water
pump with a Grade 2 Energy Label, could adjust its speed
automatically to transfer cool water into the air-conditioner,
which could maintain the room temperature at a constant and
appropriate level. Besides, the Group advocates the usage of
LED lighting in the data centres for energy-saving purposes.
In light of these energy-saving means, the Group believes that
continuous usage of these facilities could better monitor energy
consumption along with its business expansion in the future.

In addition, we also implemented several resource-saving
measures in the office to minimise the use of electricity. We have
fully utilised natural lighting at the office in order to minimise the
use of electrical lighting so as to save energy. Strict guidelines
on the usage of lighting are introduced to our employees to
raise their awareness of energy conservation. Besides, usage
of energy-efficient appliances with Grade 1 Energy Label
was encouraged at the office. We will keep improving our
effectiveness of electrical energy conservation as well as the
efficiency of electrical energy consumption in the coming years.

RE HERERRE

AREBBEES H FRET —EREHSE
ERERREAHFTIRERHEZE-Z ==
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Water Consumption FK

The Group has complied with the Water Pollution Prevention 7% E & <F (R AR L FBE KT RIFE

and Control Law of the PRC with an aim to prevent and control %) -

AP IEMEHINOTR - RERKER

water pollution, protect and improve the environment and 35 WREHAKEZ 2 RHEHRN K FIE
ensure the safety of drinking water. During the Reporting Period,  SKERE F 7K R J5 T 37 4 R # o

we have no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023° 2022
BE-—ZE_= BT ——
+=ZA=+—HB +ZH=1+—H
IEFES EFE
Total water consumption® HFEKES md N/A
A 43,171.00 TEA
Water consumption intensity k&R E m3/employee
SRR N/A
BEET 388.93 i@ A
5 The water consumption of the Group for the Reporting Period is 5 NEBRHREBHARNFEKE D IRIBE R

disclosed in accordance with “Appendix 2: Reporting guidance
on Environment KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange to provide a
more comprehensive performance of the Group.

o The water consumption data only included Bluesea Mobile  ©
business unit, as the water charges of Guangzhou Zituo and the
head office of the Company are included in the management fees.
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The Group will make continuous efforts in working towards
the target of maintaining or reducing the water consumption
intensity between 80% to 120% of the level of the baseline year
ended 31 December 2023 in the next reporting period. The
Group treasures the preciousness of water resources. Through
the implementation of a variety of measures, the Group is
committed to achieving water conservation under the principle
of saving, purifying and recycling:

° Any water wastage phenomenon is prohibited;

° Any water leakage, breakage or other potential damage to
water pipes is regularly inspected and identified;

° Meter reading is checked constantly for revealing any
hidden leakage phenomena;

° Water-saving education and ideas of water-saving are
continuously promoted among our employees; and

° Reminders of water-saving are posted in the office.

Packaging Materials

As the Group’s operations mainly focus on providing services,
packaging material consumption of the Group is not seen as
having material impacts on the environment.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group believes that corporate development should not
come at the expense of the environment. Therefore, we have
been adopting environmentally friendly practices in various
aspects. For example, we invested in several energy-efficient
facilities located in our data centres, and have been adopting a
paperless work environment to reduce paper wastage.

RE HERERRE

AREBBEES D FHR T —EREHE
FKBREH#ERRIEHE-_Z-_=F+=
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CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related risk annually
while conducting the risk assessment. We have considered the
potential climate-related risks in respect of the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure, which
are the physical risks such as extreme weather conditions and
transition risks such as regulatory change on environmental
matters, and summarised below:

RIRE 1t

RETRERIGR AEETFEHLH
FIRIEABERR BMERARIREEYFE
Bk IT’Eiﬂm@' EZEBERFEHEERS -
EREER (fﬁ”ﬁﬂﬂiﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬂﬁﬂ)%&iﬂﬁ
J—LM(W'UZDE&%FE]% BEEEM L) BT

Medium Long
(1-3 years) (4-10 years) Mitigation Strategy
b RE
(123F) (4Z10F) ERER

Short
(current
Potential Financial Reporting
Risk Type Risks Impact Period)
EH
ERER B BEUBEE (FHEH)
Physical Risks ~ * Extreme weather ¢ Reduce revenue from v
conditions such as business and supply
flooding and typhoon chain disruptions
¢ Sustained elevated * Increase cost related
temperature to the rising need for
cooling
ERRR o WIRREMRD (Gl o FBRHEEPET
KEEE) E GG
o REMR o BRATREMER
kA S
Transition Risks ¢ Changes in ¢ Reduce revenue from
environmental-related business and supply
regulations chain disruptions

¢ Higher operating costs e Increase cost related
to adopt new practices  to the rising need for

cooling
BERBR o RERBAZANEL o EBREEREPHE
o RiNEEMERKE %ZEH’J\
FX 7R 38 A0 o HAAERENER
B35 A0
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4 ¢ Located our offices in cities where
the occurrences extreme weather
conditions are relatively rare

¢ Established adverse weather
condition policy

e Adopted energy conservation
measures

o BEMNBLEZAREROE
ERm R EAMR BT

o HIEAFREMALE

o FBHER

v v' ¢ Reduce energy consumption by
implementing energy conservation
measures

it
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SECTION B: SOCIAL

EMPLOYMENT

We believe that continued business success relies on the full
contribution and support of our talented employees. We treasure
our employees and treat them as the most valuable assets
of our Group, based on their continuous commitment and
contribution to helping us to achieve our corporate goals and
continuously lead us to attain different levels of achievement.

We advocate a harmonious and friendly work environment for
our employees. We have established a set of formal human
resources policies and procedures, which provide guidance on
the day-to-day operations, including staff recruitment, probation,
termination, promotion, retirement, transfer, performance
appraisal, salary, bonus, leave and other benefits.
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RE HERERRSE

Our Employees

As at 31 December 2023, there were a total of 111 employees
(2022: 182 employees) in Bluesea Mobile, Guangzhou Zituo,
and the head office of the Company. The Group believes that
maintaining a diverse and inclusive workforce in the future
with respect and care given to its employees is very critical for

running a sustainable and successful business.

HMEEE

R-B-=F+-"A=+—0 FEBH E
MERRARRBHERNIEE R A1
HZ(ZEZ—F:182%) - AKERE &K
BEZTIERBRAMERNAT RAGHESR
NERF HREENBEEREKINMNE
EmEEEEE-

As at 31 December

Number of Employees EBEAH 2023
R=-E==
+t=A=+—8H
Total wEt 111
By Gender &R &l o
Male St 82
Female pegi 29
By Age Group BREFRARE D
<25 <25 21
25-29 25-29 30
30-39 30-39 38
40-49 40-49 15
> 50 > 50 7
By Employment Type REEERRES
Full-time £ 110
Part-time i 1
By Geographical Region ZihEE D
Hong Kong B 4
The PRC aa 106
Australia SRR 58 1

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Year ended

Employee Turnover Rate EERKE 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=F

+=RA=+—H

LHEE

Overall wee 35%
By Gender BRI & D

Male B4 32%

Female pgkd 45%

By Age Group BRERARE S

<25 <25 24%

25-29 25-29 57%

30-39 30-39 13%

40-49 40-49 53%

> 50 > 50 57%
By Geographical Region &t EE 5

Hong Kong BE 100%

The PRC a3 33%

Australia SRR F 2R -

We constantly value our employees and advocate team spirit
among our employees. To further strengthen the bonding of our
employees, team-building activities were held so as to enable
our employees and management to connect with each other.
With our consistent efforts in maintaining our team relationship,
we believe that we are able to maintain our team and retain our
talented employees.

Employee Benefits

We consider our employees as the key to sustainable business
growth. Thus, we offer a comprehensive benefits package,
including a mandatory retirement fund, insurance and annual
leave to attract and retain employees. Employees are entitled
to compensation on equal opportunities based on their job
performance. We also award employees with a year-end bonus
according to the employees’ and the Group’s performance.
Besides, employees’ performance appraisal is conducted on an
annual basis to determine the extent of salary increase and the
award of promotion as an incentive to reward staff commitment
and contribution.

BABKREAERMANER FEREZHN
BEEM - RE— T INRER 2R
HAENTEREREY UERMANES
MEREZMEREEBRE BBERMSE
ShHEEGKREER RMABERMAENES
BB ERCEFLBRERFIEFHREE

& S48 %
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#oE RFEEEENEANGTE BRER
BIERAES  REREFER ARSI REEE
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In addition, the employees working in Guangzhou were enrolled
in the Social Security Scheme and Housing Provident Fund with
reference to the Labour Law of the PRC.

The Group strictly abides with the Employment Ordinance, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong,
and Labour Law of the PRC, Social Insurance Law of the PRC,
Regulations on Management of Housing Provident Fund in the
PRC, and other relevant laws and regulations which cover all
employment protection and benefits.

Harmonious Workspace

We strive to provide a harmonious working environment
sharing equal opportunities among all of our employees. We
have established a formal equal opportunity policy to provide
guidance to our employees on compliance with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480), Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487), and Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 527), etc. so as to build a workplace free
from any harassment and discrimination. Our equal opportunity
policy applies to staff recruitment, training and development,
recognition and reward, and termination and dismissal. We
respect our employees regardless of their age, race, gender,
national origin, religion, physical condition, medical condition,
marital status and/or sexual orientation. Our employees are also
required to take all necessary actions to ensure that colleagues
are not discriminated against. Those employees acting
improperly or breaching contract terms and code of conduct will
be terminated in order to protect the interests of the Group and
other employees. Compensations are provided when applicable.

Work-life Balance of Employee

We strive to encourage work-life balance for our employees
by providing them with a five-day work week, with 7.5 working
hours per day and 5 to 25 days of annual leave according
to their job positions and length of services. Overtime
compensation is offered to employees at 1.5 to 2 times the
staff’'s basic salary. In addition, employees are also entitled to
special leaves to meet their family’s needs, such as marriage
leave, funeral leave, maternity leave, etc.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

AN EEMTENREEREFEARK
MESEE2 BRI NEFATES

AEEERBTEBRBEN BFEAE
R BGDI R P ESEE P RETEREE
TREF RS EE G REERMBERR
B RRA A EMRRARFER

& TAESFr

BABARITE BB TERE SN
EREEZEFENHE M HEEXN
FEREEER RESEL CERIBREH)
(4808 ) ~ CBREAREPI) (F487F) K
(REmMMUZERGN) ($£527F) FRHEE
5l A — BRI A BAEREREMEAR D
THESHA-RMANFEREBREARET
BE B B R - 58RI AR R A S BB I g
Brm -RMEERMNEER M AmKEH
Fie BE R BEE RE FERR B
RO - BB RO RS ER A - B AR 4B B
MABZRRM— BB AERFAE TR
B-ZETRTERRBREVERRITRT
AIMEE SRR ILER AEEREE R E
ffE B R F - A ER B MR AE -

BEMNTHREEYY

BHBNEEREERT(FRLFZYE &
HREREGERATIEARRERIETE)
B RBRBREFNTIEEURRBEFRAEE
REHEE2RMF R EEEEFHMMILHEE
RETIERFEMNIER2ME UM EETE
BEAER REREERFHIRYNLME



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

HEALTH AND SAFETY

We are committed to building a safe and healthy workplace
for our employees. A set of formal safety procedures has
been included in the “Staff Handbook” to give guidance to
employees and improve their responsiveness to emergencies.
Employees must report to the supervisors or department heads
in a timely manner in case of the occurrence of an accident.
The department heads are responsible for ensuring that
appropriate policies, procedures and safeguard measures are
implemented in practice. For any injuries, the department heads
are responsible for providing aid, investigating and reporting the
cases immediately.

Fire extinguishers are placed in the office and several escape
signs are placed on the wall and under the ceiling to guide
people to leave the scene of the accident in case an accident
occurs. For safety considerations, we also install a manual
fire alarm system in the office. Any employee could press the
manual fire alarm button to alert all employees to an emergency
which has occurred. Notice reminding employees to be careful
when getting close to the main switch is posted on the main
switch box. Additionally, CCTVs are installed in the corners of
the office so as to ensure the safety protection of assets and
personal security.

Moreover, the Group recognises the preparedness for
emergencies. There were regular fire drills held in the data
centres for our employees to be familiar with the evacuation
procedures when emergencies occur. A detailed report will be
prepared to review the results of the fire drills so as to help our
employees notice the weaknesses and improve in the next fire
drill.

The Group subscribes to medical insurance for all its employees
against any clinical, dental, hospital and surgery costs. The
labour insurance and housing provident fund are closely
monitored and adjusted according to the headcounts of
employees. The Group also engaged a professional third party
to provide its employees with a regular health check scheme.
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During the last two reporting periods, no work-related fatalities
and lost days due to work injury were recorded by the Group.
For the Reporting Period, there were no work-related fatalities, 1
case of injury and 90 lost days due to work injury. In response to
the incident, we will make extra effort in strengthening education
and enhance employees’ awareness of safety protection. The
Group is committed to providing employees with adequate
sick leave days to compensate for their injuries and to allow
adequate time for recovery.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Empowering employees is one of our priority areas. We highly
encourage their employees to achieve certain professional
qualifications for advancement in various aspects and receive
better recognition. During the Reporting Period, a number of
employees in the Group attained qualifications in the aspects
of information technology, engineering and construction from
a renowned awarding unit recognised by the government. We
also provide a wide range of training to our employees during
the Reporting Period. Not only do we aim at equipping our
employees with the requisite skills and knowledge, but we also
target shaping our employees into future leaders. During the
Reporting Period, the Group provided approximately 172.4
hours (2022: 53.8 hours) of training, which mainly consisted
of induction training for new joiners to the Group. Alongside
the internal training, the Group also provides subsidies to
its employees for their external training and seminars. The
Group will continuously encourage all its employees to pursue
continuous professional development so as to facilitate growth
along their career path in the future.
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Year ended
31 December
Percentage of Trained Employees FIEEBASL 2023
BE=-Z=-=
+=—A=+—8
IHFE
Total @t 79%
By Gender & 1 Bl
Male St 75%
Female W 25%
By Employee Category BEEER
Junior Staff E S =n 63%
Senior Staff SARET 34%
Management &1 3%
Average Training Hours (Hours) TR 8 (/NRE)
Total st 1.6
By Gender =M B
Male B 1.9
Female W 0.7
By Employee Category REBER
Junior Staff I =mn 1.8
Senior Staff mHRET 1.6
Management (=g 0.5

LABOUR STANDARDS

We fully comply with the labour laws and relevant legislation
that prohibit child labour and forced labour. We do not employ
any people under the age of eighteen. Each applicant needs to
present his/her personal identity document to the Group during
the recruitment process so as to prevent the employment of
child labour by the Group. In addition, we strive to ensure that
no employee is forced to work against his/her will or work as
forced labour. No violent measures or actions through deliberate
creation of difficulties, threatening and physical punishment, etc.
shall be taken by anyone to force an employee to work. Through
the whistle-blowing mechanism, employees are able to voice out
the injustice they face. For any reported cases, the Management
will investigate the case immediately, and take further follow-up
actions if necessary. During the Reporting Period, no material
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation
to labour standards was noted.
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To express our vision of becoming a leading operator in the
big data and mobile Wi-Fi services as well as next-generation
internet (“NGI”) integrated services and solutions market,
the Group is dedicated to building a sustainable long-term
relationship with its suppliers. The Group also recognises that
appropriate and rigorous management of its suppliers could
influence its suppliers positively in order to help achieve its
corporate mission.

The Group implements proper management of its supply chain.
In this regard, the approved supplier list has been maintained
and suppliers’ performances are assessed annually. By this
means, the responsible employees of the Group conduct regular
checks on data centres to ensure that the services provided
to our customers are speedy, secure and highly effective. In
this regard, regular checks on data centres also ensure that
the equipment and instruments supplied are well-functioning
with high quality. For those suppliers which failed to meet the
requirements set by the Group, they would be removed from
the approved supplier list. In addition, during the process of
performance of the supplier-selection process, the financial and
operational background (including recognised qualifications
and licenses) of the suppliers, relevant price level, as well as
the terms and conditions of customers’ requirements are all
taken into consideration. The Group continues to implement
appropriate management measures in the supply chain so as
to maintain high-quality services provided to its customers to
achieve the corporate mission.

As at 31 December 2023, there were 6 (2022: 14) approved
suppliers located in the PRC.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to providing convenient, speedy,
secure, available, highly effective and professional internet
access services, channels, content services and interactive
communication services to its customers. To maintain the
high standards of quality and reliability of the services, regular
checks on data centres are conducted. The Group also
attained certain quality certifications for the recognition of
their quality of service, which included but were not limited to
ISO45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety, ISO9001:2025
Quality Management Systems, 1ISO20000-1:2018 Information
Technology - Service Management, and 1SO27001:2022
Information Security, Cybersecurity and Privacy Protection.
Meanwhile, periodic maintenance of the equipment and
instruments of data centres is performed. In addition, the
Customer Service Department provides 24/7 service so as to
handle and respond to customers’ complaints and enquiries
promptly. Various channels have been set up for customers to
express their comments and recommendations.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Additionally, the Group is committed to protecting the personal
information of its customers during the process of delivery of
its services. Newly recruited employees are required to sign the
non-disclosure agreement to ensure the confidentiality of the
Group’s business strategies and customers’ data protection.
Only those authorised personnel are able to access the systems
for obtaining customers’ information. Unauthorised access to
the Group’s information system is strictly prohibited. Confidential
information is also under strict monitoring to prevent any direct
or indirect information leakage to external parties through any
means. Discarded and obsolete equipment of data centres is
stored and monitored by the responsible employees without
improper disposal.

Besides, directors and employees should avoid any conflicts of
interest. Employees are required to make a declaration, through
reporting to management, that they uphold the Group’s value
principle without being influenced by their private interest or
goal, when any actual or potential conflicts of interest arise.

During the Reporting Period, no material non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations related to product responsibility
was noted.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

To ensure an ethical business environment, a set of formal
Codes of Conduct (“CoC”) has been established and is
circulated to all of our employees. Our CoC is in line with the
anti-corruption policy published by the Hong Kong Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”) and the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) in Hong Kong. Our employees
are required to comply strictly with applicable laws, including
but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. All forms
of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited. Employees
should not solicit or accept any advantages for themselves.
Only promotional gifts or souvenirs as well as gifts given on the
occasion of festivals with a maximum limit of HK$500 in value
can be accepted by our employees. However, the relevant
employees should still report the case through a standard
written form to the Group and seek directions on how the
gifts or souvenirs concerned should be handled. Moreover,
we also advocate the awareness of anti-corruption among our
customers and suppliers. Anti-corruption agreements were
signed with our customers and suppliers in order to uphold our
core values. The Group values and welcomes its employees to
report any suspected malpractices through various channels,
i.e. emalils, websites, and in person. The management will take
immediate action to investigate the issue and take follow-up
actions if necessary.

RE HERERRE

AN REBB AR ERHRBEHBREPR
BEEFPHNEAEH HHAENEEAZER
B MERASEXBREOERETER
REZFHNEN REZSERENAET
REERLG EMEREFPNERN BSE

AREERDGHEAARNRENERRLL - AN EE TR
BREERTER WL EMERAEEE
FBBER T ARE TINEEETT - BB F D
MEZEMRERBHEREEFRHRER
WEAERE

N EEREEREREMASEHR-EE
AEBRNERBERELHRHA RPEESF
ERERLBENSTRE B REER
SEMEERA - mAREAMDNE OB

> B 48R
32 X

RBEHRR AARENTZEETETER
BEEMRBEREREROBR

R&S
REREERNBRERE RMACKE &
EXTRTA(TRATADHEZ2EBREES
B-BMNTATANERERERAE (&
BREQE]ZEHORESHEEE LR L
FERR 1R P (6201F) - B B L BB E T E
xR BRERETRNP LB E - E<R
HEREANBEHEERES EETSRES
NEREAEITMNFE -BEENEIR
HEVALTRAMEHARRNESEE
T HEB500/E LRI - AT - IHEEE B DA
HUEAREEMRBREAERAEE Z
KAERMAEESYHAL SmAIETR I
BZFEARBEMANES REREFRERES
EH-RMEEFPAHEBCRERESH
& ARERMANZOEE - AEBEERRE
MRS EBEERE (PIME T HIH)
EHBERBEMAROERTR EEER
VERBITHAEHEBEE U HELBRER
HRETE

Annual Report 2023 —E - = £}

87



88

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RE HERERRSE

During the Reporting Period, as our business nature is unlikely
to be susceptible to corruption, we have not held anti-corruption
training. However, we will organise relevant training when
needed.

During the Reporting Period, no concluded legal cases regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group or its employees
were noted.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

We understand the importance of giving back to the society.
Therefore, we encourage our staff to participate in all kinds of
charitable activities to better connect with the community so
as to consolidate their understanding towards the needs and
concerns of the community.

Going forward, the Group will continue to foster the culture of
active participation in community engagement, encouraging our
staff members to be actively engaged in voluntary services and
join hands together to disseminate the spirit of services in the
community where we all depend.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group relating
to emissions, employment, health and safety, labour standards,
product responsibility and anti-corruption during the Reporting
Period.
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=3

Environmental
RIE
Emissions

23587

Information on:

BB RER FOm

BEEER:

(@ the policies; and

@ BUR: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

(b)) BETFTHETABEAZENEBEERRANNER -

KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.

B B BUIE R A AT IE SR AR R R BUE

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse

gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per

unit of production volume, per facility).

FRERIEEAM 2EE (FE1) RetRHE#E (HE2) )R EREHEMN

E(UNEE) R (ER) BE (NMABES SN BERMETHE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BRETIESEAMIMELESTEEYMESE (UNEE) &k (EA)

BE(WABESEMN BERMTH) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume per facility).

FREMIEEMAFEEREEEYE E(LA WEETE) K (2n@EA)

BE(WABESEN BERETE

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them.

BRE SR EAM ST LM EEE R AERE L
EREVH) 25 B o

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
BRESIEEMENEEEEREEREMN G L REEELES
BIFEME R FT 1B AR o

EREFH - AKERIOEES - AEREEEEY

BT

B HRREA

RE-HERERHRE

HEESI K

Reference in this report
RAEREWRLE
Chapter

=11

Environmental

BIE

Air Emissions

FERBER

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BEREHR

(Not applicable)

(@A)

Waste Management
REYE IR

Air Emissions & Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

BE RBERR BB = REBHE

Waste Management

REY)E 1R
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A2.
A2.

A3.
A3.

Use of Resources

BERER

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.
EREAER (BIEEIR K REAMRME) B EE -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (KWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

RRETUEIRA 1RBER B M EE R SHEER (1E - Rauh)
BREE (UTETERAR) REE (WABESEML  BIERM
g

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREBIEEA2EFKEREE (MAGESEN FHERMET
H)-

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

B AR E A2 3 TR U M RE R A B IE R RET|E L
B 1R P EREREY 2288 o

KPI' A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
B4R 4R IR IR A2 AFE 3l SR EUE A KR _E AT BRI R RE - A RIR A A
IR ER B HE B S PG BCR ©

KPI KA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
FRETIEEKA 58K mATAREMBNESE (UNEETE) & (1
HR)BEESMMEE-

The Environment and Natural Resources

RIERAARER

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.
BEBTAHRBERRABRENERZENBE -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to manage
them.
BRERIEEA A EB EHHRERANERNERTER
ERREEFAZENTH-
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A4.
A4.

B1.
B1.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Climate Change
RIRE L

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

MR T AHRERRAERERERZENBER

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
BARETIEEA AN B E R AT e G HBITAEER
REAEE REENEEREUEENTH -

CERNBEAR

Social

HE

Employment

EE

Information on:

BT R E B

FREE 4R LA B H At 455 38 2 48 F) A9 -

(@  the policies; and

@ Bx: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

b)) BTEHETABERZENRBERNAROINER-

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,

full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
BRERIEEBI R R - EEEE (2 BEGRE) FRERI R
wEE o EEAR-

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BASR B RIEIE B 212 1L Bl - FHc Al Rl Kt = &l 5

MEEMAE-

B TR B BE FERE 2l

RE-HERERHRE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE HERERRSE

B2.
B2.

B3.
B3.

Health and Safety
BREHEZE
Information on:
BERARHZE2TIFRBERREESREBELEEN:
(@) the policies; and
(@ Xk
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
b) BIFHETABEARENHRBZERZERIINER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each
of the past three years including the Reporting Period.
BRERIEEB2IBE=F (BRBEH) BFAITHHAZEK
bE o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
R EMIEEB22E TIBEATIEA S -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted how they are implemented and monitored.
BABEAE WU IR B2 3 Il PR ER AV B BB R I BR B e 2 48 Bt - DA S AB A
TRERTE.

Development and training

BRRE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work.
BERRAEEBITIERENMB LR ENBE -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management,
etc.).
BRERIEEBI RN RESEREMN (NaREEERTREEE
F)ElrEIEEA DL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.
BRERIEEBI RN FIREE RS S BREETKZINF
T -
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B4.
B4.

BS5.
BS5.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Labour standards

L IR

Information on:

BRI ETREHSTH:

(@) the policies; and

@@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

b) BITHBTABEAZENHEBZERNBAONER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

RS AERUE R B4 H iR S A B O M e AR R E T KRS T

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

B B2 48 WU 1R B4 2 1l 7E 35 3R 8 AR B S B BR A8 R 1B 0 P ERER Y
o

Supply chain management

HEEERE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

ERHEENRERESRERBE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

RARE SR EBS IR EE D HEREE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

BSEAE AR R B2 A R AR e e B 0] mE T A BB NI
BWHEREE A RBRRITRER A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

B 52 48 IR 1R B5.3H it A B 5k | 4 FE B R IR B A 3R 3R Rt & R
REB R A RAEREBMIT RER T K-

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

B 37 48 R HE 1% BS. At M 7E R 5E L FE R (2 (52 2% A IR AR B om AR 7S
BRI LA RABRABIT REE R 5%

RE-HERERHRE
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B6. Product responsibility
B6. EmEE

Information on:
BHFMRHERMBREHEERZY BE RERIMBFEEUR
AR

(@)  the policies; and

(@ BUR: &

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.

b) BEBFHBTABEATENHBEEELRAMNNE-

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons.

FREMIEEBIEE XD BEXEMAETRL 2 EERIERM

HEWME DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints

received and how they are dealt with.

R AERIEEBo 2 BN E m MRS VIR B AR EE 5% -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.

RS2 4E R 1R Bo. Ot it B 4 i N AR[B AR E R 1B A

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.

BRENIEEBe A E SR T RERE REIWIEF -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

RS WU EBo. .o U E B E B EHRIE R ALBBUR - LA RABE@HIT

REERTT L
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B7.
B7.

B8.
B8.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Anti-corruption

REF

Information on:

BN LR $R - HEF RO RER

(@) the policies; and

@@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

b) BFHBETABEATZENHEBEEZELRAMNNER-

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees during the

reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

BRERIEEBT AN REHANHBETANEEERETEFEN

BT RRGNEE RFRER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures, how they are

implemented and monitored.

RSB WU R BT 2R By S i - LA AR AIT REE R A

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors

and staff.

BRERIEEBTIMMMEE RE T RHENRESE -

Community investment

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where we operate and to ensure that our activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
BRALHEBE2ERTHREEMELREZNERREMNERES
GERMENREBUR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
BREBIEEBAEIERER (NHE REFHE SIFR &
B-X{t -85F) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

BRENIEEB2EF IR BMHMER (WEEHKH)

RE HERERRE

Chapter
=11}
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 3L 4% BED R &

SLIR G 3 ERAT A MR 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

To the shareholders of Neo Telemedia Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 107
to 244, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO
GOING CONCERN

As set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$2,053 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$1,360 million, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to only HK$27 million, and the Group was in
net liabilities position of approximately HK$1,325 million.
These conditions, along with other matters set out in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

78 3L 1% BB &
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18 3L 4% BED R &

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO
GOING CONCERN (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends on the outcome of the measures taken by the
directors of the Company, as described in note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements, which cannot be
determined with reasonable certainty and are subject to
material uncertainties, including whether () the cash flow
projections can be achieved such that the Group would
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
within the next twelve months; (i) both the bank and other
lenders will agree to refinance their loans to the Group
when they fall due and will not exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment for the bank loans
and the other loans which are repayable for more than one
year with a repayment on demand clause; (i) the unutilised
banking facilities will be made available to the Group
when needed to be drawn down to allow the Group to
continue to meet its financial obligations; and (iv) financial
support from a substantial shareholder will be provided to
the Group. We were provided with the analyses made by
the management in respect of the Group’s going concern
assessment. However, such analyses are not sufficiently
detailed for us to assess the Group’s plans and measures
for future actions in the going concern assessment which
takes into account the uncertainty of outcome of these
plans and measures and how variability in outcome would
affect the future cash flows of the Group. Accordingly,
we have not been provided with sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of
the management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report
%8 3L 1% BLED

TERERBOEE (@)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO
GOING CONCERN (Continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned
plans and measures, the Group might not be able to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due and to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying amount
of the Group’s assets to their immediate recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

INSUFFICIENT AUDIT EVIDENCE IN
RESPECT OF OPENING BALANCES

(a) Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and goodwill

The Group recognised impairment loss of goodwiill
of approximately HK$51 milion and HK$36 million
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
respectively, impairment loss of intangible assets of
approximately HK$29 million and Nil for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively,
impairment loss of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$1,001 million and Nil for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively
and impairment loss of right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$812 million and Nil for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively.
These impairment losses were recognised to write
down the carrying amounts of the assets belonging
to the cash generating units (“CGUs”) in the
provision of data centres operating segment of the
Group to their recoverable amounts.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

2. INSUFFICIENT AUDIT EVIDENCE IN
RESPECT OF OPENING BALANCES
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and goodwill
(Continued)

For the purposes of the impairment assessments as
at 31 December 2023 to determine the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs and of the property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and goodwill belonging to these CGUs, the
directors of the Company assessed their recoverable
amounts with reference to valuations performed by
external valuer. These valuations required exercise
by management of significant judgment on various
assumptions to be adopted in the valuations,
including the discount rate and underlying cash flows
projections of the relevant cash generating units of
the Group taking into account expectations of future
revenue growth and capital expenditure.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

2. INSUFFICIENT AUDIT EVIDENCE IN
RESPECT OF OPENING BALANCES
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and goodwill
(Continued)

We have not been provided with sufficient evidence
to support the assumptions adopted in the aforesaid
impairment assessments as at 31 December
2022. Consequently, we were unable to assess
the reasonableness of the assumptions used in
the determination of the recoverable amounts of
the related CGUs and of the property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
and goodwill belonging to these CGUs. In the
absence of sufficient supporting evidence relating to
the recoverable amounts of these assets as at 31
December 2022, we have not been able to satisfy
ourselves that the impairment loss of goodwill,
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets recognised by the Group in
its consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the carrying amounts of these
assets recognised by the Group in its consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022 were not materially misstated. Consequently
we were also unable to satisfy ourselves that the
impairment losses of these assets recognised by
the Group in its consolidated profit or loss for the
year ended 31 December 2023 were not materially
misstated.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect
of these matters would have a consequential impact
on the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2022
and its financial performance for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 and the related elements
and related notes disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

2. INSUFFICIENT AUDIT EVIDENCE IN
RESPECT OF OPENING BALANCES
(Continued)

(b)

Impairment of prepayment for
property, plant and equipment; and
impairment of accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

We have not been provided with sufficient evidence
to support the assumptions adopted in the
impairment assessment of the carrying amount of
prepayment for property, plant and equipment as at
31 December 2022. Consequently, we were unable
to assess the reasonableness of the assumptions
used in the determination of the recoverable amount
of prepayment for property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2022. In the absence of sufficient
supporting evidence relating to the recoverable
amount of the prepayment for property, plant and
equipment as at 31 December 2022, we have not
been able to satisfy ourselves that no impairment
loss of prepayment for property, plant and equipment
was required to be recognised by the Group in
its consolidated profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2022 and the carrying amount of
the prepayment for property, plant and equipment
recognised by the Group in its consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022 was not materially misstated. Consequently,
we were also unable to determine the effect of this
matter on consolidated profit or loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Besides, the Group recognised impairment
loss under the expected credit loss model of
approximately HK$108 million and HK$17 million
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
respectively.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

2. INSUFFICIENT AUDIT EVIDENCE IN
RESPECT OF OPENING BALANCES
(Continued)

(b)

Impairment of prepayment for
property, plant and equipment; and
impairment of accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (Continued)

We have not been provided with sufficient
evidence to support the impairment assessment
of the carrying amounts of accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables as at
31 December 2022. Consequently, we were unable
to assess the reasonableness of the assumptions
which were used in the determination of the
impairment loss allowances for accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables as
at 31 December 2022. In the absence of sufficient
supporting evidence relating to the carrying
amounts of accounts receivable, prepayments,
deposits and other receivables as at 31 December
2022, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves
that the impairment loss of accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
recognised by the Group in its consolidated profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the carrying amounts of these assets recognized by
the Group in its consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022 were not materially
misstated. Consequently, we were also unable to
satisfy ourselves that the impairment losses of these
assets recognised by the Group in its consolidated
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
were not materially misstated.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 3L 4% BED R &

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

(Continued)

2. INSUFFICIENT AUDIT EVIDENCE IN
RESPECT OF OPENING BALANCES
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of prepayment for
property, plant and equipment; and
impairment of accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (Continued)

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect
of these matters would have a consequential impact
on the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2022
and its financial performance for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 and the related elements
and related notes disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 23
March 2028.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
(“‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. This report is made solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. However, because of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 3L 4% BED R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (‘the
Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung Kwong Kin
Practising Certificate Number: P03702

Hong Kong, 23 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERmkEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #tZ7F —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

2023 2022
—_E2-= —E- =
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Revenue I 25 7 479,453 532,358
Cost of sales 55 P AR (499,298) (472,289)
Gross (loss)/profit £ (B) A (19,845) 60,069
Other income and gains E U A R e 8 8,704 72,847
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR W 34 5,232 219,660
Selling and marketing costs $HE RS HEEK A (17,283) (29,378)
Administrative and other expenses TERRERHEMER (108,119) (131,983)
Net change in impairment loss EHEEEBEEATZ
allowances under expected credit B BB 2 T
loss model b5 (107,663) (16,915)
Impairment loss of goodwill R EEE 19 (50,859) (36,246)
Impairment loss of intangible assets EREERBEEE 20 (28,830) -
Impairment of property, plant and W BERERERE
equipment 17 (1,001,035) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets ERAEEERE 18 (812,317) -
Finance costs & B A 10 (143,934) (112,380)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B51B) m A 12 (2,275,949) 25,674
Income tax Fris i 11 222,694 (176,782)
Loss for the year FABE (2,053,255) (151,108)
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEERES
(expenses) for the year, net of tax (FAx) ($0kR%i1E)
Items that may be reclassified HEABEEF D E B
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIHEEA -
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations &+ Z=% (172) 61,153)
Reclassification of cumulative FAHEBINETSIE
translation reserve upon disposal ZFtEN EEEN
of foreign operations during the year ARl 1,074 (514)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) F A H it 2 E Wz~
for the year, net of tax (AX) (IN%BHE) 902 (61,667)
Total comprehensive expense FRAZEMBHAE
for the year (2,052,353) (212,775)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERmkEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g7 =& = =4#+—=H=+—HI F/F

108

2023 2022
—EC-=HF g
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTET FHET
(Restated)
(re&E5))
(Loss)/profit for the year ULTATEEFER
attributable to: (E518) aF:
Owners of the Company RABHEEB A (1,966,236) (201,699)
Non-controlling interests PR (87,019) 50,591
(2,053,255) (151,108)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ LTATEMAEZE
income attributable to: (BAX) hz=saeE:
Owners of the Company VN/NEIE ZEDN (1,963,086) (252,752)
Non-controlling interests eI = (89,267) 39,977
(2,052,353) (212,775)
HK Cents HK Cents
AL &L
(Restated)
(geE5))
Basic loss per share BEREAEE 13 (20.65) 2.12)

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wrE MBI R

As at 31 December 2023 R—-FE—-—=#+—-H=+—H

As at 31 December As at
R+=-—A=+-—H 1 January
2022
2023 2022 KT
—EC=EE —ET-—fF —A—H
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHERT FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E75)) (&&E7))
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB R RS 17 715,569 1,765,779 3,030,457
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 18 259,428 1,157,302 773,920
Goodwill GES 19 - 50,859 116,047
Intangible assets mEE 20 15,138 62,375 81,803
Prepayment for property, plant Y- -HEEREREZ
and equipment TERT IR 24 19,496 76,849 14,510
Deferred tax assets BEETIEE E 30 - 4,738 3,202
1,009,631 3,117,902 4,019,939
Current Assets RBEE
Inventories BE 22 - 330 2,276
Accounts receivable JE Y BR 3K 23 178,057 146,929 142,660
Prepayments, deposits and FENRIE e R
other receivables H b e W SR8 24 394,339 552,765 244,722
Cash and cash equivalents RERBASEED 25 27,245 17,607 20,198
599,641 717,631 409,856
Assets held for sale FIELEEE 36 3,164 5,574 5,994
602,805 723,205 415,850
Current Liabilities REEE
Accounts payable FEA BR 3R 26 226,682 129,439 147,271
Other payables and accruals H M FE A SR8 R FE T
SKIB 27 614,932 377,437 383,818
Contract liabilities BHEE 27 5,288 20,669 59,673
Lease liabilities HEEE 28 256,992 317,463 43,135
Borrowings BN 29 808,150 927,706 1,841,800
Tax liabilities HIEAE 51,007 52,149 51,616
1,963,051 1,824,863 2,527,313
Net Current Liabilities REEEFE (1,360,246) (1,101,658) (2,111,463)
Total Assets less HWEERRBEE
Current Liabilities (350,615) 2,016,244 1,908,476
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R E MBI R

As at 31 December 2023 WR—-FE—-—=#4+—=-HF=+—H

As at 31 December As at
R+=-—A=+-—H 1 January
2022
2023 2022 KT
—EBE-=FE —TZ-—F —A—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
k=2 FHERT FHET FH T
(Restated) (Restated)
(reE5) (reE%))
Non-current Liabilities FRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEEE 30 63,783 295,379 181,546
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 907,680 990,498 824,402
Other payables H fth f& < 5108 27 3,159 3,251 8,778
974,622 1,289,128 1,014,726
Net (Liabilities)/Assets (BE) 'EEZE (1,325,237) 727,116 893,750
Capital and Reserves EXR#E
Share capital [N 31 952,218 952,218 952,218
Reserves & (2,306,539) (343,453) (90,701)
(Deficit)/Equity attributable to PAN/NSIE N X )
owners of the Company (B4t e (1,354,321) 608,765 861,517
Non-controlling interests PR 29,084 118,351 32,233
Total (Deficit)/Equity (E5AL) EwmiBEE (1,325,237) 727,116 893,750

The consolidated financial statements were approved and #4GAHBKBER ST _RAFA-_+=HE
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 June 2025 HEHe# EREFETZE THTIIEER K

and signed on its behalf by: #=E:
LIE Haiquan Xl Lina
Sl fE X
Director Director
EE s
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

.-‘/Tn%ﬁn&@]%

S =gt A AR

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATREARL
Share Non-
capital Share  Translation  Statutory ~ Accumulated controlling
(Note 31) premium reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
B&
(MzF31)  ROEE  AERE  iERE RitER Nt FRRER @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEr ThET T FiEn T FiEx T ThET
(Note)
GE3)
At 1 January 2022 (as originally stated) R-ZE-—%#-f-H
( MBS FA5I) 950218 1,759,494 25,421 1893 (1735471 1003555 54733 1058288
Effect of amendments to HKAS 12 (note 2) BRI ERSE12HETZ
@/’i‘ (Hz2) - - (2216) - (139.822)  (142,038) (225000 (164,539
At 1 January 2022 (restated) R-Z--#-fA-B
(&E5)) 952218 1,759,494 23,205 1,893 (1875208 861517 32233 893,750
(Loss)/profit for the year (restated) (B1) /%5 (SEF) - - - - (201,699  (201,699) 50591 (151,108)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income E2E (RR) ki
Exchange difference arising on translation BEBNEBEEL
of foreign operafions EXEE - - 50539 - - (50539 (10614 (61,153
Reclassification of cumulative translation FRLERNEBRIBREH
reserve upon disposal of foreign EfREENSE
operations during the year (note 34) (BitzEa4) - - (514) - - (514) - (514)
Total comprehensive (expense)fincome 2E(BR) haeE
for the year - - 108y - Q01,699 (252752 30977 (12775
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE—MMBLR (Ki34) - - - - - - 46,141 46,141
At 31 December 2022 (restated) R-Z-—&+-fA=1-B
(&E5) 952218 1,759,494 (27,848) 1,893 (2076992 608,765 118,351 727,116
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=5-R-H 952,218 1,759,494 (27,848) 1,893 (2,076,992 608,765 118,351 727,116
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (1,966,236)  (1,966,236) (87,019)  (2,053,258)
Other comprehensive income/(expense): Ehe@Ebks/ (FX):
Exchange difference arising on tranglation ~ RAEBIERESZ
of foreign operations ERESE - - 2,076 - - 2,076 (2,248) (172)
Reclassification of cumulative translation 3 P\l LEBNEHRIE R
reserve upon disposal of foreign EARGENNE
operations during the year (note 34) kﬁ‘ﬁ #34) - - 1,074 - - 1,074 - 1,074
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FR2ERE/ (X)) 48
for the year - - 3150 S 1966236 (1963088 (89267  (2062:353)
At 31 December 2023 SEosE+CBTH-R 0 950218 1750494 (24,699) 1893 (4043208 (1354321 29,084  (1325.237)
Note: Bt 5

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s Republic

of China (“PRC”), subsidiaries of the Company established in the A2

PRC are required to transfer 10% of their net profit, as determined in

N SEREC D RvAP A=

10% (IR EETHE

BIEPEARLAME ([HE])EREED FOER -
RIEEBEHMANZ
u‘l'/&H'J&/f;EFﬁFZ}TE)i/f

accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of dividends to owners of these subsidiaries.
Statutory surplus reserve can be used to set off previous years’ losses,
if any, and may be converted into capital in proportion to existing
equity owners’ equity percentage, provided that the balance after such
issuance is not less than 25% of their registered capital.

ERBRFHE BERRBZERERES EZ?HH

BAR250% - BREZFHELARAZFHER
ZHA AR IR S AER X ER ﬁ%f’é%—fﬁﬁﬂfﬁ

HBREFE2ER(WE) TARREERER
AR B D LER DR B RETR 2&H
PSEREZMERZ225% °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g7 =& = =4#+—=H=+—HI F/F

2023 2022
B = —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FHET
(Restated)
(g&E7))
Operating activities REEK
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (BB) R (2,275,949) 25,674
Adjustments for: FHEIER -
Finance cost A& BN 143,934 112,380
Interest income B WA (165) (551)
Depreciation of property, plant and W BMERZEBETE
equipment 44,721 56,659
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHESENE 79,268 66,648
Amortization of intangible assets B B 18,407 19,428
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMNBA Rz W (5,232) (219,660)
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME HWEREEZ
and equipment & (817) (1,894)
Gain from sale and leaseback transaction ERMEERFHEE 2 KE - (62,018)
Impairment loss of goodwill e EEE 50,859 36,246
Net change in impairment loss allowance TEHEEEERA T 2RE
under expected credit loss model B 18 2 R R 107,663 16,915
Impairment loss of intangible assets EmEEEREEFE 28,830 -
Impairment loss of property, plant Y- HEREERE
and equipment &5 18 1,001,035 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets FTAEEERE 812,317 -
Operating cash flows before movements ZEEEL#HEAI 2 EE R
in working capital ehE 4,871 49,827
Increase in accounts receivable JiE MK B R 3E 0 (41,771) (23,157)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TERTFRIE ~ Hee R E b FE UL
deposits and other receivables IR A (35 0) 61,406 (618)
Decrease in inventories FERL 330 1,816
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FEfTBRFRIE I, CRL ) 97,243 (6,443)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables ot AN RIE R B AT R IEE N,
and accruals =2 240,461 (58,305)
Decrease in contract liabilities BB ERD (15,381) (27,795)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations K& EKFELE (FiA)BEE 347,159 (64,675)
Income tax received/(paid) B () FBH 2,049 (14,071)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEBFRELE (FTA)BEE
operating activities FE 349,208 (78,746)
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Consolidated Stotement of Cash Flows
.-vT [ | EE%U".E%{

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #t2 —F = =4+4+=F=+—HIF FEF

2023 2022
—E== —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
(Restated)
(L&)
Investing activities RETEH
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR (L
(net of cash and cash equivalent disposed) FrHER S MBS ZEY) 15,304 330,970
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEBE W% ME MR (108) (191,158)
Cash received/(paid) for prepayment for Bt % ¥ B NN
property, plant and equipment FEEW () Zz2RE 11,730 (65,468)
Sale proceeds arising from sale EREAERIEENHEENS
and leaseback transaction FRIA - 802,734
Sale proceeds arising from the disposal of ~ HEWE  BE MR EE LW
property, plant and equipment $HE TS 5RIR 22,401 49
Interest received BEF B 165 551
Net cash generated from RETBHFELERSEE
investing activities 49,494 877,678
Financing activities m & E B
Borrowings raised EE7ER 93,134 23,268
Repayment of borrowings EEEX (189,173) (588,255)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAaE (118,086) (94,845)
Interest paid EFE (171,763) (140,185)
Net cash used in financing activities METBMAZRSTE (385,888) (800,017)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeERBRESSEYE M
cash equivalents OR2) 8 12,814 (1,085)
Cash and cash equivalents FHNEERESEEY
at the beginning of the year 17,607 20,198
Effect of changes in foreign exchanges rate %[ [ & & B 57 2 (3,176) (1,506)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRASREASEEY
of the year 27,245 17,607
Analysis of balances of cash and FRESRESESEYES
cash equivalents at the end of the year il
Bank balances and cash IRITER AR E 27,245 17,607
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office of the Company and
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section
to this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). Other than those subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
whose functional currency are Renminbi (“RMB”), the
functional currency of the Company and its remaining
subsidiaries are HK$. The reason for selecting HK$ as
its presentation currency is that the Company is a public
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, where
most of the investors are located in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Dr. Lie
Haiquan, the chairman and executive director of the
Company, is considered to be the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

oA MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE
FOR THE CURRENT YEAR

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts
(including the October
2020 and February 2022
amendments to HKFRS

17)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting
estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting

estimates

Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement
2, Making materiality
Judgements: Disclosure
of accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 1,

Amendments to HKAS 12,  Income taxes. Deferred
tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from

a single transaction

Income taxes. International
Tax reform — Pillar Two
model rules

Amendments to HKAS 12,

2. AN EEMHEREE

BIG A ([ BB
SRR ) RHEETA

RAFERFEROHETE R
PR EE R R EBFT A

RAFEE AEBECERERTIAE
AEMAg ((BEREFALE])R
2] B BREENRE B
WEERZERIAR ZFMTEL R
AIARRRGEEMBHRAME R AEE
TR =F - A BRZEFRNEE
H ] o 1 AE 2

BRMBRELNN RS (AFE=F

FE17H —EFFAR=
E-—F A
BB IR
AE1758 2 (55T
x)
EAEFTER BEME - A G
FOM BRI AR HERIEE 2
15T B9 E £
BAEFER 0 % =R I
FIRIBEI A BEYFHREE
R B 753 & %2

5 fEHEA MY
BT : BB EA

EE?

B esr &R BrigH : B8 —33 5
F1255 2 EEXHEERE
1ERTZAN 1B 165 7 B AL 7

IH

BB g ER B2 # - BIBRF 4 2%
F1295 2 B _Uk
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE
FOR THE CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs listed above in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
position and performance for the current and prior years
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the
HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure
the material accounting policy information disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12, /Income
taxes: Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply
to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting
temporary differences on initial recognition such as
leases and decommissioning liabilities. For leases and
decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax
assets and liabilities are required to be recognised from
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented,
with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment
to retained earnings or other components of equity at
that date. For all other transactions, the amendments
are applied to those transactions that occur after the
beginning of the earliest period presented.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE
FOR THE CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income
taxes: Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a single
transaction (Continued)

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply the
initial recognition exemption to lease transactions and had
recognised the related deferred tax, except that the Group
previously determined the temporary difference arising
from a right-of-use asset and the related lease liability on a
net basis on the basis they arise from a single transaction.
Following the amendments, the Group has determined the
temporary differences in relation to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g7 =& = =4#+—=H=+—HI F/F

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE

&4 ¥ H

FOR THE CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Change in accounting policies

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs
on the consolidated financial statements

The following table summarises the impacts of the
changes in accounting policies as a result of application
of the amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to
assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction on
the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and loss per share for the

year ended 31 December 2022:

& 5

AT

SEEE
FENGERELREMEEKERAR

BREBEENTE:

%

=z

2. AN EEMHEREE
Algst 28 ([FR MR

1) R EAZET AN ()

RAEAFEERFNEXNWHITE B
R BRELEL KRBT A (®)

JE R & BRI 5 & 2B RIS 5T A 47
RHB#HEN T E
TEREEARAEE S ERFE 1257 2
EAIARE-RZELNEENRBER
PR RSN ST BRE A K

—E--E+-RA=+—81

Effect of
As previously amendments
reported to HKAS 12 As restated
BEETEA
E125f 2
KRE2WR BITEAHE RE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER THERT THER
Consolidated statement BE-ZE-—_f+=A
of profit or loss and other =+—HLEFEEW
comprehensive income HeBEEkHEM
for the year ended TEHWKERK:
31 December 2022:
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — M B 2Q 7S 199,986 19,674 219,660
Profit before tax B 50 AT A 6,000 19,674 25,674
Income tax FriSHi (11,573) (165,209) (176,782)
(Loss)/profit for the year ATALTEEEARA
attributable to: (E18) s F:
— Owners of the Company VNG ¥ =N (55,657) (146,042) (201,699)
— Non-controlling interests —JEERE S 50,084 507 50,591
Loss per share (HK Cents) HFREE OBL)
— Basic and diluted —EARARES (0.58) (1.54) (2.12)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AT AT EBIEEARNLE
income for the year attributable ~ (BisZ) /U2
to: EE
— Owners of the Company A VNEIEZFE DN (121,656) (131,096) (252,752)
— Non-controlling interests —FEIE R = 37,714 2,263 39,977
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE
FOR THE CURRENT YEAR (Continued)

Change in accounting policies (Continued)

Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs
on the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The following table summarises the impacts of the change
in accounting policies as a result of application of the
amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from a single transaction on the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022 and 1 January 2022:

2. BRI BEMBERELE

Bl 28 (BB M KR
HER ) MEEFTA @)

RAFERFEROHETE R
Bt %5 3 5 22 B BB FT AN ()

[ EE 5/7%%“/)?5&’?5//55745‘?%%
BHBHRENZE (B

ﬁ%%%%%ﬁﬁ%%mﬁZ@ﬂm
BB —X G EFEER B EHB
AHEEYNG B RESHEREERN
e e R = ) =
F—A—HBHNGFEEAUBRRAROTEN
T

Effect of
As previously amendments to
reported HKAS 12 As restated
BT £R
F128E 2
ERIZH BIFANEE KB
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHAT FAET FiBT
Consolidated statement of R-ZEBE-Z-F+=8
financial position as at =+-—-BH&E
31 December 2022: B#MRRE:
Deferred tax assets EERIEE E 6,053 (1,315) 4,738
Total non-current assets FMEBEELRTE 3,119,217 (1,315) 3,117,902
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIBEAE (15,594) (279,785) (295,379)
Total non-current liabilities FnBBaEBeE (1,009,343) (279,785) (1,289,128)
Net assets BEFE 1,008,216 (281,100) 727,116
Reserves fFE (70,319) (273,134) (343,453)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR S 126,317 (7,966) 118,351
Total equity Mk 1,008,216 (281,100) 727,116
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERMFIBENBHREE
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS Algst 2R (BB MBR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS FEA ) REBET AN (@)
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs RAEFEEBRFNERNOFHETE R
THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE MBEREERREBETAR (@)
FOR THE CURRENT YEAR (Continued)
Change in accounting policies (Continued) EHKREE (@)
Impacts of application of amendments to HKFRSs JE & B 53 &ERINE T K 47
on the consolidated financial statements (Continued) B BHRENZE (E)
Effect of
As previously amendments to
reported HKAS 12 As restated
EEGEA
F128E 2
ERZ2® BIIANTE K&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTHET FHT
Consolidated statement of R-ZE-_-—%—HF—H
financial position as at WEE BT E:
1 January 2022:
Deferred tax assets EEFRIEE E 6,645 (3,443) 3,202
Total non-current assets EMEEEBTE 4,023,382 (3,443) 4,019,939
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE (20,451) (161,095) (181,546)
Total non-current liabilities BB EBEE (853,631) (161,095) (1,014,726)
Net assets BEESFE 1,058,288 (164,538) 893,750
Reserves {1 51,337 (142,038) (90,701)
Non-controlling interests FEIE i 54,733 (22,500) 32,233
Total equity KBIERS 1,058,288 (164,538) 893,750
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective for the current accounting period. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these new and amendments to HKFRSs but
is not yet in a position to state whether these new and
amendments to HKFRSs would have a significant impact
on its results of operations and financial position:

2.

oA MR R M A

eI BB REE
Bl 28 (BB M KR
HER ) MEEFTA @)

EEMEHRERZEBIME
|EEAMERT A

AREBEW ERFEANTRASHIHE
ERMERKRERZHFTREMBRS
EH R EERI AN - AEHE D FH A%
FEHABAMBHREER REBIT AN
FE BRAWTREETEZENIEL
FMBREENREETARTEHHL
BRELMBINERERTE

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT B
RNZEHEBZ
SERTHBEXR

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current
BAGHENBE 1R SRR HHHEZHZ5) -
HEESERTE K IETE

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:

Non-current liabilities with covenants
BB ENE1R SRR HHHEXHNZES) -
WERZEIETEE &

1 January 2024

& —HF—H

1 January 2024

—E-mF—H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between

an investor and its associate or joint venture
BBV BMEERF10R REB ST LR F285 2 18] A

To be determined

REZHRBENFIXEEPE 2 EELELKA E
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024
BRMBWMERNFEIR BRI N HE ERMHEIXZHAHERE —EMNE—HA—H
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e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERHMEIBEHNBHRELE
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS Alg st R (BB BHR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS HER ) REAZF] AN (@)
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT CHEAENRERZEENK
NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued) & ERMERT & (@)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

ALLT B E
RZEHARZ
SFTHBEXR
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7,

Financial Instruments: Disclosures. Supplier finance arrangements 1 January 2024
BAGHERBTR BN HenEXREENEHEERETHR -

TR TR KE REFHMELH —E_WHFE—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates:

Lack of exchangeability transaction 1 January 2025
BEBGENF2R BRI R EFEHr & - 5 Al L% ZZE-HRF—A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments 1 January 2026
EEMBREEREORREBMGRELEET R 2 IEFTR

T ARG EZ EEFTE —EZRF—HA—H
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards, Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
B BERE NGB 2 ETA

BB & ER & R F R —F 115 —ET-R¥—H—H
HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
BERMBREERNE18W A BHHEZ Z5RFE —E-+F—HA—H
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement
of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are
also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the process
of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.

eI BB REE
Bl 28 (BB M KR
HER ) MEEFTA @)

CEMGEMARER 2T BIS
WEEAMEET A (@)

EEMBHRESENE18% 4
BiFkZ 2R E

BB RS ERFE18K [ BHRERZ
2IRFERIHINEARBRERZZT
REBEMENR $RRRTEEGHE
AIE1R T B|R 225 Wb H 3T &
B BREENGTENTEET B G
EREVRZHEEBL 5| ARBEERA
SR E R R M SRE A R R
P R R B R TR JE E R AR U IR R U
MBREABBEENNA G RN B
ERo o BB G ERE 1R BN 5
XOEBERBGTERFESR G5
BER bt EBLEHE I REEY
B & ER BT - KRBT NEEE
S EAFETR [(REREXRI RELEE
PRSI [F A A M ] F B EE
&l e

FRM B REERFE185% M EMERE
AR —E L F—A—HHZ&HF
YR E R B AR R SR AR o 3
ERAMEABEF BT EBRRRNEI R
R MR AW EE - AL B EE TG
BEMBREERNF1SFUAEEFE
MBRROFATE -

Annual Report 2023 —E - = £}

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which
collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
HKASs and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Lease, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /Impairment of
Assets.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023  E; %

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$2,053,255,000 (2022 (restated): HK$151,108,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$1,360,246,000 (2022:
HK$1,101,658,000), while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to only HK$27,245,000, and the Group was in
net liabilities position of approximately HK$1,325,237,000.
These conditions, along with other matters, indicate
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

3.

BE—_F-_=—Ff-A=1—HIFFEF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is able to
maintain itself as a going concern in the next twelve
months by taking into consideration that:

M

(i)

the cash flow projections can be achieved such
that the Group would have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the next
twelve months from the end of the reporting period;

bank loans with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$280,381,000 as at 31 December
2023 are repayable more than one year after the end
of the reporting period pursuant to the repayment
schedule included in the loan agreements, but have
repayment on demand clause. Such bank loans
have been classified as current liability as at 31
December 2023 in accordance with Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause (“HK-Int
5”). Taking into account the Group’s financial position
and the security provided to the banks, the Directors
believe that the banks will agree to refinance their
loans to the Group when they fall due and will
not exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that
these bank loans will be repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements;

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023  E; %

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

)

(iv)

other loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$126,366,000 as at 31 December 2023 that are
repayable more than one year after the end of the
reporting period pursuant to the repayment schedule
included in the loan agreements, with a repayment
on demand clause, have been classified as current
liability as at 31 December 2023 in accordance with
HK-Int 5. Taking into account the Group’s financial
position and the security provided to the lenders,
the Directors believe that the lenders will agree to
refinance their loans to the Group when they fall
due and will not exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that these other loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements;

as at 31 December 2023, there were unutilised
banking facilities of approximately HK$1,040,376,000
which are expiring between 2024 and 2028 and will
be made available to the Group when needed to be
drawn to allow the Group to continue to meet its
financial obligations; and

Dr. Lie Haiquan, the substantial shareholder of the
Company, has committed to provide continuous
financial support to the Group to enable the Group
to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due in the next nineteen months from the date of
approval of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

In addition to the above, management of the Group plans
to negotiate with the existing lenders of the bank loans
and other loans in relation to the potential refinancing of
these borrowings to allow the Group to continue to meet
its financial obligations.

3. EXZFTH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 ;%

3.

St A=t HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

If the refinancing from the existing lenders of the
bank loans and other loans, financial support from
the Company’s substantial shareholder and banking
facilities from certain financial institutions were not to be
available, the Group would be unable to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due. Adjustments would
have to be made to reduce the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for financial liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively, if applicable. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS OR ASSET
ACQUISITIONS

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed, with limited exceptions, are
recognised at their fair value.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

GOODWILL (continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is a company in which the Company directly
or indirectly controls more than half of the voting power,
or controls the composition of the board of directors.
Investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Company’s
financial statements at cost less impairment loss.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Revenue from trading of telecommunication products is
recognised at the point in time when goods are delivered
to customers generally on the time the related risks and
rewards of ownership has transferred.

Revenue from provision of data centre services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from provision of system integration services
is recognised overtime based on the progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
measured with output method, which is to recognize
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss and represents equal instalments over the periods
covered by the lease terms, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefit to be
derived from the use of leased asset.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method at the following rate
per annum:

Over the unexpired lease
terms of land on which
the building is erected

Buildings

Over the term of the lease
20%-33.3%

20%

Motor vehicles 20%
5%-33.3%

Leasehold improvements
Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Data centre and equipment*®

* Data centre and equipment represented server
cabinet complex (equipped with information
technology equipment for operating data centre) and
other related facilities.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and borrowing costs capitalized for qualifying
assets in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land
and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and the
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

LEASING
The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-
of-use assets and the related accumulated deprecation
and impairment loss are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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3.

St A=t HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review, in
which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modlifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
less any lease incentives receivables based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted
for as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities
are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with
a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
Contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

()  Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Lease modiification (Continued)
(i)  Operating leases (Continued)

For rent concession under which the Group legally
releases the lessee from its obligation to make
specifically identified lease payment, of which some
of these lease payments are contractually due but
not paid and some of them are not yet contractually
due, the Group accounts for the portions which have
been recognised as operating lease receivables (i.e.
the lease payments which are contractually due but
not paid) by applying the ECL and derecognition
requirements under HKFRS 9 and applies lease
modification requirements for the forgiven lease
payments that the Group has not recognised (i.e. the
lease payments which are not yet contractually due)
as at the effective date of modification.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to
assess whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes
a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale,
the Group as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use
asset arising from the leaseback at the proportion of the
previous carrying amount of the asset and recognises any
gain or loss that relates to the rights transferred to the
buyer-lessor only. Right-of use asset and lease liability with
fixed payments are subsequently measured in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policies above.

If the fair value of the consideration for the sale does not
equal the fair value of the asset, or if the payments for
the lease are not at market rates, the Group makes the
following adjustments to measure the sale proceeds at fair
value:
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a seller-lessee (Continued)

(@ any below-market terms is accounted for as a
prepayment of lease payments; and

(b) any above-market terms is accounted for as
additional financing provided by the buyer-lessor to
the seller-lessee.

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a
sale, the Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise
the assets and accounts for the transfer proceeds as
borrowings within the scope of HKFRS 9.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Nonmonetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Nonmonetary items are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences on monetary item
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in
associates/joint ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial assets), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

BORROWING COSTS (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees in the Company’s subsidiaries operating
in the PRC are members of retirement benefits scheme
(the “PRC RB Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government. The local municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing
and future retired employees of the PRC subsidiaries. The
only obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to the
PRC RB Scheme is to meet the required contributions
under the PRC RB Schemes. The contributions are
charged to the profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

TAXATION

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to a business combination, or items
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive
income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect
of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected
to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised
for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

- temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 ;%

3.

St A=t HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

TAXATION (Continued)

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which they can be used. Future
taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of
relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for individual
subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability
of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives for intangible assets with finite
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

3.

ZEFAS AR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful life
to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

3.

ZEFAS AR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories, representing finished goods for resale, are
stated at the lower of costs and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where
effect of the time value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

PROVISIONS (Continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(0

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group perform impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
account receivables, deposit and other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

BEARNEETBERER (@)

€RIE (&
EREE (&)
CHEEM T ERAEE (B)

() EESHAA RAEUA
HERRBHKATENSREE
REBRBRAFEFAREMEEEK
WA EMEBITE ERKIEY
M EWATIE B ERFEE T A
R -ABAXRAZEERELZ
TRMEENIIZERTAME -
MEWATE B ﬂ%ﬂéFZ%
ERERABERNEE  ERR
HREEREZEREERIN (R
T -HERKREEREZE
BMEEME  MEBWRATEEES
MEER MERSEHZ BHRA
FEM BRI R MR - W5 EH
BZERMIAZEERBRNE &
@E%ﬁ@ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
B FEBATERASREEN
EHEEEEE THBHREER
BRzZBEHRARE CREAE
& P B N K 1 R R

RIR & 8 B 75 3R 22 A S5 05%
?’aﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ AR ERE E R

AEBERBERBMBRELRESRH
ZEREZEREE (BREYRR
BeREMEUKRELRE MRS EE
W RBEHEEER ((RBEEER])
BETREF G -BREEFEENS
BN EHmE A REH ARBRE V)65
RREERBRNEL-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023  E; %

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

For the other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

()

Significant increase in crediit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

()

(i)

Significant increase in crediit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 180 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the basis
below:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables are each assessed
as a separate group. Loans to related parties
are assessed for expected credit losses on an
individual basis);

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payable, other
payables and accruals, lease liabilities and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

BARAETHEER #)

@I R (@
cHEBEREBRAIR

DERBEFLE
EHRBEATARBENLTHNEEN
kEBABBMBEATANEESRRS
BmAEIES-

KEBHKATEZ LA E

eREE(BREMNERR EENRK
AR EFHRE HERBERRTREM
fER) EREBEERENEEIZ B HRA

i

4% b HERR

EREERSREZANENERE

B EREERZEEMEE BRI
mERLOREETHBERE A
BheRIIEReREE - NAKEY
BERTERE AR BRI RR
O tHEZEGHEREE AL
EpEAEBASNZREAREEER
HEREERREED HAKERE
BRTBMEEMBEZB/AENRE &
CH AEESUEEREREE X
AP CER 2 P S SRR HE R IR R AE R o

R LR IRB N AT EZEMEE
R BEREERD KR EERERN
ZER TN BEAER -

Annual Report 2023 —E - = £}

159



160

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023  E; %

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

3.

BE—_F-_=—Ff-A=1—HIFFEF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(o)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources, or
obligations between the Group and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its
present condition. Management must be committed to the
sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s material accounting policy
information, which is described in Note 3, the Directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT

Determination on lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group applies judgment to determine the lease term
for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include
renewal option, specifically, the leases relating to data
centre and equipment. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable. Leases
are considered no longer enforceable when the Group as
the lessee and the relevant lessors both have the right to
terminate the lease without permission from the other party
with no more than an insignificant contractual penalty.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise renewal options impacts the lease term,
which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-assessment is
performed upon the occurrence of either a significant event
or a significant change in circumstances that is within the
control of lessee and that affects the assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances including economic
incentives/penalties for exercising or not exercising the
options. Factors considered include:

o the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by
the Group;

o costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g.
relocation costs, costs of identifying another
underlying asset suitable for the Group’s needs).
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4. BREGETHE MG

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset,
which required significant judgment relating to level of
revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue
and operating costs. At 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets were approximately HK$715,569,000 (2022:
HK$1,765,779,000) and approximately HK$259,428,000
(2022: HK$1,157,302,000), respectively. Details are
disclosed in Notes 17 and 18.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for financial assets
carried at amortised cost

The Group uses a general approach to calculate ECL
for the financial assets carried at amortized cost. The
provision rates are based on internal credit ratings as
groupings of various debtors taking into consideration
the Group’s historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable, supportable and available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed, and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, financial assets carried at amortized cost with
significant balances and credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s financial
assets carried at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 6.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

B R A & Er T Ae
AR/ ERR @)

e THAE RN EERIR
(#)
BRBHENATEZEMEEZ
BHEREERE

A B A — ROT R B B AR
BreMAEZ ENEEHER - BES
NEBEBADERNBEETIR AR
EWEEREBOELEOERBA
TUBHRARS N ES ABAE
A AE AR RERE A
ABRNELEOEEENTHE LE
BRIEMER BB 1o AEEX
o T BB MR BB MO I AR AT
EOMAEREBTHASEES

8o

BHEEERAEBEHEMEZDLAH
R BRAAHMEERERASBEIZHEH
AT B2 & B & ZE HE B e

-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units (or group of cash generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was nil
(2022: HK$50,859,000) (net of accumulated impairment
loss amounted to approximately HK$343,649,000 (2022:
HK$302,790,000)) and carrying amount of intangible
assets amounted to approximately HK$15,138,000
(2022: HK$62,375,000) (net of accumulated amortization
and impairment loss amounted to approximately
HK$326,221,000 (2022: HK$288,917,000)). Details are
disclosed in Notes 19, 20 and 21.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes borrowings disclosed in Note 29, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of
capital. Based on the recommmendations of the Directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of the existing debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. The ratio is calculated as borrowings divided by total
equity of the Group.

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

5.

BRRPR B IR ()

EETHRSEARE - R Z
—HD EFEREARAZAAREZR
EXRMRBEZER - REEFZ2EZ
SESEBBITHROLBEITHER X
BOREEH 2T AFHEEEAR
e

ARERBAEABLEERER %
e b0 DA A AR T
Ho

AEBERGERRCEERBBEL XN
T

2023 2022

—g== =
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAET
Borrowings R 808,150 927,706
Total (deficit)/equity (B4t =B (1,325,237) 727,116
Gearing ratio BEAGLE (61.0%) 127.6%
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS TRIT A
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL SR T EER
INSTRUMENTS
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHETT
Financial assets CHEE
At amortised cost big: s AN
Accounts receivable JFE UK BR 3R 178,057 146,929
Deposits and other receivables e R E A ERFRIA 205,662 360,018
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREeEEY 27,245 17,607
410,964 524,554
Financial liabilities EA =R
At amortised cost big: s AN
Accounts payable FERTER R 226,682 129,439
Other payables and accruals o FE A SR8 & FEET R 614,932 377,437
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,164,672 1,307,961
Borrowings B 808,150 927,706
2,814,436 2,742,543

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include accounts
receivable, deposits and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, accounts payable, other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities and borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial
risks of changes in foreign currency and interest rates.
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CEC=Ff A=A —HIEFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Market risk exposures are further measured by sensitivity
analysis. There has been no significant change to the
Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which
it manages and measures the risk. Details of each type of
market risks are described as follows:

Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the
Group’s transactions denominated and settled in the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. Most of the Group’s monetary assets
and liabilities are also denominated in the Group’s
functional currencies. Therefore, the Group has no
significant currency risk exposure as they are denominated
in a currency same as the functional currencies of the
group entities to which these transactions relate.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable rate lease liabilities and bank borrowings. The
Group has no other significant interest-bearing assets
and liabilities. Details of the Group’s lease liabilities and
borrowings have been disclosed in Notes 28 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest risks.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the PRC Loan Prime
Rate arising from the Group’s RMB borrowings. The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. @Rt TH (s
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT cREAREEBERBEER (®)
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) i5% E bR (®)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FE [z (8)
The following table details the interest rate profile of the TRV ERRNEEERLREE
Group’s borrowings and lease liabilities at the end of the BEZFIEER:
reporting period:
2023 2022
—E-= T F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rates HK$’000 rates HK$’000
BRI FET HRF & FAET
% %
Variable rate: EEFIE:
Borrowings B 3.50-13 550,938 3.80-6.80 649,833
Lease liabilities HE&E 5.9 200,409 5.95 262,368
Fixed rate: & & F =& :
Borrowings B 6.03 257,212 6.00-8.00 277,873
Lease liabilities HEBE 3.50-10.13 964,263 4.76-9.68 1,045,593
Sensitivity analysis BREREDI

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.

As at 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates
would increase/decrease the Group’s loss after tax and
accumulated losses by approximately HK$5,635,000
(2022: approximately HK$4,976,000). Bank balances are
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.
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e = — He=E— B fl iy
M 5 B B8 F) 38 hn, Rk 410018 2 2 1%
i-ﬂu//rxd RAEBEBRBREBEE KRR
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CEC=Ff A=A —HIEFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable and deposit and
other receivables. The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

In respect of bank balances, the credit risk is considered
to be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. The
existing counterparties do not have defaults in the past.
Therefore, expected credit loss rate of cash at bank is
assessed to be close to zero and no provision was made
as of 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group applies the general approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
uses 12-month expected credit loss provision for all
financial assets carried at amortised cost. To measure
the expected credit losses, financial assets carried at
amortised cost have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, financial assets
carried at amortised cost that are individually significant
have been separately assessed for impairment. The Group
makes periodic assessments on the recoverability of the
receivables based on the background and reputation of
the customers, historical settlement records and past
experience.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses
an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed annually. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Majority of the Group’s revenue and accounts receivables
arise from individual customers in relation to provision
of data centre services and are transacted on credit.
As at the end of the year, the top five debtors and the
largest debtor accounted for approximately 73% and
25% (2022: 67% and 35%), of the Group’s accounts
receivable balance. In view of the history of business
dealings with the debtors and the sound collection history
of the receivables due from them, management believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from these debtors
saved for the debtor related to the impaired accounts
receivable disclosed below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables based on historical payment records, the
length of overdue period, the financial strength of the
debtors and whether there are any disputes with the
debtors.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Accounts receivables are due within
90 to 210 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
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6.

ZEFAS AR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

6. &R TE (&)

tREREEAEREE (®)

EERRE (&)
AEBENLEEE

Pl

R RFEREAT

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating  Description Accounts receivable other items
HittemEE
A= ERR R JE e B =X Higig B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL - not 12-month ECL-not
default and does not have any credit-impaired credit impaired
past-due amounts
N HEFEHNXRBESEEMANRE 2HEHEEBE- 12 A FEIEEEE-
AHBREERE AEBREERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL-not
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired credit impaired
BRRE EBARTRIBARERERS FHESEEERE- THEHEEEE-
PEHEE AR EERE AEBREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
BB BEBRAEELREERE THESEEERE- THEHEEEE-
HREERE HIREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
i g5 ERRAGKAREEAMAER LM SHEC M

K%@ﬁiﬁ%ﬂ&@ﬁuﬂ
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. T HE &)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT SHRRAKEEEERBE @
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERER (#)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TREALANEEBAETEREEREF
the Group’s financial assets, accounts receivable and HreMEE BREFURZERH
deposits and other receivables, which are subject to ECL ftb FE W RIB A B R R AR
assessment:
Internal credit
rating 2023 2022
W%B%ﬁ%%i :g:zﬁ —F--
Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
REAE FEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER THEL
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHERATEZEREE
Accounts receivable Low risk 95,004 105,392
JEER R R
Watch risk 105,052 54,346
BRyE
Loss 15,704 215,760 15,122 174,860
B
Deposits and other receivables Low risk 113,362 200,542
He REMEYNIE iEN
Watch list - 164,727
BRYE
Loss 206,478 319,840 21,367 386,636
B8
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following tables shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for accounts receivable,
deposits and other receivables:

ST E @)

tREREEAEREE (®)

EERR (&)

TRIRBL B ARR - R R H Al U
REERZ 2PRAREEERE

Accounts receivable JE U5 BR SR
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHAEBE 2 HIES
EFE (18 FEE#R
FERHE) (EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2022 RZZE-—%—H—H 7,892 14,878 22,770
- Impairment losses recognised ~ —E RN ERE (IBREE)
(net of reversal) 5,970 1,202 7172
- Transfer — B (258) 258 -
- Exchange adjustments —ER AR (795) (1,216) (2,011)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZE-ZZF+-fA=+—-HEK
1 January 2023 “E-=%—HF—H 12,809 15,122 27,931
- Impairment losses recognised ~ — B ERRAEE B (FIRRER)
(net of reversal) 9,899 744 10,643
— Transfer — 274) 274 =
- Exchange adjustments —-ELRE (435) (436) (871)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZEZ=%+-A=1+—-H 21,999 15,704 37,703
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. T HE &)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT TREREREBBERBUER (8)
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERER (#)
Deposits and other receivables e & H AU IR
12-month Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL
(not credit- (not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total
12EREHE 2HES 2HES
EFR (1R EEFE EEF#
EEHE) (LEEEEE) (EERE) @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TERL TETL TEL
As at 1 January 2022 A_F--F-F-H 1,670 1,372 15,501 18,543
- Impairment losses recognised -EETRERE (NREE)
(net of reversal) 1,374 1,128 7,241 9,743
- Transfer —8 - (207) 207 -
- Exchange adjustments -ERAE (122) (100 (1,446) (1,668)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZZZE+ZA=+-HR
1 January 2023 ~“2-=%-8-H 2,922 2,193 21,503 26,618
- Impaiment losses recognised -BRRREGE (NRER)
(net of reversal) 5,834 - 91,186 97,020
- Written off i - - (7,781) (7,781)
- Transfer -85 (5,589) (2,199) 7,781 -
- Disposal of subsidlaries -HERBAT (275) . - 275)
- Exchange adjustments -ERHE (94) - (1310) (1,404)
As at 31 December 2023 R-BZZ#+ZA=t-R 2,799 - 111,379 114,178
Liquidity risk mEE T E R
In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors AERBRBDESRARNBES K~EH
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents SERTHARETEERERANEE X
deemed adequate by the management to finance the ReZEEYKE BEAREENEERME
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations EoUWRERSRERDNTE - KE
in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors B EIR g BRI T B A (2 R B 0 I g
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance RETFTERAF -

with loan covenant.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

ST E @)

tREREEAEREE (®)

RHEEEK (&)

TRHAMADIBAEEITE S B A ER
TAMNBMBR -ZRDREMBER
AEBEARERKEREENRFEAHHR
MRREREREERE -FTLEER
BEMNIHMENDREHENERBE
E-BRRBINTHERAERERE -
HMERERFBER AIRMEAEE
RERHERARZ M ERAESH -

Weighted More than More than Total
average Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual Total
effective 1 year or less than less than More than  undiscounted carrying
interest rate on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
mETY 157 1)L 2F N E AHRER
BBRAE FEER B2F T B5EUT 56K RERBAE REAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FiET TET FiEn TET FiEL FET
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f+-A=+-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTESRER
Accounts payable FEERR - 226,682 - - - 226,682 226,682
Other payables and accruals H AT OB R ST RE - 614,932 3,159 - - 618,091 618,091
Lease liabilities HEARE 8.20 339,136 133,280 408,972 771,376 1,652,764 1,164,672
Borrowings (Note) B () 6.92 462,417 205,164 263,407 - 930,988 808,150
1,643,167 341,603 672,379 771,376 3,428,525 2,817,595
At 31 December 2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTESRARE
Accounts payable ERER - 129,439 - - - 129,439 129,439
Other payables and accruals Hft P 500R R BB R - 377,437 - - - 377,437 377,437
Lease liabilities HEARE 8.24 432,333 138,991 425,465 945,941 1,942,730 1,307,961
Borrowings (Note) fE () 5.78 254,580 347,259 375,679 52,157 1,029,675 927,706
1,193,789 486,250 801,144 998,098 3,479,281 2,742,543

Note: Borrowings are classified as short-term liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position as they will
be repaid upon demand, according to the demand clause
of the relevant loan agreements. The above information
reflects the repayment schedules in accordance with the
relevant agreements.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. @ TH )
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL EMIAEC2AFYE
INSTRUMENTS
The Group does not have financial assets and financial REFEPREMERRLEAL T EELE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring BEAVTEFENEREENEREE-
basis at the end of each reporting period. As to the R IENEFHEER A FEFEN
financial assets and financial liabilities that are not THEEREMEBE TEEEERER
measured at fair value on recurring basis, the management REREEEATERE -
of the Group considers that their carrying amount
approximate to the fair values.
FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION DNFEMAE
There was no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both RAEFE F—HR F_H/RE=HK
years. 2 P8 7 4 (T {n] 8 3% o
REVENUE 7. WzHF
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EPENNREERERIRBEE D
by major products or service lines is as follows: m
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Provision of data centre services (Note 1) 12t &5 .0 RS (MF3E1) 436,272 484,357
Others (Note 2) H A, (P 5E2) 43,181 48,001
479,453 532,358

Note 1: Data centre services mainly include the use of data
centre and information technology facilities, and network
connection services.

Note 2:  Others mainly represent income arising from the
trading of telecommunication products, the provision
of system integrity services and leasing of properties
of approximately HK$6,115,000 (2022: HK$94,000),
HK$29,365,000 (2022: HK$44,507,000) and
HK$7,701,000 (2022: HK$3,400,000) respectively.

MisE1: BURPOMRBEZEBEEMEE
Bl RS BB AR e A B M A
B AR

fiao: HMEIBHERBBEESAER:
R R R RS MR E YR A
WA - 5 31 %96,115,0008 T (= F
— Z % :94,000/ 7T ) ~ 29,365,000
BT (ZF = =% : 44,507,000
7)) }%7,701,0008 L (ZF ==
4F : 3,400,000 7T ) °
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7. REVENUE (continued)

7. Wz

Disaggregation by timing of revenue 1% Y 55 2R I
recognition:
At a point in time B ] 2
Over time BE B ]

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
6,115 94
473,338 532,264
479,453 532,358

The Group has applied the practical expedient under
HKFRS 15.121 to which the transaction price allocated
to the unsatisfied contracts as at the end of the financial
reporting period is not disclosed.

Revenue from provision of data centre services, which
include the use of the data centre and their information
technology facilities, network connection and other
auxiliary services provided in the data services centres,
provided to customers is recognised over the scheduled
period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from trading of telecommunication products is
recognised at the point in time when goods are delivered
to customers generally on the time the related risks and
rewards of ownership has transferred.

Revenue from provision of system integration services
is recognised overtime based on the progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
measured with output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depicts the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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REVENUE (Gontinued) 7. W o

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in LEHE 2 HeWARTEBIFTHRE 2 5
profit or loss is equal instalments over the periods covered MAZEEE BT ER ENE
by the lease terms, except where an alternative basis is Htn A ERFARK R EREE
more representative of the pattern of benefit to be derived BEFES 2 WaiE = AR R 8
from the use of leased asset. Lease incentive granted HERBTE=TRHRBELUFHER
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the By —& -

aggregate net lease payments receivable.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 8. E MUt A KUz
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains for the NEBFRNEMPARWEITHT

years is as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Bank interest income RITF B WA 165 266
Government subsidy (Note) BT 2 RE (FEFE) 1,756 2,081
Other interest income E b F B U A - 285
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE HELEHEZ

and equipment & 817 1,894
Gain from sale and leaseback transaction &% E X FES 7 W - 62,018
Exchange gain, net & 5 25558 - 13
Sundry income LSS N 5,966 6,290
8,704 72,847

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group MiE: REBZEZT-_—F+=-A=+—H

recognised government grants of HK$208,000 under
the Employment Support Scheme launched by the Hong
Kong government. There are no unfulfiled conditions or
contingencies relating to the subsidy.

LWL E - REBEREE B BUT 3L
VR 3t 2% 5+ &) 1 32 BU # B1208,000
78 7T o B 4R B % 78 B AR B RO (R AT R
ERIRTFRIAER -
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9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of Directors, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. This is also the basis upon which
the Group is organised and managed.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating
segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

a. Provision of data centre services
b. Others

The Group reportable segments are strategic business
units that operate different activities. They are managed
separately because each business unit has different
markets and requires different marketing strategies.

The “Others” reportable and operating mainly represents
income arising from the trading of telecommunication
products, the provision of system integration services and
leasing of properties.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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ra M HRERME

St A=1—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DIEEF &)
SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS THEREREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and AEEZAZ2HELEDEE D 2 W
results by reportable and operating segments: REESTWOT
Provision of
data centre services Others Consolidated
EHEERORE Hity RE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f —T--f ZBZ=Zf —T-Z —EC-=f —ZT-—
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET TR FEL TET FEL
(Restated)
(g=5)
Revenue & 436,272 484,357 43,181 48,001 479,453 532,358
Segment results SEEE (2,287170)  (241,511) 18,248 (2,031) (2,268,922)  (244,442)
Interest income FEHA 165 551
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries I E B D &2 Wi 5,232 219,660
Gain from sale and leaseback ~ REERAER 52
transaction e - 62,018
Other income and gains H A R 8,539 10,278
Unallocated corporate expenses 77 Fi A 15 2 (20,963) (22,391)
(Loss)/profit before tax KR (BR) /&7 (2,275,949) 25,674
Income tax FrgH 222,694 (176,782)
Loss for the year FRER (2,053,255) (151,108)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales in both years. The material accounting
policy information of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s material accounting policy information
described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. Segment results represent the profit or loss
from each segment without allocation of interest income,
central administration costs, directors’ emoluments, gain
on disposal of subsidiaries, gain from sale and leaseback
transaction, other income and gains and income tax. This
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

EFzoBEREEREITIRLZ
H&Z/\o NEFERESEEEE K8
D ERNSFTBORE R B G BB R
KAz AEEEARGHHREE
BHER - D BEEERRESHEZET
HEE WESRFBWA P RITHK
ER -EEME HEWBARZ W
REEERHEER S 2 W KA KR
W ARFSEH - I E RS R &S
RBTEMAEBLEERAREETE
W2 A&
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. HEER #)

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and AEERAZMREEDEE D CEE
liabilities by reportable and operating segments: raE >TmT:

Provision of

data centre services Others Consolidated
EHEERORE Hity sy
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f Z—E--F ZB-=f <—ZT-- —E-=f —EZE-—

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL THER TEL TR TEL

(Restated) (Restated)
(E=31) (=350)
Segment assets HEEE 1,542,585 3,723,972 48,7117 100,571 1,591,302 3,824,543
Unallocated corporate assets KA B AFEE 21,134 16,564
Consolidated assets REEE 1,612,436 3,841,107
Segment liabilities KEEE 2,866,191 3,038,327 46,808 58,168 2,912,999 3,096,495
Unallocated corporate liabilities K2 & A7 & & 24,674 17,496
Consolidated liabilities wRER 2,937,673 3,113,991
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and BEENPENRARIESERZE
allocating resources between segments: ik
e all assets are allocated to operating segments e KBARIMRARBEE(ZZ8IES
other than unallocated corporate assets (mainly TFHEMRIE  He R EARUGRIE
comprising certain of prepayments, deposits and INREBETYE WE REE) I
other receivables and certain of property, plant and FIEEEASREERLEE &
equipment); and
e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments e BRARIPERAFBGE(XTEBRESR
other than unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly T E A FE T I8 R FE R 5B ) S
comprising certain of other payables and accruals). FIBEBEANEELE -

184 Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ra M HRERME
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. PEER =
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION Hthp EER
Provision of
data centre services Others Unallocated Consolidated
REBED LR Hif AR &8
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Z®-=f -T-_-_F ZB-ZE _—Z_- Zg--f _T--F ZB-ZE _—T_-F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TEL

Amount included in the measure of GENBEEMEENSE

segment result
Addition to property, plant and RENE BERRE

equipment 45,616 18,407 113 33 - - 45,729 191,158
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERSENE

equipment 41,347 55,498 3,360 201 14 960 44,721 56,659
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RAELENE 78,102 65,062 - 298 1,166 1,288 79,268 66,648
Amortisation of intangible assets BVEEEH 18,407 19,428 - - - - 18,407 19,428
Impairment loss of goodwil BEREEE 50,859 36,246 - - - - 50,859 36,246
Impairment loss of intangible assets ~ EFEEREEE 28,830 - - - - - 28,830 -
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets ~ # RIEAEHIERB 812,317 - - - - = 812,317 -
Impairment loss of property, plantand ~ ¥1% - BE kB R EEE

equipment 1,001,035 - - - - - 1,001,035 -
Impairment losses under expected credit B EifE B BER T 2R E

loss model, net of reversal BE NBED 92,736 12,092 13,469 3323 1,458 1,500 107,663 16,915
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision EHEHTFELEAREBTIEERN
maker but not included in the measure of segment results DEEEIDHEEESENSRE:

or segment assets:

Provision of
data centre services Others Unallocated Consolidated
REBBPORE Hip FAR &&
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Z§-=f _-T--_% =C-¥-=§ _T--f ZCZP-=§ _T--f ZCZ¥-=§ _-F_C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR Ti#En TFi#n TR TR TR T

(Restated) (Restated)
(mE5)) (EE5)
Interest income FIEMA 164 542 1 5 - 4 165 551
Income tax credit/(expense) FEtiEs/ (Rx) 202966 (176,787) (272) = - 5 200694 (176782
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. HDEER )
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR FTEREFZEH
CUSTOMERS
Revenue from major customers of the corresponding year RABREF A S E AW EIR10% 8
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group REEZEP 2WEMAT :

are as follows:

2023 2022
—=2_= —E-_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Customer A’ EPA 98,877 79,823
Customer B' ®PB 63,179 65,498
Customer C! EPC 48,045 62,667
210,101 207,988
1 Provision of data centre services. 1 EHEE A LR
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION i E &R
The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC. REEZEBEFEMRFRE -
Information about the Group’s revenue from external REBREIBERL CWEER IEE
customers is presented based on the geographical FHEsHEZY RIERBEECE
location of the customer, and non-current assets Bz EEEMRZMEEY) -

information is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets by geographical

location are detailed below:

ra M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

Revenue from
external customers

DREER (#)

hEE R (®)

R RS T AEERENBES 2K
HRABEERYEE AR i
—|T:

Non-current assets*

RENMDEF K E FRBEE"
31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-=H —Z-C
“E-=f —F--% tZA=t-B +tZA=t—-H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz FEx TR THT
Name of the region HE %

Hong Kong e - - 1,801 545
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) B (T 81EE ) 479,453 532,358 1,007,830 3,112,619
479,453 532,358 1,009,631 3,113,164

*

Information about the Group’s non-current assets, other

than deferred tax assets, is presented based on the

geographical location of the assets.

FINANCE COSTS

BEAKREFRDEE (RERERE
ERRIN) VB R TR B B E A B i &

275

10. Bl & A AN

2023 2022
—E== —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Bank loan interest expenses RITERFBHX 51,583 45,076
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 84,912 66,071
Other loan interest expenses EMEZRF M 35,268 29,038
171,763 140,185
Less: Capitalised in construction in RV BB kR
progress under property, plant and WENc& 5 (ME17)
equipment (Note 17) (27,829) (27,805)
143,934 112,380
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

11. INCOME TAX 1. PriS M
2023 2022
—EC-=F —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT T
(Restated)
(#e=E5))
Hong Kong Profits tax BEANE
— Current tax — B EARR 1A - -
PRC Enterprise Income tax P EATER
- Current tax —BIHEARR IR (2,049) 18,811
Deferred tax (Note 30) EFERIE (FT3E30) (220,645) 157,971
Total income tax (credit)/expense Frsfi (%) /FAXEHE (222,694) 176,782
No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as HE_T-="FRk-_FT-=_F+=A
the Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, =T —HIEFE WRFTIREEBRIER
Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2023 #H DHRASERARNEBEESIR
and 2022. HEf YA ©
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the BEFEHPCEMGSRE ([EEREH
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, B REEFRBHEE MR & B
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. BN E 2 R 25% °
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, R BMEEENEER  AaalE T
certain subsidiaries of the Company, being qualified as WEBARWITASMTMEE EE
a new and high technology enterprise, are eligible for a TERETAZTERHAEER=E
preferential Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15% until 27 B15%MEBRLEMEHBME-
December 2026.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ra M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

1. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the (loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated statement

1. PT1580 (@)

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as ™~

follows:

FAMBHRANEEAERS
Wk AR (BE) % E iR

s R EH AL RE

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E - F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
(Restated)
(#e=E5))
(Loss)/profit before tax KRR (EE) O H (2,275,949) 25,674
Tax at domestic income tax rates REBAVEERES R
applicable to profits in the respective i R B A BT 15 B B 3R
jurisdiction (Note) STEMBIE (M) (568,987) (11,574)
Tax effect of expense not deductible PR E A HBRFAX
for tax purpose 2B E 13,183 11,207
Tax effect of income not taxable BT E BERTLA
for tax purpose 2B (1,542) (8,718)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTEBB BB E 29,706 28,816
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses FRBERERNIBEBE
previously not recognised BB A (664) (1,637)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RIERATNBEREE
differences not recognised B E 305,610 158,688
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year ~ FRAER (FR) Hx (222,694) 176,782

Note: As the Group operates in several different jurisdictions, BfEE

the tax rate applied in the tax reconciliation represents the
weighted average domestic tax rates of the individual tax

jurisdiction.

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note 30.

R A EER S EATR AR R K
BER REARERBZIHERE
AW BE R R 2 TG A

E S
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e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

12.(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 12. BR¥iAT (B51B) % A

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after AEEMBRBEA (BB 8 F TR

charging/(crediting): B (5P A) THIIEEB BIER:
2023 2022
—EC=F B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Staff costs, including Directors’ BIRAK BIEEEWS

remuneration (Note 14) (MF3E14)

— Salaries, wages and other benefits —¥He TEREAMETR 43,283 49,054

— Contributions to retirement benefits —RIRENF B

Schemes 3,538 3,758
Total staff costs (i) 428 T A (i) 46,821 52,812
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BMEREEBETE

equipment (Note 17) (MF5E17) 44,721 56,659
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (iii) 15 FA 1% & B 3T & (i)

(Note 18) (HF5E18) 79,268 66,648
Amortisation of intangible assets (i) | E EE () (H7E20)

(Note 20) 18,407 19,428
Total depreciation and amortisation e R 142,396 142,735
Legal and professional fee FEREES 5,559 7,036
Office expenses WAERT 4,362 3,489
Bank charges RITIE 5,406 9,579
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR Bl &

— audit service — BB 900 1,050

— non-audit service —IEEZIRT - 238
Expenses relating to short term leases and B G BifAE KK EEHRE

low value leases 2R 595 863
Cost of technical service fees BT R B KA

(included in cost of sales) (iv) (BT ASHERA) (iv) 279,565 238,912
Water and electricity charges KEE (FFAHEERA)

(included in cost of sales) 98,188 89,270
Cost of inventories recognised as expense = W32 4B sz 2 175 Ak 7

(including write-down of inventories (BEMETFEL

amounting to approximately 148,000/ 7T )

HK$148,000) (2022: HK$1,912,000) —_F-_—

1,912,000/ 7T ) 10,201 1,912

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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ra M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

2. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 12. BR¥iAT (E51B) &k

13.

(i) The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is included (i)
in “Administrative and other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

(i) Staff costs of approximately HK$33,250,000, (i)
HK$13,571,000, (2022: HK$34,855,000 and
HK$17,957,000) were recognised as administrative
expenses and selling and marketing costs respectively.

(iif) Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately (iif)
HK$64,482,000, HK$13,776,000 and HK$1,010,000
(2022: HK$43,675,000, HK$21,619,000 and
HK$1,354,000) were recognised as cost of sales,
administrative expenses and selling and marketing costs
respectively.

(iv)  Amount mainly represented data traffic fee paid and (iv)
payable to telecommunication infrastructure operators in
the People’s Republic of China.

FRNEREERHT ARS AR IE
fhemPamR s [TTBEEMER] -

B T A A #33,250,000% 7T -
13,571,0005%7‘1(:;?::$:
34,855,000 7T }2.17,957,000/8 7T ) 2

iﬂ‘:& RAEITHRAS A REE REHEK

fF A& E & 464,482,000/8
JT ~ 13,776,000/ jt 1,010,000
7T (=T = — % : 43,675,000/ 7T
21,619,000/% 7t & 1,354,000/ 7T ) 5
PIFE R A 84 6 BCAS ~ TT R BA S A B 8
EREEMA -

REFEZAENREMPEARLM
EEEEARSEELENEBREE -

LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable KRAREAARBLFANFHREAREETD
to owners of the Company for the year is based on the BUAT 8RR E

following data:

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss for the year attributable to owners of A2 *T??EE/\FME NETE
the Company and loss for the purpose FARGTESREREE
of basic loss per share 2B (1,966,236) (201,699)
2023 2022
—=EBE-= g
000 ‘000
T F %
Weighted average number of ordinary ARt EEREREEZ
shares for the purpose of basic loss per 3@ A% hN4E 5 &
share 9,522,184 9,622,184
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

13.

14.

R EE

ZEFAS AR

LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 was presented as there were
no potential ordinary shares in issue for the years.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

2023

13. FIRETIE (8)

EFQE_?_:iﬁ_?::¢+—
A=+ HIEFEYRBEEDHTE
Hx&%ﬁﬂi&lﬁfﬂ#k%%%
8o

2022

Sgo=F kSl
Salaries, Contributions Salaries, Contributions
wages  Share-based  to retirement wages  Share-based o refirement
and other payment benefits and other payment benefits
Fees benefits expenses schemes Total Fees benefits expenses schemes Total

¢ T8R HURHAER BAER
Names of directors j .3 e EbER  MARHX RS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

¥2 TER WRhAZR RixER
it ik AR MAREX FEf @it

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000

Fi&n T T T FHT TR iR FET Tt TR
Executive directors: HTES:
Dr. LIE Haiquan 5lgREL 360 2,640 - 36 3,036 360 2,640 - 36 3,036
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai 215 1,110 - 36 1,361 240 1,190 - 36 1,466
Mr. TAO Wei (Note a) 120 331 - - 451 120 8 - - 205
Mr. WU Di (Note b) 100 - - - 100 120 - - - 120
Independent non-executive directors: B ¥ ¥ #7EE:
Ms. X| Lina ZEfgt 144 - - - 144 144 - - - 144
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong yi 132 - - - 1382 132 - - - 132
Mr. ZHANG Zihva Eﬂai (ZHANG Zihue)

R 180 - - - 180 180 - - - 180

1,251 4,081 - 72 5,404 1,296 3915 - 72 5,283

Notes: B &

(@ Resigned on 29 December 2023

(b) Resigned on 31 October 2023

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai was also the chief executive officer
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for service rendered by him as the chief
executive officer for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments in respect of the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

RERFAENBARBITERE ﬁ.ti
ERBECHEFMEREARBE_—T =
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ra M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS 14. EZF B ()
(Continued)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above AT EENHEETEPREERE
were mainly for their services in connection with the BAAGBIRAEEEBTEMRS
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. MBI IERTESHMEEEZEPRESF
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments ERARARIESMIZHAN R -
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of
the Company.
15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 15. Be = BHE R A £
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBREESFMENALTR  ME
Group, two (2022: two) were Directors whose emoluments (ZE2EZZHE MBREF HE2H
are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of MER EXHEER - FA-Ap=% (=%
the remaining three (2022: three) highest paid individuals ToFZR)ERFMENA LT ZE
during the year were as follows: B0 T -
2023 2022
—_Eg2-= —=EFT-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHET
Salaries, wages and other benefits He LENKEMETR 2,387 2,330
Contributions to retirement benefits RRAEFIFT &I
schemes 135 126
2,522 2,456
The emoluments of the remaining three (2022: three) HE#p=R (2T =ZF: =) xa5M
highest paid individuals fell within the following bands: ERALTZHFMATATEHENR
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
Emolument bands N E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007% 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
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e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

5

106.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 no
emolument was paid to the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, none of the Directors
held share options under the Company’s share option
schemes. Details of the share options are disclosed under
the paragraph “Share option schemes” in the report of the
directors and Note 32.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

15.

16. |
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  17. 1% - i = & R %

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor Data centre Construction
Building: imp i and fixtures vehicles  and equipment in progress Total
BF  HENEEE HAERE BRREE RE HBPORRE ERIR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr TEn ThAL FiEn ThL TEn TER FiEn
Cost
As at 1 January 2022 162,695 24,651 21,656 5,482 1,260 632,186 2,380,809 3,218,738
Exchange alignment (27,275) 1,830) 2,099) (392) 40) (50,242) (171,714) (253,588)
Addition - - 512 3563 10 16,576 174,707 191,158
Disposal € - - (316) (327) - (635,664) - (636,307)
Reclassified as held for sale ENPEARELE (5,749) - - - - - - (5,749)
Transfer from construction in progress BEERIE 173,950 - - - - 635,663 (809,613) -
Disposel of a subsidiary (Note 34) HE-FHBAR (Kis4) - - () - - - (548,628) (548,633)
Capitalisation of borrowing cost (Note 10) ERCERAA (K10) - - - - - - 27,805 27,805
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
293,621 22,821 19,753 5114 1,230 597,619 1,053,366 1,993 424
Exchange alignment (11,283) (342) (705) (129 21) (16,757) (29,224) (58,455)
Addition - - 106 - 7 9,932 35,684 45,729
Disposal (29,714) - - - - (67) - (29,781)
Transfer from construction in progress 5,854 - - - - - (5,854) -
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) (18,983 - (161) - - - - (19,144)
Capitalisation of borrowing cost (Note 10) AR (H310) - - - - - - 27,829 27,829
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZZF+ZB=+-8 239,495 22,479 18,993 4,991 1,216 590,627 1,081,801 1,969,602
A preciation and impai R FERAE
As at 1 January 2022 WZZZZ4-F-H 24,502 20,819 17,617 4,430 776 120,137 - 188,281
Exchange alignment 3 2,004) (1,584) (1,802) (308) “ (10907) - (16,699)
Charged for the year FRE 5,440 1,825 1,362 206 54 47,752 - 56,659
Disposal it - - (300) (294) - - - (694)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) HE—RMBAR (Mzs4) - - 7] - - - - 2
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
27,848 21,060 16,875 4,054 826 166,982 - 227,645
Exchange alignment B BE (745) (240) (494) (104) 6] 6.088) (6,353) (14,027)
Charged for the year FRZH 2,389 473 358 406 52 41,043 - 44,721
Disposal et (8,134) - - - - (63) - 6,197
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) HE—FHBAR (H3a4) (6,988) - (156) - - - - (7,144)
Impairment loss for the year ERREER - - - - - 175,410 825,625 1,001,035
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZZF+ZB=+-8 14,370 21,293 16,683 4,356 875 367,284 819,272 1,244,033
Carrying values REE
As at 31 December 2023 RZBZZF+ZB=+-8 225,125 1,186 2,410 635 34 223,343 262,529 715,569
As at 31 December 2022 RZZZZF+-R=1-8 265,773 1,761 2,878 1,060 404 440,537 1,063,366 1,765,779
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

Neo Teleme

On 20 June 2022, the Group and an independent third
party (the “2022 Purchaser”) entered into sale and lease
agreements pursuant to which (i) the Group agreed to sell
and the 2022 Purchaser agreed to acquire data centres
and the facilities and equipment that are built and installed
therein (collectively, the “Subject Assets”) in an aggregate
consideration of approximately RMB1,380,563,000
(exclusive of VAT) (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,557,413,000) (the “2022 Disposal”); and (i) the
2022 Purchaser agreed to lease the Subject Assets to the
Group for a term of 15 years starting from the completion
date of the 2022 Disposal (the “2022 Completion”) with
an early termination option after 12 years from the 2022
Completion.

One of these sale and leaseback transaction was
completed on 12 August 2022 and the data centre and
equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$635,664,000 has been derecognised from the property,
plant and equipment. The lease liabilities arising from the
lease agreements of approximately HK$503,941,000 have
been recognised with the related right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$398,889,000 at the 2022 Completion.

As a result, the Group had recognised a gain on
the sale and leaseback transaction of approximately
HK$62,018,000 that was included in other income and
gains for the year ended 31 December 2022.

dia Limited #EHEFEEEFRAA

17. W% W& K& om)

fi i

RZZE-_—_FAAZ+H AEHHE
—2BuFEF=H ([ZB==F8H])
FIVHERHERH BUHOAEE
AEHEM—_E-_—_FEFREEE
HEP LA REERTER I RE
L& (REIENEE]) BREAR
# AN R #1,380,563,0007T (7~ 6 4E 12
BE#) (HERH1,557,413,000/ 7T )
([ZBZZFHESEHE])  R[H =F
TZHEBEFRAEBEMNEEHETA
E@ BT —_FHEEFHETKA
Mz %K]) BT AH15
F WAEABE T - _FRKIEF2
FRZIBAKIEEERE-

HEfF-—BEEHEHOSGZR T - =
FNA+-_BREK MEEFELD
635,664,000/ T ) BB L L& EE
BYE BEREBRIEER - BER=
T oFEREERAMERZEE Y
& & (& 49503,941,00058 7T K 1A B8 &
FAHE & E #9398,889,000/% JT. °

At AEEEEREEHBEIRSH 2
I 25 4962,018,000/8 7T * E2FFAEHZE
—E-__F+-_A=+—HILFEZ
HAth U A R U3
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company
conducted impairment assessment to estimate the
recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
goodwill belonging to the cash-generating units (“CGU(s)”)
which are attributed to the Group’s operating segment
of provision for data centre services in view of the
unfavorable operating results from the segment. As part
of the impairment assessment of the non-current assets
in this segment, management of the Group estimated the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs, namely CGU 1, CGU
2 and CGU 3 (see details below), which were estimated
based on the values in use of each of the CGUs. Based
on the results of the impairment assessments of the
CGUs, the excess of carrying amount over the recoverable
amount of each CGU is allocated to the assets belonging
to the CGU. As a result, management of the Group
estimated impairment loss amounts were approximately
HK$1,001,034,000 (2022: Nil) for property, plant and
equipment, approximately HK$812,317,000 (2022: Nil) for
right-of-use assets, approximately HK$28,830,000 (2022:
Nil) for intangible assets and approximately HK$50,859,000
for goodwill in order to write down the carrying amounts of
the assets and the CGUs to their recoverable amounts as
at 31 December 2023. The impairment losses recognised
in respect of these assets were mainly due to the
decreases and/or volatility in the demand for provision for
data services by the Group in the light of the challenging
business environment. Management of the Group
determined the recoverable amounts of the assets and the
CGUs with reference to the valuations performed by an
independent professional valuer not connected with the
Group. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
CGU 1, CGU 2 and CGU 3 (before impairment loss) were
approximately HK$273,391,000, HK$2,185,642,000 and
HK$352,331,000 respectively.

17. WE W5 K& om)

B (&)

(i

RZZE-_=ZF+=-_A=+—H ER
ANEBERESEFORBENEE DI
REEETE AR EEMERMME
HE UG ERBEBRNZOLNBEEE
S BN ([REEEEMN]) THRER
ME - BELEE FAREE BF
EERBEMNAMRESE - EEZD
HIERBEEREIGENH —HD A
EEEEBURSELEU (RS
ELXEM REELFMRRESE
£ EMS (FF R T ) A i el ¢ 58 #
OTHE ZEEERESREESE
BAUNERAEERT - RERSEL
BENRETHER SREELEM
FEEEBBANDSENISIEDER
EMEReEESMUNEE Bt &
CSEHEBEEBHEDE BERXEED
518 E5 18 £ %8 49 /%1,001,034,0003% 7T
(ZZT——F:8) FAREENR
EE5 184 5 4 5812,317,000% 7t ( —
ToF ) BREENRERRE
4 %849 428,830,000 T (—ZF - —
FE)REENREBSESENA
50,859,000/ 0 Ui EENRESESE
BUMEEERREEREE 2=
F+-_A=Z+—BHNAUKREEE -5
ZELERANBEBEEIZRAASE
EEERSHET KETMIENE
BIRETHIB TR/ SOFB) ke
AEEEBELEHASEEBBN
BUEHEGBEMETHGE UETE
BERBSEFESEMMAIIRE 58 -
R-E-_=F+-_A=+—H ®R&
EXEMN REELFM2RRESE
£ MM EREE (RER B AT 5 5
#) /273,391,000 7T * 2,185,642,000
# 7T ] 352,331,00058 7T °
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i

(Continued)

For the purpose of allocating impairment losses of the
CGUs to the assets belonging to the CGUs so as to write
down their carrying amounts to their recoverable amounts,
the fair values less costs of disposal of () buildings were
determined using market comparison approach, taking
into account recent transactions of comparable properties
with adjustments for differences in time, location, building
condition and other relevant factors; and (i) construction in
progress, data center and equipment and other property,
plant and equipment were determined using depreciated
replacement cost method in accordance with the applicable
standards under International Valuation Standards and
HKIS Valuation Standards. In estimating the fair values of
the buildings, construction in progress, date centre and
equipment, and other property, plant and equipment,
the highest and best use of the buildings and such other
assets are their current use. The fair value measurement is
categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy.

The values in use of the CGUs were measured using the
discounted cash flow projections. The cash flow projections
are based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by the directors of the Company. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
long-term growth rate. The valuation method used was
consistent with the requirements prescribed by HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

The CGU 1, CGU 2 and CGU 3 represent operating
subsidiaries of the Group which have different customers’
mix and are principally engaged in provision of data centre
services. All of the attributed group entities under CGU 2
and CGU 3 are subsidiaries of Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited. The carrying amounts of
the goodwill, which was attributed to CGU 1, arising from
acquisition of 100% equity interest in Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited by the Group
through structured contracts (see note 39) and the goodwill,
which was attributed to CGU 3, arising from acquisition
of 0% equity interest in Guangzhou Zituo Technology
Company Limited by Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited in prior years as disclosed
in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

17. W% W& K& om)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i

(Continued)

CGU 1 attributed to Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited and its subsidiary
(‘cgu 1”)

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of CGU
1 in the amount of approximately HK$115,561,000 was
determined based on its value-in-use calculation. The
material unobservable inputs of the valuation included 1)
cash flow projection based on a financial budget covering
a five year period approved by management; 2) pre-tax
discount rate of 15.88% per annum for discounting the
projected cash flows which reflects the time value of money
and the credit risk specific to CGU 1; 3) forecast revenue
during the five-year projection period at growth rate
ranging from of -10% to 25%, which reflect less demand
for the services in the earlier years in the projection period
but moderate increase in the demand for the services
in later years within the five-year period; 4) forecast net
profit terminal rate at 2% beyond the five-year period.
Other key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted gross margins and other expenses.
After assessment, impairment losses of approximately
HK$130,879,000 and HK$28,175,000 on property, plant
and equipment, and intangible assets respectively were
recognised in consolidated profit or loss to write down
the carrying amounts of these assets to their recoverable
amounts, which arose as result of the unfavourable results
of the CGU 1. No further impairment loss for the goodwill
attributed to CGU 1 has been recognised in the current
year as impairment loss was fully provided for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (see note 21).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i

(Continued)

CGU 2 attributed to Guangdong Bluesea Data
Development Company Limited (“CGU 2”)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable
amount of CGU 2 in the amount of approximately
HK$590,365,000 was determined based on its value-in-use
calculation. The material unobservable inputs of the
valuation included 1) cash flow projection based on a
financial budget covering a five year period approved by
management; 2) pre-tax discount rate of 15.56% per
annum for discounting the projected cash flows which
reflects the time value of money and the credit risk
specific to CGU 2; 3) forecast revenue during the five-year
projection period at growth rate ranging from -76%% to
252%, which reflect less demand for the services in the
earlier years in the projection period but higher demand
for the services in later years upon returning to the normal
level of demand for the services, within the five-year
period; 4) forecast net profit terminal rate at 2% beyond
the five-year period. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted gross margins and
other expenses. After assessment, impairment losses of
approximately HK$808,668,000, HK$798,325,000 and
HK$655,000 on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets respectively were recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as the carrying amounts of
these assets exceeded their recoverable amounts as a
result of the unfavourable results of the CGU 2.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i

(i)

(Continued)

CGU 3 attributed to Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company
Limited and its subsidliaries (“CGU 3”)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the recoverable
amount of CGU 3 in the amount of approximately
HK$226,572,000 was determined based on its value-in-use
calculation. The material unobservable inputs of the
valuation included 1) cash flow projection based on a
financial budget covering a five year period approved by
management; 2) pre-tax discount rate of 15.21% per
annum for discounting the projected cash flows which
reflects the time value of money and the credit risk
specific to CGU 3; 3) forecast revenue during the five-year
projection period at growth rate ranging from -17% to 2%,
which reflect less demand for the services in earlier years in
the projection period but stable demand for the services in
later years within the five-year period; 4) forecast net profit
terminal rate at 2% beyond the five-year period. Other key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculation relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
gross margin and other expenses. After assessment,
impairment losses of approximately HK$61,488,000,
HK$13,992,000 and HK$50,859,000 on property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and goodwill were
recognised in profit or loss respectively as the carrying
amounts of these assets exceeded their recoverable
amounts as a result of the unfavourable results of the CGU
3. No impairment loss was recognised for the attributed
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2022 (see note
21).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of goodwill
before impairment loss and after impairment loss were
approximately HK$50,859,000 and Nil respectively for CGU
3!

Details of the pledge of property, plant equipment for bank
loans granted to the Group are disclosed in note 29 to the
consolidated statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

ZEFAS AR

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. W AHEERE

Building leased

forownuse  Land userights  Equipment Total
EfEBRZ
HERT THERE B3 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL Fhx Fhx
As at 1 January 2022 RZE--F—-F—H 733,537 40,383 - 773,920
Additions (Note 37) ANE (MEs7) 405,022 - 314,416 719,438
Depreciation charged FEMS (65,800) (848) - (66,648)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) & —FEM B2 R (Ki:E34) (188,690) - - (188,690)
Exchange realignment B X R (68,025) (3,153) (9,540) (80,718)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZEZZ&+ZA=+-HR
1 January 2023 “Z-=%-A-H 816,044 36,382 304,876 1,157,302
Additions NE 20,092 - 15,877 35,969
Depreciation charged FERS (78,463) (805) - (79,268)
Lease modification HEBH (16,265) - - (16,265)
Exchange realignment P AR (16,226) (1,023) (8,744) (25,993)
Impairment loss WEBR (568,622) - (243695  (812,317)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=f+-A=t-H 156,560 34,554 68,314 259,428
Notes: (TEE

1.

For both years, the Group leases buildings for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms
of 2 years to 22 years (2022: 7 months to 22 years), but
may have extension and termination options as described
below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of
the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group has extension and/or termination option in
leases for buildings used for own use. This is used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the
assets used in the Group’s operations. The extension
and termination options held are exercisable only by
the Group and not by the lessor. The Group reassessed
whether it was reasonably certain to exercise an extension
or termination option upon the occurrence of either a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of the lessee. No addition to lease
liability of the Group regarding to the extension and/or
termination option was recognised during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3.

In addition, the Group is the registered owner of a piece
of leasehold land where one of the data centre projects is
primarily located. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire this property interest. According to the Real
Estate Right Certificate, the land is designated for industrial
use and the term of use is from 18 January 2017 to 27
January 2067. According to the land grant contract, the
land can be renewed upon expiration with the consent
of the land grantor, the Heshan City Bureau of Land and
Resources; and the land is intended for an industrial project
focusing on data processing and storage services.

At 31 December 2023, the Group is committed to
HK$130,000 (2022 HK$13,000) for short-term and low-
value leases.

The total cash outflow for leases amount to
HK$203,593,000 (2022: HK$94,845,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has expenses related to short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets of HK$595,000 (2022:
HK$863,000) during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Further details of the impairment assessment of the right-
of-use assets are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

19. GOODWILL 19. B2
HK$’000
FHT
Cost R
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—_F—F—H 415,285
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) & — R E AR (MiFEs4) (28,942)
Exchange realignment bE 3 32 (32,694)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 N-ZE-—F#+-HA=+—H8B K
—E-=F—H—H 353,649
Exchange realignment ME M S (10,000)
As at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_"A=+—H 343,649
Accumulated impairment 2t RE
As at 1 January 2022 W—ZE-——#—HA—H 299,238
Impairment loss recognized for the year FABEERREEE 36,246
Exchange realignment ME W S (32,694)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2028 R-_ZE_-_—_F+-_A=+—08kK
—E-=F—HF—H 302,790
Impairment loss recognized for the year FREERBEGRE 50,859
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B (10,000)
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ_=F+=-H=+—H 343,649
Carrying values REE
As at 31 December 2023 R_TE_=F+-HA=+—H -
As at 31 December 2022 R-_ZT_—_F+-A=+—H 50,859

The carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated
impairment losses) allocated to these units are as follows:

BEZKREE (MK RFRERSR) D
FEETHIEL:

2023 2022
—E== —E-_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development ERE/EREERFR A
Company Limited (“CGU 1”) ([REEEEMN]) - -
Guangzhou Zitou EMEHR - 50,859
- 50,859
Note: B 5
() Included in the carrying amounts of goodwill were amounts () EEEEERINES (===

of nil (2022: nil) and nil (2022: HK$50,859,000) attributed
to CGU 1 and CGU 3 respectively. Further details of
impairment assessment on goodwill for the year ended 31
December 2023 are disclosed in note 17 (2022: note 21) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BB E
Contracted and Lottery
Wireless uncontracted software Internet
network customers  development  Computer finance
Platform relationships system software License platform Total
FHEDESE YERH BB@
BEPETR 2EFBfE RERE  ERE4 FUR  ERYe @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FHET FEL FET TR TR FEL
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2022 RZ2--%-A—H 22,692 303,872 979 9,796 18,940 25,031 381,310
Exchange alignment S HRE (1,786) (23,923) (77) (771) (1,490) (1,971) (30,018)

As at 31 December 2022and ~ M=ZB-ZF+-A=+-HEK

1 January 2023 ZE-=f-f-H 20,906 279,949 902 9,025 17,450 23,060 351,292
Exchange alignment EHAE (591) (7,916) (26) (255) (493) (652) (9,933)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-A=1-8 20,315 272,033 876 8,770 16,957 22,408 341,359

Accumulated amortisation R BHEREE
and impairment

As at 1 January 2022 R-E--_%—-F—H 22,692 228,053 979 9,796 12,956 25,031 299,507
Charge for the year FRZH - 17,840 - - 1,588 - 19,428
Exchange alignment B3R (1,786) (23,929) ) @7y (490 (197 (30018)

As at 31 December 2022and ~ R=ZB--f+-A=1+-HR

1 January 2023 —E-=%-f-H 20,906 221,970 902 9,025 13,054 23,060 288,917
Charge for the year FRZE - 16,819 - - 1,588 - 18,407
Exchange alignment EiAg (591) 7.916) 26) (255) 493 652 (9,933
Impairment loss REBE - 26,022 - - 2,808 - 28,830
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-A=1-8 20,315 256,895 876 8,770 16,957 22,408 326,221
Carrying values BREE
As at 31 December 2023 RZB-=#+-fF=+-H - 15,138 - - - - 15,138
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--%+-A=1+-H - 57,979 - - 4,396 - 62,375
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

21.

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods:

Wireless network platform 5 years

Contracted and uncontracted 4-10 years
customer relationship

Lottery software development system 3 years

Computer software 3-5 years

License 5-10 years

Internet finance platform 5-10 years

Further details on the impairment assessment on intangible
assets are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment testing on goodwill as
set out in Note 19, it has been allocated to the following
groups of cash-generating units:

° Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited and its subsidiary attributed to CGU 1 (see
note 17)

o Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited and
its subsidiaries attributed to CGU 3 (see note 17)

In addition to goodwill, intangible assets, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets (including allocation
of corporate assets) that generate cash flows together
with related goodwill are also included in the respective
CGUs for the purpose of impairment assessment.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

(Continued)

CGU 1

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the recoverable
amount of CGU 1 as defined in note 17, which is
principally engaged in provision of data centre services,
was determined based on its value-in-use calculation.
The material unobservable inputs of the valuation included
1) cash flow projection based on a financial budget
covering a five year period approved by management;
2) pre-tax discount rate of 14.75% per annum for the
cash flow which reflects the time value of money and
the credit risk specific to the cash generating units; 3)
steady growth rate of 3% for cash flow beyond 5 year
which reflected the growth rate of relevant industry. The
key assumptions for the cash flow projection used in the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash
inflows/outflows during the five year projection period
which include budgeted sales and gross margin during the
projection period.

Based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer, the carrying amount of CGU 1
exceeded the recoverable amount. Thus, impairment
loss of approximately HK$36,246,000 on goodwill
which arose from the acquisition of Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited in 2015 had been
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 and no
impairment on the other assets of CGU 1 was considered
necessary.

If the discount rate was changed to 15.75%, while other
parameters remain constant, an impairment of other
assets in CGU 1 of HK$193,302,000 would be recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

21.

ra M HRERME
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A

For the year ended 31 December 2023 ;%

21.

22.

R EE

St A=t HIFE

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

(Continued)

CGU 3

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the recoverable
amount of CGU 3 as defined in note 17, which is
principally engaged in provision of data centre services,
has been determined based on its value-in-use calculation.
The material unobservable inputs of the valuation included
1) cash flow projection based on a financial budget
covering a five year period approved by management; 2)
pre-tax discount rate of 14.57% per annum for the cash
flows which reflects the time value of money and the credit
risk specific to the cash generating units; 3) steady growth
rate of 2% for cash flows beyond 5 year which reflects the
growth rate of relevant industry. The management believes
that any reasonable possible change in any of these
assumptions would cause the aggregate carrying amount
of CGU 3 to exceed aggregate recoverable amount of
CGU 3.

Based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer, the recoverable amount of CGU 3
exceeded the carrying amount and no impairment charge
was necessary.
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KEBEHEZ RERFHRYBEED
Eﬁ%mu% B8l 2) FEF14.57% HBR AT

ReRENMAR(ERVMERESRHEER
URBEELESEMNNEEEERR) :3)
5F A E)FF BB EE R2% (KR EA
BITEMIZRE) - BEREMRE W%
EMRR TN 2ETMEAEARESHEEER
ReELABMICARAEBRARSE

B3 AU E AR EE -
REBEBYEXGEMDENGERS

ﬁi?i%MﬁT%@%%tﬁ%E
B BEFIELRERE-

INVENTORIES 22. 78
2023 2022
—_=E_= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THE T FHET
Finished goods LUK o - 330
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ra M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 23. FEUWBR X

2023 2022

—E-=F ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHETT
Accounts receivable JE g BR 3R 215,760 174,860
Less: allowance for ECL B TEHEE R R (37,703) (27,931)
178,057 146,929

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days
(2022: 90 days) to its trade customers. The following is an
ageing analysis of accounts receivable, net of accumulated
allowance for ECL, presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period:

AEBEETHESEFPFHOA(ZF
—ZF:90R)MEEHR RIWEMKIR
BHEAH27) 7 BUIRR (KR AR
EEBBRRAEE) 2REITOT

2023 2022

—E2-= —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FET

Within 30 days 30H A 81,103 37,448
31 to 60 days 31£260H 21,345 8,658
61 to 90 days 61£290H 9,778 15,878
91 to 180 days 91£&180H 13,795 9,923
Over 180 days Hi®180H 52,036 75,022
178,057 146,929

Further details on Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from accounts receivable are set out in Note 6.

Details of the pledge of accounts receivable are disclosed
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRAKEEERRREREREE
SRR — S FHITEHNHT G -

ERARWERNER 2 FBREGE R
KUTFE2OIEE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 24, TETFRIA ~ R M E Ath B I
OTHER RECEIVABLES IR
2023 2022
—ZE_= g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Prepayment TERT IR 35,486 104,160
Value-added tax recoverable AT Y [B] 12 (E Fi 152,687 145,436
Deposits (Note 1) e (1) 70,375 136,949
Deposit paid for land use right MEHERESN 2 RS 20,000 20,000
Consideration receivable from the HE—MHERQRZ ER
disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) RAE (KI5E34) 194,861 200,531
Other receivables (Note 2) H A W sRIE (HI5E2) 54,604 49,156
528,013 656,232
Less: allowance for ECL BB EEEERG (114,178) (26,618)
413,835 629,614
Less: non-current portion B IEREE
Prepayment for property, W -BERREZTE
Plant and equipment RRIE (19,496) (76,849)
Current Portion mEE S 394,339 552,765

BRAAKRBEEERREZE REMBER
REELZEERRCE - BFBIARN

Further details on Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from deposits and other receivables are set out in

Note 6. I L6 ©
Notes: M5E -
(1) Balance mainly represented trade deposits for business (1) ZEBRIZEAXEBARRINES
engagements. Bee
(2)  Balance mainly represented current accounts with 2 ZEBETEEAREESERMER
customers for guarantee of business engagements. FPRAMERER -
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. e RIREFEY
2023 2022
—EB-=F —Eg=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FABT
Cash in hand and at bank FERRTES
HKD BIT 103 473
RVMB AR 27,139 17,130
UsD EI¥ 3 4
27,245 17,607
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20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and
balance with banks.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates ranged from
0.20% to 0.35% (2022: 0.25% to 0.38%) per annum at 31
December 2023.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies;
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Company is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through authorised banks to conduct foreign
exchange business.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

The following is an ageing analysis of accounts payable
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

25.

20.

oA MR R M A

R E—FEf A= —HIFFE

HeMlMReHEEBY @)

RekReSEYRETFRRE KIRT
KR

NRZE-_=FE+_A=+—8 174
BRIR T IS EF RN F0.20% £0.35% (=
T - -F:0.25% %0.38% )it B -

ARBTGERLBRBEMES A
AR A5 o B P 3t B 9 B e 3 AR D) % A B
EEMNEEERTE AAAEEEB
BRAEITIMEXEBMRITHARE L1k
REMER-

J& 1 B 3K

RBERARRER A R2 5|0 B IRR
MBRER DTN -

2023 2022

—_ 2= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FABT
Within 30 days 30H A 65,620 54,217
31 to 60 days 31£260H 35,987 9,387
61 to 90 days 61%290H 32,770 9,591
Over 90 days @0 H 92,305 56,244
226,682 129,439

The average credit period on purchases of goods is
90 days (2022: 90 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables
are settled within the credit timeframe.

BEEmMTHEERARWA(ZF
—Z%:90R) - AKEC FIEHHER
BEBEK BAREEHRANESHE
e 5KIR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—_F-_=—Ff-A=1—HIFFEF

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

() OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. H A B SRR K ERTRIE,
BHAE

() HeESFERETRE

2023 2022
—_E2-= —=E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FHET

Deposits received from sales and HEMMHER SR
lease transactions* e 112,964 116,251
Other payables** H b A< 3RIE 479,229 244,587
Accruals FEET B 25,898 19,850
618,091 380,688

Less: non-current portion B IERB S

Other payables Ho b e - 5RI8 (8,159) (3,251)
Current portion mENE D 614,932 377,437

*k

The deposit primarily arises from a disposal
transaction of property, plant and equipment
where the asset transfer was incomplete as at
31 December 2023. The Group entered into a
finance leaseback agreement during the year
ended 31 December 2023. As the legal transfer
of ownership for the underlying asset remains
pending, in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases,
the consideration received has been recognized as
Deposits Received in the consolidated statement of
financial position and classified as a liability.

Balance mainly represented other advance to the
Group, retention payable and construction cost
payable. Included in the balance of other payables
was an amount of RMB2,886,000 (equivalent to
HK$3,164,000 (2022: RMB4,941,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,574,000)) that represented consideration from
purchasers for the disposal of certain properties held
by the Group which was not completed at the end
of the reporting period. Details of the transaction are
disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

* ZREEERE-IEVE -KE
MEBEERS HEEEEZR
RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H
MATK - AEEBRBE-F
=+ - A=+-—HBIEE
FIERARNRE RS HEE
MEEZEEMABEESZNAF
TR RIBEEBM B REERNE
165 E T TR ERERE
BBRREANERBE WL S -
WHEEE-

o ZEBREBHEHEMBENTASE
ERRIE EAHRESRENE
SRR o H A B FRIE A SR P
BE AR2.886,0005T (HE
©3,164,0008 L) (=T ==
& AR#4,941,0007T (FHER
5,574,000 7T) ) it T E R
EEBENETYWEZEAR
B HEXSRMEHERHKRT
o R P HBHANEGEE M ERE
B 5E36 °
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ra M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

27. Hib e E K et I8
BHEE @

(I CONTRACT LIABILITIES nm &H&aE

2023 2022
—E=-= Tz
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FAT
Amounts received in advance in REEEMEMRERELS
relation to trading of SERRBER &8
telecommunication products and (FMF3E)
system integration services (Note) 5,288 20,669
Note: When the customer initially purchases the goods and Mizx: EXPUSHEERmERS

WA TR TR - AEERE
REENZZHEERERRE
NEBEEEDRAEPRNE
an M AR AR 75 o

services and paid in advance, the transaction price
received at that point by the Group is recognised as
contract liability until the goods and services have
been delivered or rendered to the customer.

TRIVRARE MRERER 2 S
HEEANBEZHEREE &
RAREREBEREFMEEFD
ERBENBTBEBERE -

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current reporting period relates
to carried-forward contract liabilities. There was no
revenue recognised in the current reporting period
that related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in a prior year.

The Group’s revenue recognised that was included REBRBYIEHMRZTAEGRN

in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of BEEBZWE:
the period:
2023 2022
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
As at 1 January R—A—H 20,669 59,673
Consideration arising from deposits ARERRBIZSEE
of system integration services ZRE 5,329 1,350
Revenue recognised that was included ¥zt A& X B & 456
in the contract liabilities balance ) B R M 5
at the beginning of the year (20,241) (36,735)
Exchange realignment bE W = (469) (3,619
As at 31 December R e ] 5,288 20,669
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HE A E

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities as at the current
reporting period:

TRINTRARERE AEEHER
BB TANERS:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
“E-=f+ZHA=t-H ZECCHEtTZA=t-H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum lease  minimum lease minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments payments payments
BEHE BEHE REEE REHEE
MEBRE RIEBE FIEBRE TIREE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TR TR
Within 1 year —FR 256,992 339,136 317,463 432,333
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRBERER 61,776 133,280 56,659 138,991
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERFA 226,602 408,972 210,740 425,465
After 5 years AF#E 619,302 771,376 723,099 945,941
907,680 1,313,628 990,498 1,510,397
1,164,672 1,652,764 1,307,961 1,942,730
Less: total future interest expenses B RRFEATBE (488,092) (634,769)
Present value of lease obligations (note) ~ fEETRE (M) 1,164,672 1,307,961

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 3.50 % to 10.13 % (2022:
4.76% to 9.68%).

Note:

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had lease liabilities of
approximately HK$200,409,000 (2022: HK$262,368,000), which
was related to the leased equipment included in right-of-use
assets under finance lease arrangement with net book value of
approximately HK$67,178,000 (2022: HK$304,876,000). The
lease term is 4 years. Interest rate underlying the lease liabilities is
5.90% (2022: 5.95 %). No arrangement has been entered into for
contingent rental payments.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

JERRTE & EM IR T EE & RF
KA F350% £1013% (ZE ==
4.76% £9.68% ) °

Wi :

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—B XA&EEE
AHE B E4£200,409,0008 L (ZE ==
:262,368,000%8 t) - HMm A HE LB
BTEABEEMREMHEREERH
BR V% (B 4967,178,0008 7L (— T = — 4
304,876,000/ 70) B A4F - THEBEM
MK A590% (T = -4 :595%) °
W mET A AT S K= HE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ra M HRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

28. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had lease liabilities of
approximately HK$898,961,000 (2022: 969,730,000), which
was related to the leased buildings and equipment included
in right-of-use assets under sale and lease back arrangement
with carrying amount of approximately HK$71,447,000 (2022:
HK$746,634,000). The lease term is 22 years. Interest rate
underlying the lease liabilities are ranged from 8.24 % to 9.68%
(2022: 8.24 % to 9.68%). No arrangement has been entered
into for contingent rental payments. During the lease term,
the Group holds a right of first refusal over the related leased
assets in accordance with the lease agreements. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has paid approximately
HK$123,641,000 (2022: HK$126,580,000) related to those
leases.

28. HE B E )

BeE: (&)

NRZB-=F+-_A=+—B A&£E@HE
AT E B E%898,961,000 T (=T — —
£ :969,730,000 70) - EHERBHELTH T
FREEEMREMAEEFLLEER
BE T (E 471,447,000 T (Z B = — 4 :
746,634,000/ 70) - M B Ao2F - FHEB &
B M B F R F8.24% £9.68% (—FE— —
F:8.24% £9.68% ) o W] L A A
SNRLH-BERAEHE AEENHEEH
NEEBHELEAEELBEE -RES
TS+ A=+ HIEFER K&
EE xS M E R 4123,641,000/ 7T (=
= — — 4 :126,580,000/ 7T ) °

Analysed for reporting purpose as: MIEMS 29

2023 2022
:g: = —_=__

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Current liabilities mEEE 256,992 317,463
Non-current liabilities EMEBAE 907,680 990,498
1,164,672 1,307,961
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #7 —F — =4+~ H=+—HIFF/ZF

29. BORROWINGS 29. 155
2023 2022
—EBE-=F —=E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 TExT T
Bank loans RITER
Short-term bank borrowing, R ERIRTTIE SR - I
unsecured and guaranteed KB ER 1 10,962 11,281
Current portion of bank loans, IRITERBEE S
secured and guaranteed BHEMEE ?ﬂ% 2
- repayable within one year —HBR—FAEE 211,128 69,378
- repayable after one year which —BR—FRBEE
contain a repayment on (BEREX
demand clause BEIET) 260,649 477,756
Current portion of bank loans, RITEFENERE S
unsecured and guaranteed ﬁ%fﬁ#ﬁ RBER 3
— repayable within one year AR—FNEE 2,192 2,256
— repayable after one year which /,\E’\ FlaER
contain a repayment on (BEREX
demand clause BEET) 8,770 9,025
Current portion of bank loans, RITERBNEE 5 -
secured and unguaranteed BHERREER 4
— repayable after one year which —BAR—FREE
contain a repayment on (BEREX
demand clause BEIET) 10,962 -
Total bank loans RITERER 504,663 569,696
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023  E; %

29. BORROWINGS (continued)

ra M HRERME

St A=1—HIFE

29. B (@)

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —=E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FAT
(Restated)
(&%)
Other loans Hi &N
Short-term other borrowing, EHE M E R EIK T
unsecured and unguaranteed N EER 38,367 -
Current portion of other loans, Hih S BNERE >
secured and guaranteed %i%ﬁ?ﬁli%ﬁﬁ*ﬁ% 5,8
— repayable within one year — BN —FAE; 94,511 91,757
— repayable after one year which —BR—F1&E]
contain a repayment on (& /.:\.}izzzif%f
demand clause BIGR) 126,366 227,424
Current portion of other loans, HaERENHEAE S
unsecured and unguaranteed R R mER
— repayable within one year — AR —FNEE 44,243 38,829
— repayable after one year which —BR—FREE
contain a repayment on (BEREX
demand clause BE BN - -
Total other loans Hih B 4EEE 303,487 358,010
Total borrowings EESGE 808,150 927,706
Notes: BisE
1) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s short-term bank 1) RIZZE_=F+ZA=+—H K&
loan was guaranteed by (i) Mr. WANG Kun (“Mr. Wang”), EMEHRRTERB)EHEE (X
who is the legal representative and a director of certain SE| AEEBETHBELREEER
subsidiaries of the Group and a substantial shareholder FRAREERZENBRAIZ—M=E
of one of these subsidiaries; and (i) Ms. TAO Huigin (“Ms. BRE) R TEEZEBHEEDL
Tao”), spouse of Mr. Wang. T (&L ])ER.
2)  As at 31 December 2023, the secured bank loans of 2) RZEBEZ=F+=ZA=+—H"
approximately HK$471,777,000 (2022: HK$547,134,000) #1471,777,0008 T (—Z T — — £ :
are guaranteed by Dr. Lie Haiquan and secured by 547,134,000 7T) M B WM IRITE K
the pledge of certain property, plant and equipment HRYEEETER IAREEERR
of the Group with net book value of approximately FEX AB74,146,0008 L (T = =
HK$74,146,000 (2022: HK$167,766,000) (note (17)) and 4 : 167,766,000 7T ) B T ¥ % B
certain properties of companies substantially owned by Dr. ERZE2ER (MEA7) A RHE
Lie Haiquan. BETEZERA 2R 7%%?%%1@
A o
As at 31 December 2023, a bank loan of approximately RZTEZ_=F+ZA=+—HB'4
HK$4,450,000 (2022: Nil) was guaranteed by Mr. Wang 4,450, 000,%71( T ZFE)BER
and Ms. Tao and secured by the pledge of property owned TEXRBERE &5’7 TR A
by Ms. Tao. Bﬁﬁi%ﬁm%%zgﬁfﬁfﬁﬁ
3) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the secured bank 3 RZ-ZTEZ=FR-ZF-_=-_F+=A

loans are guaranteed by Dr. Lie Haiquan and Mr. Wang.

=+—B BERBTERHIER
BEREEEER-
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29. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

4) As at 31 December 2023, a bank loan is secured by
the pledge of certain properties, plant and equipment
of the Group with net book value of approximately
HK$17,789,000 (2022: Nil) (note (17)).

5) As at 31 December 2023, other loans are guaranteed
by Dr. Lie Haiquan and secured by the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with net book value of approximately
HK$225,888,000 (2022: HK$491,741,000) (note (17)),
accounts receivable with carrying value of approximately
HK$24,751,000 (2022: HK$54,982,000) (note 23) and
equity interest of one of the subsidiaries of the Group.

6) All of the borrowings of the Group are denominated in
RMB.

7) As at 31 December 2023, the borrowings of the Group
bear interest ranging from 3.5% to 13% (2022: 3.8% to
8.0%) per annum.

8) To better manage the Group’s working capital and financing
needs, the Group has entered into sale and leaseback
arrangements in relation to its equipment. These legal
transfers do not satisfy the requirements of a sale under
HKFRS 15. As at 31 December 2023, the Group has
other loans of approximately HK$220,877,000 (2022:
HK$319,181,000) in respect of such sale and leaseback
arrangements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s banking
facilities were approximately HK$1,539,558,000
(2022: HK$1,568,059,000), of which approximately
HK$499,182,000 (2022: HK$569,696,000) had been
utilised as at the end of the reporting period. Included
in the Group’s banking facilities were the amounts
of HK$175,392,000 (2022: HK$11,281,000) and
HK$1,364,166,000 (2022: HK$1,556,778,000), which
represented short-term banking facilities in one-year period
and long-term banking facilities in more than one-year
period respectively. The banking facilities represented loan
facilities granted by certain banks for both years.
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29. B (@)

BeE: (&)

49 RZTZ=%F + A=+—8"
—ERTERUAEEREEFED
17789000,%75(f5ﬁf*¢1?ﬁ¥)ﬂ’\]
BETYE - BEREHZEW (HE
(7)) EE AR -

5 RZIZE-_=ZF+-A=+—H Hft
ERBEEELER YUARER
BR ¥ {E 4 5225,888,000/8 7T (=
T = F 491,741,000 T) Y
¥ BmEMRE(HEFA7) EREE
49 /24,751, OOO}afE(—v——ﬂz
54,982,000/ 7T ) B9 & Y BR 3k (BY 5%
23) RAEBHE R —RHMHE QR HK
TR -

6) MEARERTHUAAREE-

7 R-IZE-_=F+-A=+t—H K&
B EROFEFEE3LE% E13% (=F
T :38%E8.0%) °

8 ATBEIFHEREAELEENLELES
FRERR AEBERERBIT
E®EALYE- axiA/ﬂT ELFA

EEV KRS EREISHLEN
ioﬁé:?:5¢+:ﬁz+ S[p
m%lﬁaazz = émﬂzz%m%ﬂz,\

K #1220,877,0008 T (=T = =
319 181,000/ 7T) °

%D> H k>

S

—E-=ZF+=-_AR=Z=+—H"' K
SERITHME R L1,5639,558,000/%
T (ZZ = —%:1,568,059,000/
JT) - H e #)499,182,0008 L (=&
— — % :569,696,000/ L) B R E
HABE -FTALAEERTHRENS
%8175,392,0008 Lt (=& = =
11,281,000/ 7T ) &.1,364,166,0007% JT
(ZZ = —4:1,556,778,00078 7t ) 7 7
A—FHEHRTRER—FHU LR
HSRITRLE ~RTTRE AMF N E TR
TRENERRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

29. BORROWINGS (continued)

The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and the maturities of the
Group’s borrowings at the end of the respective reporting
period (i.e. ignoring the effect of any repayment on
demand clause) are shown below:

29. B (&)

REREHR BEERBEZAHTET
ERHHEAEEEFNIBANGE
(2R EMBZREREZEERNTE)
WA

30.

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FAT
Amounts of bank loans that are repayable: 7B T ZIHAR E &K ERTT
BEXReR:
— within 1 year —1FR 224,283 82,915
— between 1 and 2 years — 152 85,010 217,836
— between 2 and 5 years —2&54F 195,370 218,099
— beyond 5 years —5F M E - 50,846
Total bank loans SR1T & RABE 504,663 569,696
Amounts of other loans that are repayable: 7B FHIHAREE 8 E it
BEXRER:
— within 1 year —1F R 177,121 130,586
— between 1 and 2 years — 152 93,084 97,543
— between 2 and 5 years —2&54F 33,282 108,026
— beyond 5 years —5F Ak - 21,855
Total other loans HEmEREsE 303,487 358,010
Total borrowings R 808,150 927,706

DEFERRED TAXATION

30. BT A

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the

WREAMBRARAZIIME & T
BEREMBEENAGBCEREHE -UT
SRRV HE2HRENZELERALRD

analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

17

purposes:
2023 2022
—g2=-= —_ZE=—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FHET
(Restated)
(e&E5)
Deferred tax assets EIETRIE & B - 4,738
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIE B E (63,783) (295,379)
(63,783) (290,641)
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) EAERLTA ()

AT ARENRBEFENERRY
SECHEAERAERLED:

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and
assets recognised and movements thereon during the
current and prior years:

Fair value
adjustments
Right-of-use Lease ECL on business
assets liabilities provision combination Total
BHEE EBAHN
CHEEE HESE BERE LTERER @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THL THT
As at 1 January 2022 (as originally stated) R-Z=—F—A—H
(REFHI) (41,589) 45,032 3,202 (20,451) (13,806)
Effect of amendments to HKAS 12 BEHERE12HR 2
B A2 (119,506) (45,032) - - (164,538)
As at 1 January 2022 (as restated) R-ZE-_—%—F—H
(=5) (161,095) - 3,202 (20,451) (178,344)
(Charged)/credited to consolidated (MKrE) /5 ﬁ)\i aAEx
statement of profit or loss and REMZEKE
other comprehensive income (Note 11) (FizE11) (164,672) - 1,844 4,857 (157,971)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) HE—[MEAR
(BisE34) 28,302 - - - 28,302
Exchange realignment i 5 2% 17,680 - (308) - 17,372
As at 31 December 2022 (as restated) R-ZBE-—%+4+-A
and 1 January 2023 =+-B(KEI R
—E-=4-f-H (279,785) - 4,738 (15504)  (290,641)
Credited/(charged) to consolidated HPNVACII=DESS
statement of profit or loss and TE SR EMEE
other comprehensive income (Note 11) mx (M)
Current year ZKEF 220,526 - - 4,857 225,383
Reversal of opening deferred tax assets B f& & 4 6 H MR IR B
resulting from reassessment BERD = (4,738) = (4,738)
Exchange realignment XA 6,213 - - - 6,213
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+ZA
=t+-H (53,046) - - (10,737) (63,783)
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses arising in PRC of approximately
HK$428,843,000 (2022: HK$243,383,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits (one to ten years for new and high technology
enterprise). In contrast, tax losses arising in Hong Kong
of approximately HK$38,175,000 (2022: HK$71,917,000)
may be carried forward indefinitely. At 31 December
2023 and 2022, the Group has deductible temporary
differences unrecognised amounted to approximately
HK$2,034,756,000 (2022 (restated): HK$634,748,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 15% is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by the PRC subsidiaries. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statement in
respect of temporary difference attributable to the profits
amounted to approximately HK$330,456,000 (2022:
HK$215,325,000) earned by the PRC subsidiaries as
the Group is able to control the timing of reversal at the
temporary difference and it is probable that will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

0. EEFLTE ()

RBERAR AEERFRHEEN KD
FE L IB B5 18 A #9428,843,000/8 T (=&
— T4 :243,383,0008 L) R — =
FFRNEIE A SRR ERB R A (=
FEMtER—Z=E+FNRN) MR
RE S E A /T8 E5 18 A £938,175,000
BT (ZZT = —F:71,917,000/8 7T) 7]
ERPLE NS _—FR T —
F+-_A=Z+—R AEEBEEAER
A A1 8 B 2= 58 492,084,756,000% JT
(ZZ == (& FE5) 1 634,748,0007%8
TL) R A AIRE B AT R E R EFE A
HIMHERTEF) Y |tz F a0
BE R EARERECRIEEE-

BRIBEFEPEMGEE REKE AR
A mh H R ER A & B BT E R B AR B A AR
15% T o 1 A 72N 58 [ B 5 172 ) B B
MR AL TR EERA
BETEIER RARERE MW ERSE
A ANEEPENE R R RGN
i K 49330,456,0008 T (ZE = =
215,325,000/ 7T ) FE1h & 5 1 = 5B E
IEFETLIB A
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31 SHARE CAPITAL 31. Bg7R
Par value Number of
per share shares Amount
BREAE B &E Ex-]
HKS$ HK$'000
BT FAT
Authorised: JETE
As at 1 January 2022, R-B--f#—-A—H"
31 December 2022, ZB-ZF+=8
1 January 2023 and =+—-B-ZEZ=%
31 December 2023 —A—-HERZZZ-=%
+=A=+-—H 0.1 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE:
As at 1 January 2022, R-ZE--%—-A—-H"
31 December 2022, —B--F+=8
1 January 2023 and =+—-HB-ZE==
31 December 2023 —A-BR=%==
+=-B=+-—H 0.1 9,522,184,345 952,218
32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 32. AR HEET 2

The Company’s share option scheme adopted on 19
December 2012 expired on 18 December 2022. No new
share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
thereafter.

No share options were outstanding as at 31 December
2022.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

3. MEEIAELEZBEY

R

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities THRASAEERETSAELEZAR
arising from financing activities, including both cash 2E) pREReIIIRFEH -MEF
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing FMEAZABRNDABRERERIG KA
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future eRERAEEGERERERDEAR

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

KERMERBREGREZBE-

Borrowings  Lease liabilities Total
B HERE @it
(Note 29) (Note 28)
GEZE) (KiEE28)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx AT AL
As at 1 January 2022 W-ZE-—#—-F—H 1,841,800 867,537 2,709,337
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE
Borrowings raised BEEVER 23,268 - 23,268
Repayment of borrowings BRER (588,255) - (588,255)
Repayment of leas liabilities BEREAE - (94,845) (94,845)
Interest paid BRFIE (74,114) (66,071) (140,185)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BVER & REZEN B (639,101) (160,916) (800,017)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34) P& KB LA (HizE34) (021,252 (198,888) (420,140)
Finance costs (Note 10) BB (Hf10) 74,114 66,071 140,185
New leases nHE - 824,490 824,490
Exchange realignment ERAE (127,855) (90,339) (218,188)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZZE-_F+-A=+—HRK
1 January 2023 “Z-=f£—-f—H 927,706 1,307,961 2,235,667
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE
Borrowings raised EEVER 93,134 K 93,134
Repayment of borrowings BERER (189,173) N (189,173)
Repayment of lease liabilities BRHERR - (118,086) (118,086)
Interest paid EAFIE (86,851) (84,912) (171,763)
Total changes from financing cash flows BB &R EZ B @ (182,890) (202,998) (385,388)
Lease modification MEEE] - (17,408) (17,408)
Finance costs (Note 10) BEMA (HFE10) 86,851 84,912 171,763
New leases HHE - 17,891 17,891
Exchange realignment I i, 382 (23,517) (25,686) (49,203)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-A=1+-8H 808,150 1,164,672 1,972,822
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34. LEMB LA

HERHER ORI RBER
BiARAT ([H3])

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

DISPOSAL OF ZHONG XIN SAI

ER (SHENZHEN) NETWORK
COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY
COMPANY LIMITED (“ZHONG XIN”)

On 13 March 2023, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary RZEZ=F=A+=0 A2 a—HE
of the Company entered into a sales and purchase ME2ENBARF] —HEEHEMN
agreement to dispose of its 100% interest in Zhong HEERPIH 22D -REME
Xin. Pursuant to the agreement, the purchaser has B ERENUREARE10,000,0007T
agreed to purchase the sale shares at a consideration (#911,430,0007 7T ) 8 B $5 & M 0 o
of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately THEZXBAVFEHEHE - HEFER
HK$11,430,000). The principal activity of Zhong Xin is HE_ZT-_="F4+_A=1+—HILFE
leasing of properties. The disposal was completed during N5ER °

the year ended 31 December 2023.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of Zhong Xin is as HERFoZERENT

follows:

HK$’000
T
Property, plant and equipment Y B KA 11,995
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables AR 2e R H M EREIE 3,488
Cash and cash equivalents ReELREEFEY 20
Other payables and accruals b S 508 R FEET RUR (10,344)
Net assets disposed of Frh &z EEFHE 5,159
Gain on disposal of subsidiary: HEMB ARz W

Cash consideration received BEUERERE 11,430
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal o R ERBRIE K (1,258)
Net assets disposed of FrtECEEFSH (5,159)
5,013

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEFHEEL 2RSSR AERE:
Cash consideration ReRE 11,430
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FIEEZRERASEED (20)
11,410
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Gontinued)

DISPOSAL OF INSIGNIFICANT
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
disposed of its equity interests in various insignificant
subsidiaries to independent third parties. The effect of the

34. BEWEB AT (&)

HEFREKXHWE QT

BE T _=F+-_A=+—8I#F
B -AEEMBYFEF - HFHELRHIEE
NN g Rk S PN
BEABRGER ZENT :

disposal on the equity attributable to the owners of the

Company are as follows:

HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment M WEREE 5
Inventories BE 258
Accounts receivable JE W BR 3R 205
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables FENRIE - e R H M EREIE 8,990
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFEEEY 11
Accounts payable JETER X (82)
Other payables and accruals A FE A SR8 I FE ET IR (5,517)
Net assets disposed of FrbE 2 BE T8 3,870
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR 2 W
Consideration received B E 3,905
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal R RR IE A 184
Net assets disposed of & BE SR (3,870)
219
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HESFEEL RSB AEE:
Consideration received B E 3,905
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FIHEsRERREEEY (11)
3,894

Annual Report 2023 —E - = £} 225



226

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 £ 7 —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

DISPOSAL OF SHENZHEN ZITUO YUNQI
TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED
(“SHENZHEN ZITUO”)

On 10 March 2022, (i) Shenzhen Pengyu Data Technology
Co., Ltd* CRIIBEH BUR B AR A7) (“Pengyu’); (i)
GDS (Shanghai) Investment Co., Ltd.* (& ( £)8) &
AR A 7)) (“GDS (Shanghai)’); (i) EDSUZ (HK) Limited
(“EDSUZ"); (iv) Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company
Limited, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company; (v) Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development
Company Limited (“Bluesea Mobile”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (vi) Mr. Wang;
and (vii) Shenzhen Zituo Yungi Technology Company
Limited* GRIIT E R ERE AR 2 5)) (“Shenzhen
Zituo”), an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to
which Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited
conditionally agreed to sell and Pengyu conditionally
agreed to purchase the entire equity interest in
Shenzhen Zituo at a total consideration of approximately
RMB462,760,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$538,375,000) (the “Zituo Disposal”). Bluesea
Mobile and Mr. Wang agreed to provide warranties and
undertakings in relation to Shenzhen Zituo under the Sale
and Purchase Agreement and EDSUZ and GDS (Shanghai)
agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of Pengyu
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

The principal activity of Shenzhen Zituo is provision of data
centre services. The Zituo Disposal was completed during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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VEERSE([EEMZE]) Bt BM
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Gontinued)

DISPOSAL OF SHENZHEN ZITUO YUNQI
TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

(“SHENZHEN ZITUO”) (Continued)

Summary of the effects of the disposal of Shenzhen Zituo

is as follows:

34. BEWEB AT (&)

HERITEREXRERR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & —F— =&+ —H=+—H I F/ZF

am (GRINEHR]D) (@

HERINEHZ

mEWT:

HK$'000
FHET
(Restated)
(L&E5))
Property, plant and equipment VI WS KRR 548,631
Right-of-use assets HRAEEE 188,690
Goodwill [ 28,942
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables AR 2 e R H M EREIE 5,838
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 6,874
Other payables and accruals b FE A SR8 & FEET IR (57,445)
Borrowings B (221,252)
Lease liabilities HEaE (198,888)
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEEE (28,302)
Net assets disposed of FrtECEEFH 273,088
Gain on disposal of subsidiary: HENB AR Z W :

Cash consideration received and receivable YRS KB R EWKIE 538,375
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal B R AR RR OE W AR 514
Non-controlling interests FEIEIRIE & (46,141)
Net assets disposed of & BEFRE (273,088)
219,660

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEFHEELECRESRAFRE:
Cash consideration HeRE 538,375
Consideration receivable (Note 24) FEWARAE (MI5E24) (200,581)
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FIHEsRERREEEY (6,874)
330,970
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. & ANEIE
2023 2022
—E_-=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Commitments contracted for but BRANTSEEETNER
not provided in the consolidated RirE B mEREN
financial statements in respect of PR
— Property, plant and equipment —ME WENEE 407,457 412,865
36. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 36. FIEHEEE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into agreements for the disposal of certain
properties located in Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data
Centre at an aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB4,941,000 (equivalent to HK$5,574,000) (Note
27(l)). The consideration has been fully received from the
purchasers. Hence, for financial reporting purposes, such
properties were reclassified to “Assets held for sale” in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the
properties, pending for transfer of ownership title, was
approximately RMB2,886,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,164,000).

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$17,891,000 and 17,891,000(2022: HK$6,133,000
and HK$6,133,000), respectively, in respect of operating
lease arrangement for building leased for own use; and
non-cash additions right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$15,877,000 and HK$nil (2022:
HK$314,416,000 and HK$314,416,000) in respect of
finance lease arrangements for equipment.

In addition, the Group has recognized right-of-use
assets of approximately HK$nil (2022: HK$398,889,000)
and corresponding lease liabilities of approximately
HKS$nil (2022: HK$503,941,000) in respect of a sales
and leaseback arrangement during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2023 are as follows:

37.

38.

TEFRERS

FRN AEBEREEEERZEFL
EHELHBETREEENRTEES
BZIERESRE D A AH17,891,000/%8
T M&17,891,0008 0 (=T = — 4

6,133,000/% 7T 526,133,000/ 7t ) : & 5L
HREREHETHREFERBREERE
EBBEZIIRERNEL H15,877,000%
TREB T (ZF = =4 314,416,000
77T 314,416,000/ 7T ) °

o REE-—E-—=F+-_f=+—
BIEFEE AEBORERHEE TR
REREEENT AL (ZT__F:
398,889,000 L) RAEEHEEABNT
By (ZZ = —% :508,941,000/& T ) °

8 2 A

FEMBRARRZ-_ZE_=F+=_A
Tt BZE@EERINT

Nominal value Nominal value of Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ of authorised paid up issued equity attributable
Name of subsidiary registration and business share capital share capital to the Company Principal activities
WEARER HfEY/ ERREELY EERAEE CHRNERORAEE A0AEGRERAL FEER
Directly  Indirectly
EE B

Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development PRC, limited liability company RMBG687,000,000 RMBG685,000,000 - 100%  Provision of data centre services

Company Limited (Note 1)
EREBLHERERAR (W1 hE BRELLT AE¥687,000,0007% 685,000,007 - 100%  RAEEEDLRE
Guangdong Bluesea Data Development Company  PRC, limited liability company RMB595,000,000 RMB595,000,000 - 100%  Provision of data centre services

Limited
EREBHEERERAR BB BREEAA A& #595,000,0007 AR#595,000,0007C - 100%  REHERORE
Guangzhou Yizi Internet Technology Co., Ltd PR, limited liability company RMB60,000,000 RMB29,700,000 = 54%  Provision of data centre services
BN REEREHBERAR BB BREALT A %60,000,0007C K %29,700,0007C - 8%  REHERORE
Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 RMB2,500,000 - 60%  Provision of data centre services
BMmEAREARAA HE BREAAF A %100,000,0007 AR 2,500,000 - 60%  REHERORE
Shanghai Yunting Information Technology PRC, limited liability company RMB60,000,000 RMB37,060,000 - 60%  Provision of data centre services

Company Limited
LERTREHRARAR P8 EREALT B #60,000,0007C AKH37,060,0007C - 60%  RESERORE
Guangdong Avatar Wealth Investment PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 RMB10,000,000 = 70%  Operation of Internet finance platform

Management Company Limited business
EXMAZHEREERARAA HE AREEAT AR 50,000,000 AR%10,000,0007T - 0% 2ETRBLRTAZHS
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the years or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

1. A subsidiary, Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development
Company Limited, is controlled through certain structured
arrangements (“Structured Arrangements”), for details of
the Structured Arrangements, please refer to Note 39.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that
have material non-controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned

Statements

38. MY B~ Al ()

EREIARBZMBAR EFERR
ZENBARUASBEARFRE 2 ¥E
ETEFEYARAKREEEFEZE
EHN -EERR WHINEMHBER
AzHBRTREBEN TR

GEE
1. EBETAMLES ((REERE)
Tz HBAR RRE I EES

B BRGEBEREZFAE #F2
BB FE39 ©

BREERFERERNAKEIFZEK
BRRIMFE:

TREFFEAERFERE RN A EE

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling 2 EMBRRIMFES
interests:

Place of Proportion

Incorporation and ownership interests and  Profit/(Loss) for the year Total comprehensive

principal place of voting rights held by allocated to income/(loss) allocated to  Accumulated non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interest non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests interests
WELREE ERAIEH FERERRAZER AREFERES 2 AREFERERZ

REZTEXMY BEERRRERAL FREH/ (F8) 2EUE/ (FR)4E Rt ERER

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
(restated) (restated) (restated)
“B-=f -T--F CZBCZf -T-- “B-=f -T--F CZBCZfE -F-C
(BE5) (&&31) (&&30)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TAT TR FET TiER Tin
Guangdong Avator Wealth Investment PRC 30% 30% 95 17 (462) (1,565) 15,157 15,619
Management Company Limited
ERMAEHEREERARAA e
Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited ~ PRC 40% 40% (58,089) 55,863 (59,483) 56,914 11,448 70,931
ENTERMRBRAR HE
Shanghai Yunting Information Technology PRC 40% 40% (18,659) 2,128 (19,041) 657 (467) 18,574
Company Limited

LERTERRNERAR P
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with 2,946 13,227

non-controlling interests

FARFEREG 2 R EARBAR

29,084 118,351
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. I8 A Al (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of each of BEEAEERETNAEEZHBA
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling RN ERBZSHT T - LA TR B
interests is set out below. The summarised financial BEARNBEREEANARBEHEITN S
information below represents amounts before intra-group Ko
eliminations.
Guangdong Avator Wealth Investment Management BRANENEREEERRATE

Company Limited

2023 2022
(restated)
—E-=F T

(#&x=&=5)

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FET

Current assets REEE 76,293 79,003
Non-current assets IEMENE B 665 -
Current liabilities neaE (26,436) (26,938)
Non-current liabilities EMEEE - -
Equity attributable to owners of the Company N2 &l A A FEG 35,365 36,446
Non-controlling interests e 15,157 15,619
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. MY B~ Al ()

Guangdong Avator Wealth Investment Management

ERMAEMEREEERRAR

Company Limited (Continued) (&)
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FAT
Other income HAeb A 25 57
Expenses s 290 -
Profit for the year F Mg A 315 57
Profit attributable to owners RAEIEB ARG R
of the Company 220 40
Profit attributable to the FE P22 R #EE 5 FE A Vi
non-controlling interests 95 17
Profit for the year F N Al 315 57
Other comprehensive expense attributable AN Q E1#EH A FE(L E ith
to owners of the Company FHEMAX (1,301) (3,691)
Other comprehensive expense attributable  FE12 B4 25 FE 5 H At
to non-controlling interests 2HE Y (557) (1,582)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREM 2 HEH X (1,858) (5,2793)
Total comprehensive expense attributable  ANQAaHEA AL E2ME
to owners of the Company X 42 %E (1,081) (3,651)
Total comprehensive expense attributable  3FE#5 A% #E 25 B 15 & T
to non-controlling interests 42 % (462) (1,565)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ F A2 X 4258 (1,543) (5,216)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from RELEEH RS
operating activities mAS GRS 26 ®3)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) BemA/ CRd) F58 26 ®3)
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. I8 A Al (&)
Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited ENTEANKEERAT
2023 2022
(restated)
—E-=F —E_F
(&%)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FET
Current assets REEE 333,818 346,369
Non-current assets ERBEE 128,614 197,249
Current liabilities mEEE (423,101) (350,726)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (10,713) (15,564)
Equity attributable to owners of KARHEA AEGER
the Company 17,170 106,397
Non-controlling interests FE 12 e 11,448 70,931
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FAET
Revenue Wz 362,179 375,379
Expenses 2 (507,403) (235,712)
(Loss)/profit for the year FAN(EB) J5F (145,224) 139,667
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners RRNTEB AEM
of the Company (E518) s F (87,135) 83,804
(Loss)/profit attributable to FEPEAR i RS (B518)
non-controlling interests il (58,089) 55,863
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) &F (145,224) 139,667
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 g7 =& = =4#+—=H=+—HI F/F

38. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. MY B~ Al ()

Guangzhou Zituo Technology Company Limited

(Continued)

ENTEANEARAT (8)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FEIL

Other comprehensive (expense)/income RNAGHEEAELEMEZE

attributable to owners of the Company (%) M (2,092) 1,579
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  FEZE RS # 25 fE 1 B b 2T

attributable to non-controlling interests (AX) (1,394) 1,051
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  FREME®E (BX)

for the year g %5 (3,486) 2,630
Total comprehensive (expense)/income RAREBAEEEZE

attributable to owners of the Company (FAX) =% (89,227) 85,383
Total comprehensive (expense)/income EERERENEE

attributable to non-controlling interests (X)) k=g (59,483) 56,914
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FrR2mE(AX) &

for the year #aza (148,710) 142,297
Net cash inflow from operating activites KRB &L EK 2B ERA

HER 16,414 4,067

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from REREETH RE

investing activities (m) /A EE (6) 332,429
Net cash outflow from financing activites & B R EEEH 2R ETA

R (992) (331,102

Net cash inflow WERAFERR 15,416 5,394
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38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Shanghai Yunting Information Technology Company

38. MY B~ Al ()

ERFETEERMARAF

Limited
2023 2022
(restated)
—E=E T
(ggE7)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FET
Current assets MENEE 7,778 39,808
Non-current assets IERBEE 71,340 91,749
Current liabilities mENEE (68,083) (67,405)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (12,200) (17,717)
(Deficit)/equity attributable to owners of NAEEB A
the Company (B4 s (698) 27,861
Non-controlling interests FEIE I = (467) 18,574
2023 2022
(restated)
—E-=F T
(reE%)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FaET FET
Revenue Y= 24,411 38,944
Expenses F 2 (71,058) (33,432)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BB 5 (46,647) 5,512
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners RNTEB AE
of the Company (E518) &= F (27,988) 3,384
(Loss)/profit attributable to FEIEAR R RS (B518)
non-controlling interests il (18,659) 2,128
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE) aF (46,647) 5,512
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 g7 =& = =4#+—=H=+—HI F/F

38. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

38. MY B~ Al ()

Shanghai Yunting Information Technology Company

Limited (Continued)

ERFETEERMERIA (F/)

2023 2022
—EZ=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FEIL
Other comprehensive expense attributable RABER AEIEEM
to owners of the Company 2EAX (571) (2,208)
Other comprehensive expense attributable — FE1Z I A 25 FE (5 H Ath
to non-controlling interests FHEAZ (382 (1,471)
Other comprehensive expense for the year G R E & HEH (953) (3,679)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income NABEB ABGEEE
attributable to owners of the Company (M%) Jh=esE (28,559) 1,176
Total comprehensive (expense)/income EEREREGEE
attributable to non-controlling interests (M%) s esE (19,041) 657
Total comprehensive (expense)/income FrRz2E(AX) k=
for the year B (47,600) 1,833
Net cash inflow from operating activities REKEEB 2BHRRA
FRE 14,815 4,067
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from KERERHZRS
investing activities CRE) /S RAFE (1,237) 332,429
Net cash outflow from financing activities KEMEES 2RE
VA pEaE=c! (15,659) (331,102)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be (Rd) /mAFE (2,081) 5,394
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39. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

GUANGDONG BLUESEA MOBILE
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Particulars and main business of the
operating entities

BREE%HEESFRE AR (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited*) is a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC and is
owned by Ms. Ye Weiping (E/&F) (99%) and Mr. HE
Zhicong (fa] :5H2) (1%) (hereinafter collectively referred to
as “Bluesea Mobile Shareholders”). Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited is controlled by
FETER ORY)BLERIZBERAF], a subsidiary of the
Company, by way of certain structured contracts (the
“Structured Arrangements”). Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited is principally engaged in
provision of data centre services. Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited has obtained an
internet content provider license which enables it to be an
internet content provider in the PRC. The attributed group
entities under CGU 2 and CGU 3 as disclosed in note 17
to the consolidated financial statements are subsidiaries
of Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited.

Major terms of the Structured
Arrangements

(a) Equity and Voting agreement

The Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall irrevocably
grant to the FIER OFRI) BERHEBRAA or
the person as designated by the & CFYI)
B R AR A 5] an exclusive option to purchase,
subject to and as permitted by PRC laws, their
entire equity interest in Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited by way of one or
more times of exercise of the option at any time,
at an option price which is nil or nominal, or the
minimum price permitted by PRC laws. In addition,
the Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall, in attending
to the management of and exercising these
shareholder’s rights in Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited, seek and follow the
instructions of the AT &R OFYI) BEEBIEBR A
A,

ra M HRERME

9. BT HE

ERFASBEHERRARAA

REBRZHABRIERS

ERFEBHERARRA/—HRE
FEERRIZBEREEAR X HE
{8 F 20 £ (99%) Ko fa] 75 B8 5t A (1%) (JA
THRE RERBRR AR -BERF
BRHERER QB HANAAME LR
R EE (R BERZRBR BN
ETHBEAYN ([EBERENT
AEH - BRAESBHERBRAAT
ERFREBEPORE BEREES
HERARARDIFEBEANTRM
PERRER - FUL e SE R B BB AN
BIRME - AR A M IS MR M 17 AT B
BoReELEM2NRE S E S FUIH
FREEBERSERFEBHERAR
REHHE AT -

EEMRHZEERX

@ RERREE

B /8 1 B ik SR PE A AT 4[] 3 | A
MERCRIDBEREBRAA]
SFHER(RIDBERER
REEEZATHREBRERE
UBE (EPBUERZRR T R
HFA TN ERNERFEBHER
BRARZ 2R - T AR
NBERE(RTHRAMEERKL
REDARRT A Z RIEER) —IR=K
ZIRITEBIRE - WIN FIER B
BERENZEEEERFEES
BRARABARTEERERR
BEHERAR DA ZBREN
BERkBTHHER ORI B
BB BRARARZIER
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39. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)
GUANGDONG BLUESEA MOBILE

DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED

(Continued)

Major terms of the Structured
Arrangements (Continued)

(b)  Exclusive service agreement

Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited shall engage the F ¥ &®E (FII) B4 El
BB AA as its exclusive service provider. The
FEER ORI HELK B BR AR shall provide
to Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development
Company Limited technology support, business
support and relevant consultancy services that
relate to the business of Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited including
but not limited to (i) license to Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited the right to
use the intellectual property rights (including but
not limited to patent, trade mark and copyright)
owned by the ¥ ER ORI BEBEERD
7] according to the business needs of Guangdong
Bluesea Mobile Development Company Limited; (ii)
develop, maintain and update the relevant software
required by the business of Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited; (i) purchase
and rent or obtain the right to use on behalf of
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited machinery equipment, storage space,
related software and other software facilities required
by the business of Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited; (iv) provide to
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited professional technical personnel and provide
training to them on behalf of Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited; (v) assist
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited to collect and research technology that is
relevant to the business of Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited; (vi) advise
on matters relating to the business operations of
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company

39. GBI L BE ()

ERFEEHBRRARLT

(&)

mEME R EEREN ()

®)

BF IR 15z

ERFSEHEREROAIEE
SR ER (RYD MG XER
NEIREBRRGERE - PHE
B ORI BRI AER QB ER
ERFEBEHERAR 2 AIREMH
FHERRBEHERABRAA
EX A YIS A LR P e
B A s AR TS - BIRETRR () RIE
ERFEBBHERBBERAAZE
BHEENERHEBHEREAR
RAEABRTHHER ORI BER
KBERARIMHEAE 2 MHERE (&
EETRREN BFEMRE)Z
ERE: ()% RERERER
HEBHERAR DA ZEHHR
7 2 AR EE (i) KR ERE S
BHERERAABEREES
ERMERFSECHEURARAA
CEBIBIBRRE BEE
] AR S R A B R e 2
AR (WVAERFEBEHERE
RAFIREEERMABLRE
ERFEBHERBREAAMRK
FRHEI VHBERFNEE
BERARAFNENRTEER
ERFEBEHERBBRAAER
2 (v LERE BB EER
BERARMRELEBERRSH
BEREBRAAEBLEZEE
RHER YMERFNEBHE
RERARRHEBHEELTS
R R (i) RIBERRES
BRRARAAZ BRI LRI
BB (R BERZERAFR
BRERFSBHERBR AR
REAEERFEEHERER

Limited raised by Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited, and provide to
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited business promotion and market sales
services; and (vii) according to the request of
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited and with the consent of the ¥ Em (X
I B R BB A A, provide to Guangdong
Bluesea Mobile Development Company Limited
other recommendations and services relating
to the business of Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited.
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39. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

GUANGDONG BLUESEA MOBILE
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
(Continued)

Major terms of the Structured
Arrangements (Continued)

(c)  Equity pledge agreement

Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall pledge all their
equity interest in Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited to ¥ & CRII)
W4 BB AR to guarantee, the performance
of all the obligations of (i) Bluesea Mobile under the
Exclusive Service Agreement, (i) Bluesea Mobile
Shareholders and Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited under the Equity and
Voting Agreement.

REVENUE AND ASSETS SUBJECT TO THE
STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

The revenue and total assets subject to the Structured
Arrangements, in aggregate, are set out below:

9. FEBIEL T ()

ERFESEHRRARAF
(&)

EREMRHZEERN (4

) REZH 5

HEBBRRERGHER R
I BEHRERARERENE
REBBEHERARLABZEH
Pt AERTIMBRETERE
T OHEBRHRBRREHHET
ZIIBAEE ()FEBBRREE
REBBHERAR QAN BRAE
EEREHZE T <MBERE.

FRUEZECVEREE

BB R PHEE 2 s A ERT
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+t=-ZA=1+—BHLEE

2023 2022
—_=E_= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FAT
(Restated)
(e&E5)
Revenue & 479,453 532,137
Net loss FEE (2,041,096) (132,112)
As at 31 December
R+=-—H=+—8
2023 2022
—_=E_= =R
HK$’000 HK$’000
F&T FAT
Total assets AR 1,585,117 3,803,582
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39. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE STRUCTURED
ARRANGEMENTS

Under the prevailing laws and regulations in the PRC,
companies with foreign ownership are restricted from
engaging in the provision of data centre services in
the PRC. As such, the Company relies on Guangdong
Bluesea Mobile Development Company Limited for most
of the Group’s businesses in the PRC. The Company
manages to maintain an effective control over the financial
and operational policies of Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited through the Structured
Arrangements which effectively transfer the economic
benefits and pass the risks associated therewith of
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited to the Company, and as a result, Guangdong
Bluesea Mobile Development Company Limited and it
subsidiaries have been consolidated as subsidiaries of the
Group. The Board wishes to emphasise that the Group
relies on the Structured Arrangements to control and
obtain the economic benefits from Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited, which may not
be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership. The Company may have to rely on the PRC
legal system to enforce the Structured Arrangements,
which remedies may be less effective than those in
other developed jurisdictions. Any conflicts of interest or
deterioration of the relationship between the registered
holders of the equity interest in Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited and our Group
may materially and adversely affect the overall business
operations of the Group. The pricing arrangement under
the Structured Arrangements may be challenged by
the PRC tax authority. If the Group chooses to exercise
the option to acquire all or part of the equity interests
in Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited under the respective option agreements under
the Structured Arrangements, substantial amount of
costs and time may be involved in transferring the
ownership of the relevant shares of Guangdong Bluesea
Mobile Development Company Limited held by its
registered holder(s) to the subsidiaries equity-owned
by the Company. There can be no assurance that the
interpretation of the Structured Arrangements by the
PRC legal advisers to the Company is in line with the
interpretation of the PRC governmental authorities and
that the Structured Arrangements will not be considered
by such PRC governmental authorities and courts to be in
violation of the PRC laws.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A
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9. FEBIEL T ()

RAGBEREZREARMEE
2 B

RIEFPBERITEARER SN RRRF
B ERMHBURH ORI B R G F
e ARRMEEERF BB ERABR
DNEARFBERERNEEARLD EFH -
ARAREBEBERHERHERRS
BBHERARARZUBE R EERRE
RE PR - AR TR 1 2 R RO A B R Y
BRBERGRE QR EBENE LA
REBEEMEERTARA At BER
FEBHERBEBRAFALEMBLARC
ERAEBEZMBARGEAAK -EF
DRI R AN S B KRR A T R
Y HERFEBHERAR D TMEL
a5 T A BR R E IR AR T m R
BINEZREERE AR ARA] AR
TRMMKEF B RERANITERNE
2 RARRAERAER S M EAM
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39. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE STRUCTURED
ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

In addition, the PRC governmental authorities may in the
future interpret or issue laws, regulations or policies that
result in the Structured Arrangements being deemed to
be in violation of the then prevailing PRC laws. Despite
the above, as advised by the PRC legal advisers to the
Company, the Structured Arrangements are in compliance
with and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws
currently in force, are enforceable under, the current PRC
laws. The Company will monitor the relevant PRC laws and
regulations relevant to the Structured Arrangements and
will take all necessary actions to protect the Company’s
interest in Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development
Company Limited.

MATERIAL CHANGES

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
there has not been any material change in the Structured
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they
were adopted.

9. FEBIEL T ()

RAZEBEZHEZREE R EEE
& B (@)

HIN - P BB RRFT R] BETA A K AR FE 2
BMER OERIBR EHERIEL
HREREREFERTBRIZ-BE
B EXF - BARR R BERER S
o AEEERBHE RIS R EARY A
Eiﬁﬁqﬂi&iﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬂﬂ?ﬁ*ﬁﬁ@iﬁ
RBRFMT ARAEEREREEHELE
iﬂJFZEPlﬁ%/ié/ﬂﬁjlﬂﬂﬂmﬂi—
DB EEBREARTNERFEED
BRAEB AR ZHER-

EXEH

B EXCATB SR SN AR B 3
SR AE T SRR A AE R A
18535 0 £ B K 2
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  40. Bt Ak &

2023 2022
—E_=H —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Non-current assets FIRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE&EE 6 9
Investment in subsidiaries RTB AR Z®E - -
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 21 20
27 29
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERT IR - kS R E b I
other receivables KIE 543 762
Amounts due from subsidiaries NS B - 49,578
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEeEEY 84 292
627 50,632
Current liabilities REBE
Other payables and accruals b < 5118 K EET RRIE 12,560 7,534
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEST B B R RI3RIE 715 2,727
13,275 10,261
Net current (liabilities)/assets HE(BE) BEFE (12,648) 40,371
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAE (12,621) 40,400
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE) ' EEFE (12,621) 40,400
Capital and reserves BEAXR#E
Share capital [N 952,218 952,218
Reserves (Note) bt (MEE) (964,839) (911,818)
Total (deficit)/equity (B4 TERAE (12,621) 40,400

BB EN _—_E_hAFE A T=0%
SRS ERKRETR YHTINES

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 23 June 2025 and

signed on behalf by: REHEE:
LIE Haiquan Xl Lina
E1p =% ZER
Director Director
EF EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 g% — & —

oA MR R M A

ZEFAS AR

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION MR R (8)
(Continued)
Note: B sE
The movements of the reserves are as follows: REEEBRIAT
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
B R ME BRERE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THL THET
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—f—H 1,759,494 (2,652,531) (893,037)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year ~ FREER2ER X A% - (18,781) (18,781)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZE-—#+-A=+—-HEK
—Z-=%—-f-H 1,759,494 (2,671,312) (911,818)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year ~ FREBER2ER T A% - (53,021) (53,021)
As at 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+=-A=+—H 1,759,494 (2,724,333) (964,839)
CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY M. FBERXHREE IS
TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRIRAEUBHRRNEMBOAEES
statements, the Group entered into the following material N REBE PR A F B E A - R
transaction with connected and related parties during the FEIMATERR S
year.
COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT FEEEEBABZHM

PERSONNEL

The remuneration of Directors and key executives was
stated in Notes 14 and 15, which is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance
of individual and market trends.

CONSULTANCY SERVICE

The Group had entered into a consultancy service
agreement with a company owned by the spouse of Mr.
CHEUNG Sing Tai, an executive Director of the Company,
for which consultancy service fee of approximately
HK$700,500 was paid during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$858,000).

BEERFETHAB ZHMENHE14
K15 BTG HWETHEESEEEME
ARBERMIGBEBERT -

NS
AREBERARBDRTEETRBRL
EREBHEEZ —HAR LB AR
B HhREBE-_ZT=-=F1+=-A
T+t ALFEEINZARBED
700,5005 7T ( — & = — 4 : 858,000/
JT) °
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42. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to current year’s presentation.

43. APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 June
2025.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEFIEEEBEFR A A

42.

43.

H A B
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